THE EFFECT OF *Plasmodiophora brassicae* INFECTION, PHOSPHONATE AND BION TREATMENT ON GLUCOSINOLATE LEVELS IN BROCCOLI

A thesis submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Agriculture



Faculty of Agriculture, Food and Natural Resources The University of Sydney New South Wales Australia 2010

THE EFFECT OF Plasmodiophora brassicae INFECTION, PHOSPHONATE

AND BION TREATMENT ON GLUCOSINOLATE LEVELS IN BROCCOLI

A thesis submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Agriculture

> Thesis submitted by Md Nazrul Islam SID No. 307050351

Thesis Research Supervisor Professor David Guest



Faculty of Agriculture, Food and Natural Resources The University of Sydney New South Wales Australia 2010

DECLARATION OF AUTHORSHIP

This thesis contains no material which has been submitted for a degree or diploma in any university or any other institution and no matter was previously published or written by other people, except acknowledgement is made in the text of this thesis.

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my gratitude to many people who offered their help and support throughout the course of this project. I would like to thank to Professor David Guest, Faculty of Agriculture, Food and Natural Resources, The University of Sydney for giving me the opportunity working with glucosinolate and clubroot disease of Brassica. I am grateful to him for his brilliant supervision and guidance.

I sincerely acknowledge to Australian Government and AusAID scholarship authority for giving me such an incredible opportunity studying in the Australia's first and world leading University, The University of Sydney.

Very cordial thanks to Rodney Jones, glucosinolate scientist, and Michael Imsic, biochemist, postharvest lab, Department of Primary Industries (DPI), Knoxfield Victoria for giving me opportunity staying in lab learning extraction technique of glucosinolates.

I would like to thanks to Caroline Donald, leading clubroot Scientist, DPI, Knoxfield, Victoria for her brilliant advices during the time of struggle with *Plasmodiophora brassicae* inoculation in glasshouse and also thanks to Len Tessoriero, DPI, and NSW for finding me a clubroot infected brassica field.

Many thanks to Rose Daniel for her initial technical support providing me *P. brassicae* inoculum for this project. Special thanks to Zoe-Joy Newby for her continuous passion to read draft of my thesis. Thanks to Carolyn Blomley for technical suggestions throughout this project.

ii

Thanks are also due to Dr. Anowarul Bokshi for giving me shining company during glucosinolate analysis using HPLC.

Finally, I would like to earnest thank to all my friends and mycology colleagues for their encouragement, support and memorable time in the lab of plant pathology, The University of Sydney, Australia.

Abstract

Broccoli (*Brassica olerecea* L. ssp. *italica* cv. Marathon) seedlings are a rich source of secondary metabolites including glucosinolates such as 4-methylsulfinylbutyl glucosinolate (glucoraphanin), the precursor of the chemo-protective isothiocyanate, sulforaphane. The aim of this thesis is to investigate the levels of glucosinolate in root and aerial tissues of broccoli following *Plasmodiophora brassicae* infection and potassium phosphonate and Bion (acibenzolar) treatment under glasshouse condition.

Three inoculation techniques of *P. brassicae* in broccoli seedling were evaluated under glasshouse condition. Combination of spore extraction injected into the root zone and infected gall slurry amended in potting mix exhibited faster and effective disease development than any of the single inoculation method.

Field infections of clubroot changed glucosinolate profiles in *Brassica rapa ssp.chinensis* cv. pak choy. Aliphatic glucosinolate levels were significantly lower in leaf and stem tissues of diseased plants, while indole glucosinolate levels were nearly three times higher in infected root tissues.

In the glasshouse trial, the clubroot pathogen *Plasmodiophora brassicae* affected glucosinolate levels in both root and aerial tissues during primary, secondary and mature gall formation. Total aliphatic glucosinolate levels (glucoiberin, progoitrin, glucoraphanin, gluconapin) remained unchanged in aerial tissues but significantly increased (1.5 times) in root tissues during symptom development (28 days post inoculation). Among aliphatic glucosinolates, glucoraphanin significantly (P<0.05) increased after 28 days in root tissues and 14 days in aerial tissues. Progoitrin

iv

production also increased both in root and aerial tissues after 28 and 14 days respectively, compared to healthy plants.

Total indole glucosinolates (4-hydroxy glucobrassicin, glucobrassicin and neoglucobrassicin) in root tissues increased 2.5 fold during symptom development to mature gall formation stage (21 to 42 days) and also significantly increased (P<0.05) in aerial tissues (1.25 to 2 fold) between primary infection and gall formation. Among indole glucosinolates, glucobrassicin in root tissues increased 8 times during symptom development.

Glucosinolate levels and clubroot disease severity were affected by foliar application of potassium phosphonate or Bion. Aliphatic glucosinolate levels in root tissues remained unchanged until 42 days following chemical treatments in both inoculated and uninoculated plants. Combined chemical treatment with phosphonate plus Bion significantly suppressed (P<0.01) aliphatic glucosinolate levels in uninoculated plants, however it significantly increased levels in inoculated plants. Indole glucosinolate levels in inoculated root tissues were lower in phosphonate plus Bion treated plants. Bion, or combinations of phosphonate plus Bion, did not affect indole glucosinolate levels, but phosphonate alone significantly (P<0.001) increased indole glucosinolate levels in root tissues in uninoculated plants. Aliphatic and indole glucosinolate levels in aerial tissues was lower following chemical treatment in both inoculated or uninoculated plants. Only neoglucobrassicin significantly (P<0.001) increased in inoculated plants. The effects of clubroot on glucosinolate levels in both field and glasshouse grown brassica showed similar patterns.

Phosphonate significantly suppressed gall formation (46%) and fresh gall weight (70%) followed by Bion compared to inoculated control.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| Statement of Authorship | i |
|-------------------------|-----|
| Acknowledgement | ii |
| Abstract | iv |
| Table of Contents | vii |
| List of Figures | xi |
| List of Tables | xii |

| Chapter I: | Literature Review | |
|------------|---|----|
| 1.1 | Introduction | 1 |
| 1.2 | The Origin, Distribution and Classification of Cultivated Broccoli | 3 |
| 1.3 | Economic Importance of Broccoli in Australia | 7 |
| 1.4 | Glucosinolate | 7 |
| 1.4.1 | Biosynthesis of Glucosinolate | 10 |
| 1.4.2 | Hydrolysis of Glucosinolate | 13 |
| 1.4.3 | Glucosinolate Content in Plants | 15 |
| 1.4.4 | Factors Affecting Glucosinolate Levels in Plant | 17 |
| 1.4.5 | Microbial Interaction of Glucosinolate and Isothiocyanates | 19 |
| 1.4.6 | Glucosinolate, Broccoli, and Cancer Chemoprotection | 20 |
| 1.4.7 | Toxic Effect of Glucosinolate | 22 |
| 1.5 | Glucosinolate extraction and analytical methodologies | 23 |
| 1.6 | Life Cycle and Host Pathogen Interaction of <i>Plasmodiophora</i> brassicae Causing Clubroot Disease in Brassica Plants | 27 |
| 1.6.1 | Resistance Mechanism of Clubroot Disease | 29 |
| 1.6.2 | Role of Aliphatic and Aromatic Glucosinolate during Clubroot | 30 |

| 1.6.3 | Indole Glucosinolate and Clubroot Development | 32 |
|--------------|---|----|
| 1.7 | Chemical Management of Clubroot Disease | 33 |
| 1.8 | Alternative Management Strategies | 35 |
| 1.9 | Bion and Phosphonate Application against P. brassicae Infection | 37 |
| 1.10 | Rationale and Significance | 38 |
| Chapter II: | General Materials and Methods | |
| 2.1 | Plant Material | 40 |
| 2.2 | Pathogen Material | 40 |
| 2.3 | Inoculation Techniques | 40 |
| 2.4 | Plant Culture | 42 |
| 2.5 | Microscopic Observation | 42 |
| 2.6 | Statistical Analysis | 43 |
| 2.7 | Sample Collection for Glucosinolate Measurement | 44 |
| 2.8 | Freeze Drying | 44 |
| 2.9 | Glucosinolate Extraction | 44 |
| 2.10 | HPLC Analyses and UV Detection | 45 |
| Chapter III: | Effect of Clubroot on Glucosinolate of <i>Brassica rapa</i> ssp. chinensis cv. pak choy (Chinese cabbage) | |
| 3.1 | Introduction | 47 |
| 3.2 | Materials and Methods | 49 |
| 3.2.1 | Plant Materials and Sample Collection | 49 |
| 3.2.2 | HPLC Condition and UV Detection | 49 |
| 3.2.3 | Data Analysis | 50 |
| 3.3 | Results | 52 |
| 3.3.1 | Aliphatic Glucosinolate Levels in Aerial Tissues | 52 |

| 3.3.2 | Indole Glucosinolate Levels in Aerial Tissues52 | | | | | | | |
|------------|--|-----|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| 3.3.3 | Aliphatic Glucosinolate Levels in Root Tissues53 | | | | | | | |
| 3.3.4 | Indole Glucosinolate Levels in Root Tissues 54 | | | | | | | |
| 3.3.5 | Total Glucosinolate Level in Aerial And Root Tissues5 | | | | | | | |
| 3.4 | Discussion | 58 | | | | | | |
| Chapter IV | Glasshouse Trial on the Effect of <i>P. brassicae</i> Infection, Phosphonate and Bion Treatment on Glucosinolate Levels in Aerial and Root Tissues of Broccoli | | | | | | | |
| 4.1 | Introduction | 63 | | | | | | |
| 4.2 | Materials and Methods | 65 | | | | | | |
| 4.2.1 | Chemical Fungicides | 65 | | | | | | |
| 4.2.2 | Seedling Inoculation Techniques | 65 | | | | | | |
| 4.2.3 | Treatment Combination | 66 | | | | | | |
| 4.2.4 | HPLC and UV Detection | 67 | | | | | | |
| 4.2.5 | Clubroot Severity and Phosphonate- Bion Application | 68 | | | | | | |
| 4.2.6 | Disease Assessment | 69 | | | | | | |
| 4.2.7 | Statistical Analysis | 69 | | | | | | |
| 4.3 | Results: Optimization of Inoculation Method | 70 | | | | | | |
| 4.4 | Discussion | 79 | | | | | | |
| 4.5 | Results: Glasshouse Trial on the Effect of Clubroot Disease on Glucosinolate Levels in Broccoli Aerial and Root Tissues | 82 | | | | | | |
| 4.5.1 | Aliphatic Glucosinolate Production in Root Tissue | .82 | | | | | | |
| 4.5.2 | Indole Glucosinolate Production in Root Tissue | 83 | | | | | | |
| 4.5.3 | Aliphatic Glucosinolate Production in Aerial Tissue | 84 | | | | | | |
| 4.5.4 | Indole Glucosinolate Production in Aerial Tissue | 84 | | | | | | |
| 4.6 | Discussion | 95 | | | | | | |

| 4.7 | Results: Glasshouse Trial on The Effect of Phosphonate and Bion on Glucosinolate Levels with and without <i>P. brassicae</i> Infection in Broccoli | | | |
|------------|---|-----|--|--|
| 4.7.1 | Aliphatic Glucosinolate Production In Root Tissue | 99 | | |
| 4.7.2 | Indole Glucosinolate Production In Root Tissue | 102 | | |
| 4.7.3 | Aliphatic Glucosinolate Production In Aerial Tissue | 109 | | |
| 4.7.4 | Indole Glucosinolate Production In Aerial Tissue | 111 | | |
| 4.8 | Discussion | 119 | | |
| 4.9 | The Effect Of Phosphonate And Bion On Clubroot Disease Severity | 125 | | |
| 4.10 | Discussion | 128 | | |
| Chapter VI | General Discussion | | | |
| 5.1 | General Discussion | 131 | | |

References

139

LIST OF FIGURES

Chapter I

| Figure 1.1 | Two heads of common broccoli (<i>Brassica oleracea italica</i> group 5 cv. Marathon) | | | | | | |
|------------|--|----|--|--|--|--|--|
| Figure 1.2 | Major broccoli growing areas in Australia | 6 | | | | | |
| Figure 1.3 | The common structure of glucosinolate and some specific glucosinolates showing typical variation in the structure of the side chain | | | | | | |
| Figure 1.4 | Glucosinolate biosynthesis and amino acid chain-elongation cycle. Abbreviations: R, variable side chain. | 11 | | | | | |
| Figure 1.5 | Biosynthesis of the glucosinolate core structure | 12 | | | | | |
| Figure 1.6 | Some common oxidative secondary transformations of methionine-derived Glucosinolates | 12 | | | | | |
| Figure 1.7 | Glucosinolate hydrolysed product and unstable intermediates | 14 | | | | | |
| Figure 1.8 | Characteristic developmental stages of <i>Plasmodiophora</i> brassicae | 28 | | | | | |
| Figure 1.9 | Model proposed by Ludwig-Muller <i>et al.</i> , (1999a; 1999b) suggesting the probable pathway of glucosinolates during clubroot formation | 32 | | | | | |
| | Chapter III | | | | | | |
| Figure 3.1 | Five weeks old field grown Chinese cabbage (<i>Brassica rapa</i> ssp. cinensis cv pak choi) A. Clubroot B. Healthy roots | 51 | | | | | |
| Figure 3.2 | Progoitrin, Glucoraphanin, Gluconapin and total aliphatic glucosinolate in leaves and shoots of 5 weeks old field grown healthy and diseased (clubroot) Chinese cabbage (pak-choy) | 55 | | | | | |

- Figure 3.3 Glucobrassicin, Neoglucobrassicin and total indole glucosinolate 55 in leaves and shoots of 5 weeks old field grown healthy and diseased (clubroot) Chinese cabbage (pak-choy).
- Figure 3.4 Progoitrin, Glucoraphanin, Gluconapin and total aliphatic 56 glucosinolate in root tissues of 5 weeks old field grown healthy and diseased (clubroot) Chinese cabbage (pak-choy).
- Figure 3.5 Glucobrassicin, Neoglucobrassicin and total indole glucosinolate 56

in root tissues of 5 weeks old field grown healthy and diseased (clubroot) Chinese cabbage (pak-choy).

Figure 3.6 Total glucosinolates (aliphatic & indole) in leaves and root of 5 57 weeks old field grown healthy and diseased (clubroot) Chinese cabbage (pak-choy)

Chapter IV

- Figure 4.1 Calibration curve of Sinigrin used as external standard in 68 chromatography
- Figure 4.2 Effect of inoculation methods on root hair infection by 73 *Plasmodiophora brassicae* of 4 to 16 days after inoculation
- Figure 4.3 Effect of inoculation methods on cortical cell infection by 73 *Plasmodiophora brassicae* of 4 to 16 days after inoculation
- Figure 4.4 Effect of inoculation methods on fresh gall weight by 74 *Plasmodiophora brassicae* of 4 to 16 days after inoculation
- Figure 4.5 Sequential development of Primary stage of infection in broccoli 75 root hair occurred 0 to 7 days after inoculation
- Figure 4.6 Sequential development of Secondary infection stage in root 76 cortical cell region of broccoli

Figure 4.7 Gall observation A. Gall initiation at 10 dpi seen under light 77 microscope B. Visible gall at 14 dpi C. Resting spore formation from dissecting gall D. Extracted resting spores from characteristic gall at 42 day after inoculation

Figure 4.8 A. Root of uninoculated control plant at 14 day old plant B. 78 Cortical cell of uninoculated seedling root

Figure 4.9 Glucoiberin content in *Brassica olerecea* (broccoli) aerial tissues 85 of *P. brassicae* inoculated (diseased) and uninoculated (healthy) plant

- Figure 4.10 Progoitrin content in *Brassica olerecea* (broccoli) aerial tissues 86 of *P. brassicae* inoculated (diseased) and uninoculated (healthy) plant
- Figure 4.11 Glucoraphanin content in *Brassica olerecea* (broccoli) aerial 86 tissues (leaves & shoots) of *P. brassicae* inoculated (diseased) and uninoculated (healthy) plant
- Figure 4.12 Gluconapin content in *Brassica olerecea* (broccoli) aerial tissues 87 (leaves & shoots) of *P. brassicae* inoculated (diseased) and

uninoculated (healthy) plant

- Figure 4.13 Total aliphatic glucosinolate content in *Brassica olerecea* 87 (broccoli) aerial tissues (leaves & shoots) of *P. brassicae* inoculated (diseased) and uninoculated (healthy)
- Figure 4.14 4 OH glucobrassicin content in *Brassica olerecea* (broccoli) 88 aerial tissues (leaves & shoots) of *P. brassicae* inoculated (diseased) and uninoculated (healthy) plant
- Figure 4.15 Glucobrassicin content in *Brassica olerecea* (broccoli) aerial 88 tissues (leaves & shoots) of *P. brassicae* inoculated (diseased) and uninoculated (healthy) plant
- Figure 4.16 Neoglucobrassicin content in *Brassica olerecea* (broccoli) aerial 89 tissues (leaves & shoots) of *P. brassicae* inoculated (diseased) and uninoculated (healthy) plant
- Figure 4.17 Total indole glucosinolate content in *Brassica olerecea* 89 (broccoli) aerial tissues (leaves & shoots) of *P. brassicae* inoculated (diseased) and uninoculated (healthy) plant
- Figure 4.18 Glucoiberin content in *Brassica olerecea* (broccoli) aerial tissues 90 (leaves & shoots) of *P. brassicae* inoculated (diseased) and uninoculated (healthy) plant
- Figure 4.19 Progoitrin content in *Brassica olerecea* (broccoli) aerial tissues 90 (leaves & shoots) of *P. brassicae* inoculated (diseased) and uninoculated (healthy) plant
- Figure 4.20 Glucoraphanin content in *Brassica olerecea* (broccoli) aerial 91 tissues (leaves & shoots) of *P. brassicae* inoculated (diseased) and uninoculated (healthy) plant
- Figure 4.21 Gluconapin content in *Brassica olerecea* (broccoli) aerial tissues 91 (leaves & shoots) of *P. brassicae* inoculated (diseased) and uninoculated (healthy) plant (0 to 42 days post inoculation)
- Figure 4.22 Total aliphatic glucosinolate content in *Brassica olerecea* 92 (broccoli) aerial tissues (leaves & shoots) of *P. brassicae* inoculated (diseased) and uninoculated (healthy) plant
- Figure 4.23 4-OH Glucobrassicin content in *Brassica olerecea* (broccoli) 92 aerial tissues (leaves & shoots) of *P. brassicae* inoculated (diseased) and uninoculated (healthy) plant
- Figure 4.24 Glucobrassicin content in *Brassica olerecea* (broccoli) aerial 93 tissues (leaves & shoots) of *P. brassicae* inoculated (diseased) and uninoculated (healthy) plant

- Figure 4.25 Neoglucobrassicin content in *Brassica olerecea* (broccoli) aerial 93 tissues (leaves & shoots) of *P. brassicae* inoculated (diseased) and uninoculated (healthy) plant
- Figure 4.26 Total indole glucosinolate content in *Brassica olerecea* 94 (broccoli) aerial tissues (leaves & shoots) of *P. brassicae* inoculated (diseased) and uninoculated (healthy) plant
- Figure 4.27 The effect of phosphonate and Bion on glucoiberin content of 104 Brassica olerecea (Broccoli) root tissues following Plasmodiophora brassicae infection (0 to 42 days post inoculation).
- Figure 4.28 The effect of phosphonate and Bion on progoitrin content of 105 Brassica olerecea (broccoli) root tissues following Plasmodiophora brassicae infection (0 to 42 days post inoculation).
- Figure 4.29 The effect of phosphonate and Bion on glucoraphanin content of 105 Brassica olerecea (Broccoli) root tissues following Plasmodiophora brassicae infection (0 to 42 days post inoculation).
- Figure 4.30 The effect of phosphonate and Bion on gluconapin content of 106 Brassica olerecea (Broccoli) root tissues following Plasmodiophora brassicae infection (0 to 42 days post inoculation).
- Figure 4.31 The effect of phosphonate and Bion on total aliphatic 106 glucosinolates content of *Brassica olerecea* (Broccoli) root tissues following *Plasmodiophora brassicae* infection (0 to 42 days post inoculation).
- Figure 4.32 The effect of phosphonate and Bion on 4 OH glucobrassicin 107 content of *Brassica olerecea* (Broccoli) aerial tissues following *Plasmodiophora brassicae* infection (0 to 42 days post inoculation).
- Figure 4.33 The effect of phosphonate and Bion on glucobrassicin content of 107 Brassica olerecea (Broccoli) root tissues following Plasmodiophora brassicae infection (0 to 42 days post inoculation).
- Figure 4.34 The effect of phosphonate and Bion on neoglucobrassicin 108 content of *Brassica olerecea* (Broccoli) root tissues following *Plasmodiophora brassicae* infection (0 to 42 days post inoculation).

- Figure 4.35 The effect of phosphonate and Bion on total indole glucosinolate 108 content of *Brassica olerecea* (Broccoli) root tissues following *Plasmodiophora brassicae* infection (0 to 42 days post inoculation).
- Figure 4.36 The effect of phosphonate and Bion on glucoiberin content of 114 Brassica olerecea aerial tissues following Plasmodiophora brassicae infection (0 to 42 days post inoculation).
- Figure 4.37 The effect of phosphonate and Bion on progoitrin content of 114 Brassica olerecea (Broccoli) aerial tissues following Plasmodiophora brassicae infection (0 to 42 days post inoculation).
- Figure 4.38 The effect of phosphonate and Bion on glucoraphanin content of 115 Brassica olerecea (Broccoli) aerial tissues following Plasmodiophora brassicae infection (0 to 42 days post inoculation).
- Figure 4.39 The effect of phosphonate and Bion on gluconapin content of 115 Brassica olerecea (Broccoli) aerial tissues following Plasmodiophora brassicae infection (0 to 42 days post inoculation).
- Figure 4.40 The effect of phosphonate and Bion on total aliphatic 116 glucosinolate content of *Brassica olerecea* (Broccoli) in aerial tissues following *Plasmodiophora brassicae* infection (0 to 42 days post inoculation).
- Figure 4.41 The effect of phosphonate and Bion on 4 OH glucobrassicin 116 content of *Brassica olerecea* (Broccoli) aerial tissues following *Plasmodiophora brassicae* infection (0 to 42 days post inoculation).
- Figure 4.42 The effect of phosphonate and Bion on glucobrassicin content of 117 Brassica olerecea (Broccoli) aerial tissues following Plasmodiophora brassicae infection (0 to 42 days post inoculation).
- Figure 4.43 The effect of phosphonate and Bion on neoglucobrassicin 117 content of *Brassica olerecea* (Broccoli) aerial tissues following *Plasmodiophora brassicae* infection (0 to 42 days post inoculation).

- Figure 4.44 The effect of phosphonate and Bion on total indole glucosinolate 118 content of *Brassica olerecea* (Broccoli) aerial tissues following *Plasmodiophora brassicae* infection (0 to 42 days post inoculation).
- Figure 4.45 The effect of phosphonate and Bion on clubroot disease severity 126 (gall score) 42 day after inoculation
- Figure 4.46 The effect of phosphonate and Bion on fresh gall weight 126 following *Plasmodiophora brassicae* harvested at 42 day after inoculation
- Figure 4.47 The effect of defence activators on clubroot disease severity. A. 127 Untreated uninoculated healthy root B. Untreated inoculated (*P. brassicae*) control root C. Phosphonate & Bion treated root D. Bion treated root E. Phosphonate treated root

Chapter I

| Table 1.1 | Worldwide cultivated <i>Brassica</i> varieties and cultivar groups | 6 |
|-----------|--|---|
|-----------|--|---|

- Table 1.2List of brassica plants and tissues source of specific 10glucosinolate group
- Table 1.3Glucosinolate variation within different plant species and 16
tissues
- Table 1.4Mean individual glucosinolates (expressed in μmol per gram 17
dry mass) among edible tissues of Brassica oleracea
- Table 1.5Glucosinolate content (µmol /g DW) in Brassicas following 19
Plasmodiophora brassicae infection
- Table 1.6Listing advantages and disadvantages of some commonly used25-26methodsfortheanalysisofGlucosinolatesandtheirbreakdown products

Chapter IV

Table 4.1Summary of the variations of individual aliphatic and indole 120
glucosinolate and total aliphatic and indole glucosinolate
levels following *P. brassicae* inoculation and chemical
treatment in aerial and root tissue of *B. olerecea* spp *italica* cv.
Marathon (broccoli) during matured gall formation (42 DPI)

Chapter 1

Review of Literature

1.1 Introduction

The Brassicaceae family includes vegetables such as broccoli, cabbage, cauliflower, collards, kale, turnip greens and leaf rape. They are commonly grown and consumed worldwide. Glucosinolates are the major class of secondary metabolites found in brassica crops.

The first observations on the unique properties of glucosinolates were recorded at the beginning of the 17th Century as a result of the study on the chemical origin of the sharp taste of mustard seeds (Fahey *et al.* 2001). Glucosinolates known as Sinigrin (2-propenyl) and Sinalbin (4-hydroxybenzyl) were isolated early in the 1830s from black (*Brassica nigra*) and white (*Sinapis alba*) mustard seeds, respectively. In 1956, Ettlinger and Lunden (1956) proposed the correct structure of glucosinolates and they described the first chemical glucosinolate synthesis (Fahey *et al.* 2001).

Different epidemiological studies have indicated that diet and cancers are closely interlinked and natural phytochemicals such as glucosinolates have anticarcinogenic properties (Talalay and Fahey 2001; Anilakumar *et al.* 2006). Results have consistently shown that the chemo-protective agents derived from brassicas have an influence on carcinogenesis during the initiation and promotion phases of cancer development. Reports from clinical trials support this notion (Smith *et al.* 2005; Farnham *et al.* 2004; Rosa *et al.* 1997). Epidemiological data show that a diet rich in brassica vegetables can reduce the risk of a number of cancers and the risk can be significantly reduced by an intake of as little as 10 g per day (Kohlmeier and Su 1997;

Wattenberg 1993; Graham 1983). Isothiocyanates are able to inhibit the growth of cancer (Munday and Munday 2004).

Recent studies have shown broccoli sprouts to be the best source of glucosinolates, particularly glucoraphanin (4-methylsulfinylbutyl) the precursor of sulforaphane, and one of the most potent naturally occurring inducers of detoxification enzymes, Phase II enzymes (Zang and Talalay 1994; Hecht 2000; Fahey *et al.* 2002a; Anilakumar *et al.* 2006).

Glucosinolates are phytochemicals that break down upon tissue disruption and react with an enzyme called myrosinase to produce isothiocyanates. Tissue disruption can be caused by environmental factors, insect invasion or disease.

Glucosinolate levels in brassica are affected by many factors. Factors that may contribute to the quality and quantity of glucosinolates include soil type, fertilizer application, plant spacing, and date of harvest (Rosa *et al.* 1996; Griffiths *et al.* 1991; Josefsson, 1970). The level of glucosinolates and their corresponding isothiocyanates vary within plants due to external environment, including light intensity, temperature, water stress and micro-organism interference such as disease (Bouchereau *et al.* 1996; Rosa and Rodrigues 1999a). Levels and types of glucosinolates also vary between species and cultivars and between plant tissues. Seeds have the highest levels of glucosinolates in nearly all plants observed, followed by leaves and shoots (Sexton *et al.* 1999). Glucosinolates and their breakdown products are thought to play a role in disease resistance against insect and fungal pathogens and in host pathogen recognition (Glen *et al.* 1990).

2

The following review aims to introduce the important role of glucosinolates during disease development, focusing on clubroot of broccoli and Chinese cabbage. Different management options for clubroot disease are discussed. This review also includes the different HPLC methods of measuring and extraction procedure of glucosinolates. I also review the significance of glucosinolates as bioactive compounds for human nutrition and health and examine the influence of environmental conditions, including biotic stress imposed by the clubroot pathogen *Plasmodiophora brassicae* on glucosinolate levels in broccoli seedlings. This review also focuses on glucosinolate pathways.

1.2 The Origin, Distribution and Classification of Cultivated Broccoli

Broccoli has gained increasing importance for its potential health benefits. Although it does not constitute a significant portion of most people's diets worldwide, broccoli consumption increased by nearly 34 percent between 1990 and 1998, and the production of crucifers is in the top three vegetables after potato and tomato (FAO 2006).

The botanical family of broccoli is the Brassicaceae, also known as the Mustard family. The Brassicaceae is a large family comprised of approximately 3,000 described species apportioned among 350-380 genera. The precise number of genera varies depending on the authority (Keil & Walters 1988; Heywood 1978). For example, the scientific name for broccoli, *Brassica oleracea* (L.), is also shared by cabbage, Chinese cabbage, cauliflower, collards, Brussels sprouts, kale, kohlrabi, and tronchuda kale. Despite the fact that all of the aforementioned varieties are similar to one another and to broccoli, and are therefore referred to as *B. oleracea*, they are

nevertheless separate entities. Most authorities today consider there are two major varieties of broccoli, *B. oleracea* (L.) var. *botrytis* or cauliflower broccoli and *B. oleracea* (L) var. *italica* or sprouting broccoli (Keil & Walters 1988; Heywood 1978; Terrell 1977; Harlan 1975) (Figure 1.1).

Crucifer vegetables include broccoli, cabbage, Brussels sprouts, cauliflower and kale, which evolved from the wild ancestral cabbage nearly 3000 years ago (Phillips and Rix 1993). Broccoli was introduced into England in the early 16th Century where it was known as "Italian asparagus". Members of this family are found in most parts of the world but are mainly concentrated in the north temperate region, in the countries surrounding the Mediterranean basin and in south-western and central Asia.

As far as the two broccoli varieties are concerned, the cauliflower broccoli (var. *botrytis*) is more widely grown in Europe than else where. It is a hardier variety than sprouting broccoli and is grown to be harvested in the winter and spring. In the U.S.A, and some of Asian countries sprouting broccoli (var. *italica*) is more common and is planted as a summer annual (Schery 1972). Siberian broccoli, a small, hardy, purple member of this family was first planted at Norfolk Island, Australia in 1788. Throughout the 19th century, purple and green varieties were available in Australia but broccoli was not as popular as ordinary cabbage but its demand is increasing day by day (Anonymous 2009b). Currently, brocolli is being cultivated all over Australian territories and major growing areas are shown in Figure 1.2. The primary use of broccoli, both modern and ancient, is as a source of food. The part of the broccoli plant consumed is the fleshy-stemmed flowering head (Schery 1972).

Cultivation of a cabbage may have occurred as early as 8,000 years ago along the Northern European coast. The wild ancestral cabbage was later introduced into the Mediterranean, Eastern Europe and even into the Near East and Orient (Heywood 1978; Schery 1972). Theophrastus (370-285 B.C.) indicated that several different coles were already used in Greece, (Snogerup 1980). The Romans Plinius (23-79 A.D.) and Cato (234-149 B.C.) also mentioned the cultivation of a number of different forms of coles, primarily cabbages and kales (Snogerup 1980). Indeed, it is more than likely that "The first selection of sprouting broccoli was probably made in Greece and Italy in the pre-Christian era" (Heywood 1978).

The frequency of hybridization and outcrossing is greatly enhanced by a high degree of self-incompatibility among the brassicas. In light of these considerations, it is not surprising to find so many different varieties among the brassicas and the *B. oleracea* group in particular. In fact, the close proximity of various cultivars of *B. oleracea* with their wild relatives will more than likely result in further hybridization (Snogerup 1980). The taxonomy of common cruciferous/brassica vegetables are shown in Table 1.1.



Figure 1.1: Two heads of common broccoli variety (*Brassica oleracea* var. *italica* group CV Marathon)



Figure 1.2 Major broccoli growing areas in Australia

Table 1.1: Worldwide cultivated Brassica varieties and cultivar groups

| Common name | Genus | Specific Epithet | Cultivar Group |
|-------------------------------|------------|------------------|--------------------------------|
| kale | Brassica | oleracea | Acephala Group |
| collards | Brassica | oleracea | Acephala Group |
| chinese broccoli (gai laan) | Brassica | oleracea | Alboglabra Group |
| cabbage | Brassica | oleracea | Capitata Group |
| brussets sprout | Brassica | oleracea | Gemmifera Group |
| kohlrabi | Brassica | oleracea | Gongylodes Group |
| broccoli | Brassica | oleracea | Italica Group |
| broccoflower nn | Brassica | oleracea | Italica Group × Botrytis Group |
| broccoli romanesco | Brassica | oleracea | Botrytis Group / Italica Group |
| cauliflower | Brassica | oleracea | Botrytis Group |
| wild broccoli | Brassica | oleracea | Oleracea Group |
| Bok choy | Brassica | rapa | cinensis |
| mizuna | Brassica | rapa | nipposinica |
| broccoli rabe | Brassica | rapa | parachinensis |
| flowering cabbage | Brassica | rapa | parachinensis |
| chinese cabbage, napa cabbage | Brassica | rapa | pekinensis |
| turnip root; greens | Brassica | rapa | rapifera |
| rutabaga | Brassica | napus | napobrassica |
| siberian kale | Brassica | napus | pabularia |
| canola/rape seeds; greens | Brassica | napus | oleifera |
| wrapped heart mustard cabbage | Brassica | juncea | rugosa |
| mustard seeds, brown; greens | Brassica | juncea | |
| mustard seeds, white | Brassica | hirta | |
| mustard seeds, black | Brassica | nigra | |
| tatsoi | Brassica | rosularis | |
| ethiopian mustard | Brassica | carinata | |
| radish | Raphanus | sativus | |
| daikon | Raphanus | sativus | longipinnatus |
| horseradish | Armoracia | rusticana | |
| Real wasabi (not horseradish) | Wasabia | japonica | |
| rocket (arugula) | Eruca | vesicaria | |
| watercress | Nasturtium | officinale | |

Citation: Wood R, 1999; Zohary and Hopf, 2000; Dixon GR (2007) and web site visited on 12-12-08 http://encyclopedia.thefreedictionary.com/Cruciferous+vegetables.

1.3. Economic Importance of Broccoli in Australia

Horticulture in Australia is a \$7 billion industry (Anonymous 2008a). It is extremely diverse and comprises fruit, vegetables, nuts, nursery, extractive crops, cut flowers and turf. Total horticultural exports in 2006/07 were \$763 million. Total horticulture exports (fresh fruit, vegetable, nuts and plants including flowers) were \$751 million (12 months to May 2008). It is the fastest growing industry in agriculture with 17,273 individual enterprises. Horticulture employs over 100,000 people; this translates to about 20 per cent of total employment in agriculture (Anonymous 2008b).

In Australia, vegetable crops account for 36% of horticultural production of which 13% are exported. Broccoli and cauliflower are among the 9 highest annual producing crops. Broccoli was the seventh most valuable crop in 2006-07, with 40,032 tonnes produced valued at \$87.5 million. Victoria is the largest producer (42%) followed by Queensland (25%) and New South Wales accounts for only 9%. Severe competition from China is reducing Australia's share of exports amongst Asian economies. Partially offsetting this development is the fact that new markets in the Middle East are being developed (Anonymous 2008c).

1.4 Glucosinolates

The glucosinolates are a group of over 130 nitrogen and sulphur-containing natural products derived from glucose and an amino acid. They are found almost exclusively in plants of the Brassicaceae and other related families of the order Capparales (Brown and Morra, 1997; Fahey *et al.* 2001). Every glucosinolate contains a central carbon atom which is bound via a sulphur atom to the thioglucose group (making a sulfated ketoxime) and via a nitrogen atom to a sulphate group (Figure 1.3). In addition, the central carbon is bound to a side group, different glucosinolates have

7

different side groups, and it is variation in the side group that is responsible for the variation in the biological activities of these plant compounds (Fenwick *et al.* 1983a; Chew 1988a; Rask *et al.* 2000; Lambrix *et al.* 2001).

About 130 different glucosinolates are known to occur naturally in plants. Glucosinolates can be classified by their precursor amino acid and the types of modification to the R group. So called aliphatic glucosinolates derived from mainly methionine, but also alanine and leucine. Most glucosinolates are actually derived from chain elongated homologues of these amino acids, e.g. glucoraphanin is derived from dihomomethionine, which is methionine chain elongated twice (Brown *et al.* 2003). Variations of glucosinolate levels among the *Brassica* plants observed in previous investigations (Kiddle *et al.* 2001; Moreno *et al.* 2006) are listed in Table 1.2.

The Brassicas contain the enzyme myrosinase which, in the presence of water, cleaves off the glucose group from a glucosinolate molecule. The remaining molecule then quickly converts to an isothiocyanate, a nitrile, or a thiocyanate. These are the active substances that serve as defence for the plant (Glen *et al.* 1990; Doughty *et al.* 1991). The standard product of the reaction is the isothiocyanate (mustard oil), the other two products mainly occur in the presence of specialised plant proteins that alter the outcome of the reaction (Burow *et al.* 2007). To prevent damage to the plant itself, the myrosinase and glucosinolates are stored in separate compartments of the cell and come together following physical injury or cellular disruption.

Because the use of glucosinolate containing crops as a primary food source for animals was shown to have toxic effects, food crops have been developed that contain

8

2very low amounts of glucosinolates (e.g. canola). On the other hand, plants producing large amounts of glucosinolates are also desirable, because substances derived from glucosinolates can serve as biological pesticides (Nicholls *et al.* 1999) (effective in soil fumigation) and are under investigation in the prevention of cancer with sulphoraphane in broccoli being the best known example (Hecht 2000).

Glucosinolates are well known for their toxic effects at high doses (mainly as goitrogens) in both humans and animals. Their hydrolytic and metabolic products act as chemo-protective agents against chemically-induced carcinogens and have been shown to block the initiation of tumors in a variety of rodent tissues eg. liver, colon, mammary gland, pancreas, etc (Verhoeven *et al.* 1997; Talaly and Fahey 2001; Fahey 2002a; Conaway *et al.* 2002).



Figure 1.3: The common structure of glucosinolate and some specific glucosinolates showing typical variation in the structure of the side chain.

| Brassica species | Plant Organ | Major Glucosinolate Class |
|--|-------------------------------------|---------------------------|
| Arabis hirsuta | Hairy rock cress, young leaves | Aromatic |
| Barbarea praecox | Land cress, young leaves | Aromatic |
| Barbarea vulgaris | Bitter winter cress, young leaves | Aromatic |
| Brassica campestris | Chinese cabbage, seeds | Indolyl |
| B. juncea | Brown mustard young leaves | Alkenyl |
| B. napus | Oilseed rape young leaves | Mixed |
| B. nigra | Black mustard young leaves | Alkenyl |
| B. oleracea var. botrytis subvar. Cymosa | Calabrese broccoli florets | Mixed |
| B. oleracea var. Italica | Broccoli head | Mixed |
| Conringia orientalis | Hares ear cress young leaves | Alkyl |
| Isatis tinctoria | Woad young leaves | Indolyl |
| Lepidium sativum | Garden cress young leaves and roots | Aromatic |
| Nasturtium officinalis | Watercress young leaves | Mixed |
| Reseda luteola | Dyers rocket young leaves | Mixed |
| Reseda alba | White mignonette young leaves | Alkyl |
| Sibara virginica | Young leaves | Mixed |
| Tropaeolum majus | Nasturtium young leaves | Aromatic |

Table 1.2. Some of the brassica plants and tissues source of specific glucosinolate group

Extracted and modified from Fahey et al. 2001; Kiddle et al. 2001; Fahey 2002b; and Moreno et al. 2006.

1.4.1 Biosynthesis of Glucosinolate

The formation of glucosinolates can be divided into three separate phases. First, certain aliphatic and aromatic amino acids are elongated by inserting methylene groups into their side chains (Figure 1.4). The three principal steps are: (1) condensation with acetyl-CoA, (2) isomerisation, and (3) oxidation-decarboxylation (Halkier and Gershenzon 2006).

Second, the amino acid moiety itself, whether elongated or not, is metabolically reconfigured to give the core structure of glucosinolates (Figure 1.5). CYP79 enzymes

catalysing the conversion of amino acids to aldoximes are the only side-chain-specific step in the pathway (Halkier and Gershenzon 2006). The products from the CYP83s are too reactive to be isolated, but are proposed to be either *aci*-nitro compounds or their dehydrated analogs, nitrile oxides. The sulphur-donating enzyme is the only enzyme that remains to be identified, and is proposed to be a glutathione-*S*transferase-like enzyme that uses cysteine as a substrate (Halkier and Gershenzon 2006).

Third, the initially formed glucosinolates are modified by various secondary transformations (Figure 1.6). AOP2 and AOP3 indicate the 2-oxoacid-dependent dioxygenases catalysing these reaction types in *Arabidopsis*. For each category of glucosinolate, a different range of chain lengths is known to occur naturally (Halkier and Gershenzon 2006).



Figure 1.4: Glucosinolate biosynthesis and amino acid chain-elongation cycle. Abbreviations: R, variable side chain.



Figure 1.5: Biosynthesis of the glucosinolate core structure. Abbreviations; R, variable side chain; GST, glutathione-S-transferase; S-GT, S-glucosyltransferase; ST, sulphotransferase and C-S lyase.



Figure 1.6: Some common oxidative secondary transformations of methionine-derived glucosinolates. For methylthioalkyl and methylsulphonylalkyl, n = 1-8; for methylsulphinylalkyl, n = 1-9; for alkenyl, n = 1-5; for hydroxyalkyl, n = 0-2. Abbreviations-AOP2 and AOP3: 2 & 3-oxoacid-dependent dioxygenases catalyzing agent.

1.4.2 Hydrolysis of Glucosinolate

Glucosinolates are degraded upon plant damage to a variety of hydrolysed products responsible for most of the biological activity. The process begins with myrosinase-catalysed hydrolysis of the thioglucoside linkage, leading to the formation of glucose and an unstable aglycone (Bones and Rossiter 1996; Rask *et al.* 2000). Depending on the structure of the side chain and the presence of additional proteins and co-factors, the aglycone then rearranges to form different products, including isothiocyanates, oxazolidine-2-thiones, nitriles, epithionitriles, and thiocyanates (Figure 1.7).

The most common glucosinolate hydrolysis products in many plant species are isothiocyanates, which are formed from the aglycone by a Lossen rearrangement involving the migration of the side chain from the oxime carbon to the adjacent nitrogen (Halkier and Gershenzon 2006). When the glucosinolate side chain bears a hydroxyl group at C-2, the isothiocyanates formed are unstable and cyclize to oxazolidine-2-thiones, a class of substances known to cause goitre.

In other plants, a major percentage of glucosinolate hydrolysis products are nitriles (Cole 1976; Lambrix *et al.* 2001). The formation of nitriles *in vitro* is favoured at a pH of less than 3 or in the presence of the Fe^{2+} ion (Gil and Macleod 1980; Galletti *et al.* 2001). However, protein factors may be involved in nitrile formation *in vivo*, such as the epithiospecifier protein (ESP) (Tookey 1973; MacLeod and Rossiter 1985; Bernardi *et al.* 2000; Foo *et al.* 2000). When the glucosinolate side chain has a terminal double bond, ESP promotes the reaction of the sulphur atom of the thioglucoside linkage with the double bond to form a thirane ring. The process occurs only in the presence of myrosinase. ESP is not known to have any catalytic abilities

by itself. The recent isolation of an *Arabidopsis* gene encoding an ESP showed that this protein not only promotes the formation of epithionitriles, but also the formation of simple nitriles from a large variety of glucosinolates (Lambrix *et al.* 2001).

Other hydrolysis products include thiocyanates, which are formed from only three glucosinolates: benzyl-, allyl-, and 4-methylsulphinylbutyl-glucosinolate (Figure 1.3), all of which form stable side-chain cations. Like nitrile formation, thiocyanate production is also associated with specific protein factors (Hasapis & Macleod 1982), but these have not yet been identified. The hydrolysis of indole glucosinolates is somewhat different from that of the other glucosinolate types, because the initially formed isothiocyanates are unstable at neutral or slightly acidic pH, and are converted to further metabolites, including indole-methanols, ascorbic acid conjugates, and oligomeric mixtures (Latxague *et al.* 1991; Agerbirk *et al.* 1998; Buskov *et al.* 2000).



Figure 1.7: Glucosinolate hydrolysed product and unstable intermediates (within brackets). Abbreviations: ESP, epithiospecifier protein; R, variable side chain.

1.4.3 Glucosinolate Content Variations among Plant Tissues

Glucosinolate content in plants is about 1% of dry weight in some tissues of *Brassica* vegetables (Rosa *et al.* 1997), although the content is highly variable (Farnham *et al.* 2004), and can approach 10% in the seeds of some plants, where glucosinolates may represent one-half of the sulphur content of the seeds (Josefsson 1970).

Distribution of the glucosinolates that have been examined varies among plant organs, with both content and diversity differences between roots, leaves, stems and seeds. For example, seeds or young sprouts of broccoli (*Brassica oleracea* var. *italica*) can contain 70–100 \Box mol total glucosinolates / g FW, with <1% contributed by indole glucosinolates and the balance consisting almost entirely of the aliphatic glucosinolates, glucoraphanin, glucoerucin and glucoiberin (Fahey *et al.* 1997). Late vegetative to reproductive stage plants of the same cultivar typically may contain only about 1–4 \Box mol of total glucosinolates/g FW, with aliphatic and indole glucosinolates present at roughly equivalent levels (Fahey *et al.* 1997; Fahey and Stephenson 1999).

Plant age is a major determinant of the qualitative and quantitative glucosinolate composition of plants. Environmental factors such as soil fertility (Booth and Walker 1992; Fahey and Stephenson 1999), pathogen challenge (Butcher *et al.* 1974), wounding (Bodnaryk 1992) or plant growth regulators (Bodnaryk 1994; Bodnaryk and Yoshihara 1995) also have significant effects on levels of specific glucosinolates in the growing plants and may affect distribution among plant organs. Variation of glucosinolates in different plant tissues has been summarised below (Table 1.4 & 1.5).

| Species | | G | ucosinolate | e concentra | tion in um | ol per gra | m drv we | ight | | · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · |
|---|---------------------------------------|-------|-------------|-------------|------------|------------|---------------|-----------------------|----------|---|
| • | Organ | Seed | Sprout | Stem | Root | leaves | Leaves | Infloresence | Siliques | References |
| | Age of plant (days) | | matured | matured | matured | 10 days | 50-70 days | 70 days | 1 | |
| | Common name | | | | | | | | | |
| Brassica oleracea botrvtis | Var. Cauliflower | | | | | | | 3.22* | | Tian <i>et al.</i> 2005 |
| Brassica oleracea | Var, Brussel sprouts, Gemmifera | | | | | | 9.40* | | <u></u> | Tian <i>et al.</i> 2005 |
| Brassica oleracea italica | Broccoli | | | | | | | 2.08* | | Tian <i>et al.</i> 2005 |
| Brassica oleracea italica | Broccoli | | 4.02* | | | | | | | Tian <i>et al.</i> 2005 |
| Brassica oleracea acephala | Ornamental kale, chidori white | | | | | | 9.07 | | | Kushad <i>et al.</i> 1999 |
| Brassica oleracea acephala | Ornamental kale, Nagoya white | | | | | | 10.6 | | | Kushad <i>et al.</i> 1999 |
| Brassica oleracea acephala | Ornamental cabbage, Tokyo white | | | | | | 11.53 | | | Kushad <i>et al.</i> 1999 |
| Brassica oleracea acephala | Ornamental cabbage, Tokyo Red | | | | | | 14.18 | | | Kushad <i>et al.</i> 1999 |
| Brassica napus | Ssp. Rape, Pabularia | | | | | | 19.85 | | | Font <i>et al.</i> 2005 |
| Brassica campestris pekinensis var. Granat | ssp. Chinese cabbage | 14.72 | | | 10.0 | | | | | Ludwig- Müller <i>et al.</i> 1997 |
| Brassica campestris pekinensis var. | ssp. Chinese cabbage, Granat | 8.28 | | | 5.0 | | | | | Ludwig- Müller <i>et al.</i> 1997 |
| Wasabi japonica | Wasabi | >150 | | 9.1 | | | | | P | Sexton <i>et al.</i> 1999 |
| Brassica juncea | Indian mustard | 85 | | 1.61 | | | | | | Sexton <i>et al.</i> 1999 |
| Brassica napus | Canola | 22 | | 0.56 | | | | | | Sexton <i>et al.</i> 1999 |
| Arabidopsis thaliana Heyn | Thale Cress | 63.4 | | | 18.6 | 17.9 | 7.4 | 30.2 | 15.4 | Brown <i>et al.</i> 2003 |
| Brassica oleracea | Broccoli, italica | | | | | | | 12.8 (edible portion) | | Kushad <i>et al</i> . 1999 |

.

Table 1.3. Glucosinolate variation within different plant species and tissues

* µmol per g fresh weight

ſ

Table 1.4. Mean individual glucosinolates (expressed in µmol per gram dry mass) among edible tissues of *Brassica oleracea*

| Glucosinola | tes | B. oleracea varieties | | | | | |
|-------------|-------------------------------------|------------------------|---------------------|---------|-----------------|------|--|
| Group | Form | Broccoli (Marathon) | Brussels sprouts | Cabbage | Cauliflo wer | Kale | |
| Aliphatic | Sinigrin | 0.1 | 8.9 | 7.8 | 9.3 | 10.4 | |
| | Gluconapin | 1.0 | 6.9 | 0.7 | 0.3 | 1.0 | |
| | Progoitrin | 1.0 | 2.4 | 0.2 | 0.3 | 0.6 | |
| | Glucoiberin | 0.1 | 0.0 | 0.0 | 0.0 | 0.0 | |
| | Glucoraphanin | 7.1 | 1.0 | 0.1 | 0.5 | 1.0 | |
| Indole | Glucobrassicin | 1.1 | 3.2 | 0.9 | 1.3 | 1.2 | |
| | 40H glucobrassicin | 0.2 | 0.6 | 0.3 | 1.6 | 0.1 | |
| | 4 CH ₃ OH glucobrassicin | 0.4 | 0.4 | 0.3 | 1.0 | 0.2 | |
| | Neoglucobrassicin | 0.2 | 0.2 | 0.2 | 0.2 | 0.1 | |

Extracted from Faulkner et al. 1998; Kushad et al. 1999.

1.4.4 Factors Affecting the Level of Glucosinolates in Plants

Variation in the amount of glucosinolates has been attributed to genetic and environmental (biotic and abiotic) factors. Glucosinolates contain a significant proportion of sulphur and nitrogen. Therefore it might be expected that fertilisers will influence the concentrations of glucosinolates in *Brassica* crops. It has been suggested that under conditions of sulphur deficiency, sulphur bound in glucosinolates of *Brassica* species can be remobilised by enzymatic cleavage with myrosinase (Schnug *et al.* 1993). The mechanism for this is thought to involve the control of myrosinase activity by the ascorbate/glutathione cycle. Studies have shown a close relationship between sulphur status, glucosinolate concentrations and glutathione (Schnug *et al.* 1995), although inter-dependencies with ascorbate are less apparent.

Glucosinolate profiles of four oilseed rape cultivars (Bienvenue, Ariana, Cobra and Capricorn) have been determined at vegetative growth stages and showed substantial differences in their profiles (Fieldsend and Milford 1994). Changes in the profiles of glucosinolates throughout the plant's development are thought to have implications for pests and diseases. A decreasing sulphur supply to the plants results in a decrease
in free sulphate and glucosinolate concentrations and an increase in myrosinase activity (Underhill, 1980; Schnug 1990). This implies that the increase in myrosinase activity during sulphur stress could have the function of a remobilisation of sulphate sulphur from glucosinolates, because sulphate and isothiocyanates can be utilised as sulphur sources in the primary metabolism of the plants (Machev and Schraudolf 1978).

Aires *et al.* (2006) investigated the effect of fertilisation on glucosinolate levels in broccoli (*Brassica oleracea* L. var. *italica* cv. Marathon) roots and leaves. Nitrogen was tested at 0, 45.5, 91.0 mg L⁻¹ and sulphur at 0, 14.6 and 29.2 mg L⁻¹. The results showed that total glucosinolates in the aerial part were significantly higher (P <0.001) than in the roots. The major glucosinolates in the aerial part were 4methylsulfinylbutyl (glucoraphanin) and 3-methylsulphinylpropyl (Glucoiberin) whereas in the roots they were 2-phenylethyl (gluconasturtiin) and 4-methylthiobutyl (glucoerucin). Fertilisation of broccoli sprouts had a significant (P < 0.001) detrimental effect on the levels of aliphatic glucosinolates whereas the opposite was noted for indole and aromatic glucosinolates.

Jones *et al.* (2007) showed that nitrogen applications over 30 kg/ha caused a decrease in the content of glucoraphanin (18-34%), progoitrin content was not affected while glucobrassicin increased by up to 44% with nitrogen application >30 kg/ha. Sulphur applications of 50 or 100kg/ha had no significant effect on any tested glucosinolates.

Numerous comparative studies of glucosinolate profiles indicate significant differences among cruciferous crops (VanEtten *et al.* 1976; Carlson *et al.* 1987a; Kushad *et al.* 1999 Ciska *et al.* 2000). Apart from glucosinolates profile, large

differences in the levels of both aliphatic and indole glucosinolate have been observed in brassica plants, presumably due to the use of different varieties, analytical methods and growing conditions (Cartea *et al.* 2008).

It is clear that the glucosinolates/myrosinase system is dynamic, responding to environmental changes and to plant damages. Pretreatment with elicitor compounds, which stimulate glucosinolate accumulation (Kiddle *et al.* 1994, Doughty *et al.* 1995), can enhance resistance of the plant to subsequent infection by pathogens (Doughty *et al.* 1991). The few reports of glucosinolates accumulation patterns in *Brassica* crops following *Plasmodiophora brassicae* infection are summarised below (Table 1.5).

| Table 1.5: Glucosinolate content (µmol /g DW) in Brassicas for | llowing |
|--|---------|
| Plasmodiophora brassicae infection | |

| Plant varieties Benzyl glucosinolates | | | | | | | |
|---------------------------------------|---------------------|---------------------|-----------|------------|-----------|------------|------------------|
| | Root (control) | Root (infected) | Old | Old | Young | Young | References |
| | | | leaves | leaves | leaves | leaves | |
| | | | (control) | (Infected) | (Control) | (infected) | |
| Tropaeolum majus | 6.85 | 9.76 nmol | 6.33 | 0.959 | 5.36 | 13.41 | Ludwig- |
| | | | - | | | | Müller et |
| | | | | | | | al. 1999b |
| Carica papaya | 7.36 | 11.84 | 1.935 | 2.074 | 5.63 | 4.00 | Ludwig- |
| | | | | | | | Müller et |
| | | | | | | | al. 1999b |
| Reseda alba | 6.59 | 4.01 | - | - | - | - | Ludwig- |
| | (progoitrin) | (progoitrin) | ÷ | | | | Müller et |
| | 553 | 0.398 | | | | | <i>al.</i> 1999b |
| | (glucobrassicin) | (glucobrassicin) | | | | | |
| | 3.199 | 3.02 | | | | | |
| | (neoglucobrassicin) | (neoglucobrassicin) | | | | | |
| Brassica campestris | Total | Total | - | - | - | - | Ludwig- |
| ssp pekinensis (Yuki, | Glucosinolates- | Glucosinolates- | | | | | Müller et |
| Parkin – resistant & | 9.31 | 14.72 | | | | | al. 1997 |
| Granat, Osiris | (Var.Yuki) | (Var.Granat) | | | | | |
| susceptible var.) | 8.28 | 30.31 | - | - | - | - | |
| | (Var.Parkin) | (Var.Osiris) | | | | | |

1.4.5 Microbial Interaction and Glucosinolates and Isothiocyanates

The antibacterial activities of isothiocyanates (Kjaer and Conti 1954; Virtanen 1962; Wagner *et al.* 1965; Johns *et al.* 1982; Uda *et al.* 1993; Brabban and Edwards 1995; Detaquis and Mazza 1995; Hashem and Saleh 1999; Lin *et al.* 2000) and their

antifungal activity (Drobinca *et al.* 1967; Kojima and Ogawa 1971; Mari *et al.* 1993; Detaquis and Mazza 1995; Mayton *et al.* 1996; Manici *et al.* 1997; Hashem and Saleh 1999) have been recognised for many decades. Activity against a range of soil-borne fungal and bacterial plant pathogens is profound, and has been extensively characterised (Brown and Morra 1997; Rosa and Rodrigues 1999b; Chen *et al.* 2000).

The activity of isothiocyanates such as sulphoraphane against numerous human pathogens (e.g. *Escherichia coli, Salmonella typhimurium, Candida* sp.) could even contribute to the medicinal properties ascribed to cruciferous vegetables, such as cabbage, and mustard, which have been used as wound poultices and antitumor agents for centuries (Hartwell 1982; Gordon and Newman 2005).

Glucosinolates are widely recognized as defensive compounds against generalist herbivores and are likely to be involved in host plant recognition by specialist predators, thus acting both as an insecticide and as an insect feeding attractant (Louda and Mole 1991; Rask *et al.* 2000).

1.4.6 Broccoli, Glucosinolate and Cancer Chemo-protection

Broccoli is considered a good source of nutrients because it is rich in vitamin C, carotenoids, fibre, calcium, and folate. It is also the source of many phyto-chemicals that may have anti-cancer properties (Verhoeven *et al.* 1997; Shapiro *et al.* 1998; Conaway *et al.* 2002). A glucosinolate derivative identified in broccoli appears to be more effective than modern antibiotics against the bacteria which cause peptic ulcers (Traka and Mithen 2009). Moreover, tests in mice show that the compound offers tremendous protection against stomach cancer - the second most common form of cancer in the world (Anonymous 2002). For example, broccoli contains several isothiocyanates, including sulphoraphane and indole-3-carbinol (I3C), which have

been considered as possible anti-cancer agents in recent years (Basten *et al.* 2000). Early studies have shown these substances may act as antioxidants and may boost detoxifying enzymes in the body. Some studies have also suggested they may alter body oestrogen levels, which might affect breast cancer risk (Traka and Mithen 2009).

Studies demonstrating that broccoli consumption or supplementation reduces the risk of cancer are frequent in the scientific literature, with multiple references to different types of cancers, and the complexity affecting the study of gene-diet interactions and cancer risk in humans (Finley *et al.* 2000; Lampe and Peterson 2002; Ambrosone *et al.* 2004; Jansen, 2004; Walters 2004). Examples of the wide range of studied effects of dietary anticancer bioactives from broccoli include the antiproliferative effects of sulphoraphane in human breast cancer (Jackson and Singletary 2004; Brandt *et al.* 2006; Rose *et al.* 2005) reduced risk of cancer via decreased damage to DNA (Gill *et al.* 2004; Wiseman *et al.* 2005), effects on the regulation of intestinal cell growth and death in colon cancer (Parnaud *et al.* 2004), the cancer-protective effect of high-selenium broccoli (Finley *et al.*2000) and the protective effect against prostatic tumours (Zhang et *al.* 1992; Giovannucci et *al.* 2003; Canene-Adams *et al.*2005a and 2005b).

Bioactive isothiocyanates from broccoli suppress bladder carcinoma cells (Munday and Munday 2004 and Tang and Zang 2004), protect against cellular oxidative stress (Eberhardt et *al.* 2005) and lower serum cholesterol effects (Suido *et al.* 2003). Glucosinolates protect against cardiovascular disease (Sesso *et al.* 2003) and *Helicobacter pylori* infections (Galan *et al.* 2004). These studies demonstrate that incorporation of brassica glucosinolate through diet provides levels of glucosinolates

that the lower incidence of different types of cancer and diseases in individuals who regularly consume such vegetables.

Little is known about the direct effect of broccoli sprouts on human health, even though *in vitro* and *in vivo* data provide evidence that supports the belief that young cruciferous sprouts with their high concentrations of phytochemicals may be a potent source of protective chemicals against cancer (Gill *et al.* 2004). Broccoli sprouts are a rich source of glucosinolates and isothicyanate that induce Phase II detoxication enzymes, boost antioxidant status, and protect animals against chemically induced cancer (Munday and Munday 2004; Tang and Zang 2004).

There have been a large number of studies that have used animal models to show that glucosinolate breakdown products such as isothiocyanates inhibit chemically-induced carcinogenesis by up to 100%. The anticarcinogenic properties of broccoli depends both on the concentration of glucoraphanin and on the conversion of this compound into isothiocyanate on autolysis (Zang *et al.* 1992).

1.4.7 Toxic Effect of Glucosinolate

Glucosinolates have previously caused controversy because of their goitrogenic and growth retardation activities (Mawson *et al.* 2006). The glucosinolate breakdown product oxazolidine-2-thiones derived from progoitrin (Rosa *et al.* 1997) and generally found in several oil meals may induce morphological and histological abnormalities of internal organs in animals (Schöne *et al.* 1994). Increased thyroid weight in pigs and poultry, as well as depressed growth, goitres, poor egg production, and liver damage have also been identified (Tawfiq *et al.* 1994). Glucosinolates are

well known for their toxic effects (mainly as goitrogens) in both humans and animals at high doses.

The potential negative effects of glucosinolates require a further examination, as this topic has been scarcely addressed in recent years. The anti nutritional nature of these compounds are reviewed by Fenwick *et al.* (1983a), Rosa *et al.* (1997), Griffiths *et al.* (1998) and Anilakumar *et al.* (2006).

1.5 Glucosinolate Extraction and Analytical Procedures

The abundance and structural variety of the glucosinolates and their breakdown products makes analysis very complicated (Mithen *et al.* 2000). Early identifications relied on paper or thin-layer chromatography of the glucosinolates or of their presumptive hydrolysis products (e.g. an investigation of the glucosinolates from the seeds of 151 different crucifers by Danielak and Borkowski 1969).

The analytical methods available have been extensively reviewed by McGregor *et al.* (1983) and Verkerk *et al.* (1998). The most extensively studied glucosinolates are the aliphatic, \Box -methylthioalkyl, aromatic and heterocyclic (e.g. indole) glucosinolates, found in the *Brassica* vegetables (Moreno *et al.* 2006). The largest single group (one-third of all glucosinolates) contain a sulphur atom in various states of oxidation. Another small group of benzyl glucosinolates have an additional sugar moiety, rhamnose or arabinose, in glycosidic linkage to the aromatic ring (Fahey *et al.* 2001; Fahey *et al.* 2002b and Rangkadilok *et al.* 2002).

Because glucosinolates coexist with myrosinase in the plant, fresh plant material processing in the presence of water (grinding, cutting) initiates a rapid hydrolysis of

the parent compounds. Inhibition of myrosinase activity is essential for analysis of intact glucosinolates. Before disruption of the material, samples should be completely dried by freeze-drying or frozen in liquid nitrogen. The use of aqueous methanol for extraction in combination with high temperatures also inhibits myrosinase (Heaney and Fenwick 1993; Mithen *et al.* 2000).

West *et al.* (2002) reported a single column approach with reversed-phase liquid chromatograph separations using hydrophilic endcapped C_{18} -bonded silica and a 50 mM ammonium acetate-methanol gradient mobile phase to resolve both non-polar and polar glucosinolates present in isolates obtained, using boiling water extraction. This procedure is extremely useful and valuable to other researchers studying brassica glucosinolates as well.

To date, many plant glucosinolates have not been rigorously identified by modern analytical and spectroscopic methods such as HPLC, NMR, mass spectroscopy, nearinfrared spectroscopy or supercritical fluid chromatography with light scattering detection (Fenwick *et al.* 1982; West *et al.* 2004; Font *et al.* 2005). There was, and still is, an extreme paucity of high purity chromatographic standard glucosinolates available to researchers.

One of the major problems in the analysis of glucosinolates has been the lack of suitable standards. The only commercially available pure (more than 99%) glucosinolates are benzylglucosinolate (glucotropaeolin) and 2-propenyl-glucosinolate (sinigrin). Sinigrin is not as ideal internal standard because of the presence of this compound in most *Brassicaceae* plants, but glucotropaeolin is not normally present in *Brassica* and has been used as internal standard (Brown *et al.* 2003). Inconsistent measurement of glucosinolate among the investigations depends

on numerous scientific analytical instruments used and different extraction procedures. The advantages and disadvantages of available methods were briefly summarised in Table 1.6.

Table 1.6: Advantages and disadvantages of some commonly used methods for the analysis of Glucosinolates and their breakdown products

| Compound | Method | Advantage | Disadvantage | References |
|-----------------------------|--|--|---|---|
| Total glucosinol ates | Palladium chloride and thymol assays | Provide only quantitative data for total glucosinolates | Characterization of glucosinolates is not possible | Heaney <i>et al.</i> 1988; Heaney and Fenwick 1993; Kiddle <i>et al.</i> 2001; Galan <i>et al.</i> 2004 |
| | Glucose- and sulphate- release enzyme assays | This is a rapid and simple method, efficient for measuring total glucosinolate contents. High skilled for operation is not required. | Method was not designed for measuring intact/individual glucosinolates, Myrosinase activity may interrupt the isolation of glucosinolates | Ettlinger and Lundeen 1956b; Ettlinger and Lundeen 1957; Thies 1976; Heaney <i>et al.</i> 1988; Daxenbichler <i>et al.</i> 1991; Mithen <i>et al.</i> 2000; Kiddle <i>et al.</i> 2001 |
| | ETISA | Cost and time involvement are lower than HPLC system | The method tends to overestimate glucosinolates | van Doorn <i>et al.</i> 1998; van Doorn 1999; Mithen <i>et al.</i> 2000 |
| | Near infra-red reflectance (NIR) spectroscopy; alkaline degradation and thioglucose detection | Cost and time are lower than HPLC and minimize repeated measurement cost | Not designed for characterization of glucosinolates | Ettlinger and Lundeen 1956b; Ettlinger and Lundeen 1957; Underhill and Kirkland 1971; Thies 1976; Mithen <i>et al.</i> 2000 |
| | High resolution nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectroscopy | Low time consuming and mostly accuracy in measurement | Costly and not possible to detect individual glucosinolates | Fenwick <i>et al.</i> 1982; Prestera <i>et al.</i> 1996; Zhang <i>et al.</i> 1996; Font <i>et al.</i> 2005; Kiddle <i>et al.</i> 2001; West <i>et al.</i> 2004 |
| | Microchip Capillary Electrophorosis /CE (u-CE) | Single step procedures | Not widely used method, needs more experimentation for more accuracy | Fouad <i>et al.</i> 2008. |

Table Continued...

| Individual intact glucosinol ates | Reverse phase HPLC | Potential for measuring intact glucosinolates; more accurate for determining individual glucosinolates, known as robust, powerful and selective method | Not cost effective, time consuming, needs comparing to standards of glucosinolates; results are variable within different HPLC set up | Underhill and Kirkland 1971; Thies 1976; Heaney and Fenwick 1993; Karcher and Rassi 1999; Mithen <i>et al.</i> 2000 |
|--|--|---|--|---|
| | Thermospray LC with tandem MS; high performance capillary electrophoresis; capillary GC– MS, GC–MS, GC–MS–MS | LC-MS, LC-MS- MS or capillary electrophoresis systems offer either intact or individual glucosinolates, the most accurate forms of identification and quantification possible | This methods are high cost and multi-step procedures and high skill require | Karcher and Rassi 1999; Kiddle <i>et al.</i> 2001; Tian 2005 |
| | Capillary zone electrophoresis (CZE) coupled to electrospray ionization-time of flight-mass spectrometry (ESI-TOF-MS) | Provide identification of a broad series of glucosinolates, easy and rapid method for analysis of intact, non- desulfated glucosinolates | Very selective, time consuming and high cost involvement, not suitable for measuring total glucosinolates | Bringmann <i>et al.</i> 2005. |
| Desulpho- glucosinol ates | Reverse phase HPLC | Efficient for measuring individual glucosinolates | No suitable for measuring total glucosinolates, time consuming, multi- step procedures, subject to difficulties for effect of pH, and enzyme activity of desulphation products | Olsen and Sorensen 1979; Helboe <i>et al.</i> 1980; Truscott <i>et al.</i> 1983; van Doorn1999 ; Mithen <i>et al.</i> 2000; Kiddle <i>et al.</i> 2001; West <i>et al.</i> 2002; Vallejo <i>et al.</i> 2004 |
| Degradatio n products | X-ray fluorescence spectroscopy (XRF); GC or GC-MS; HPLC | Efficient for measuring hydrolysis product of Glucosinolates than intact glucosinolates, GC-MS may have more accurate identification & quantification of glucosinolates than GC alone. | GC based technique generally unsuitable for accurate identification of any form of glucosinolates | Daxenbichler <i>et al.</i> 1991; Zhang 1996; Chiang 1998; Mithen <i>et al.</i> 2000; Kiddle <i>et al.</i> 2001; Jackson and Singletary 2004 |

Extracted and modified from Moreno et al. 2006

1.6 Life Cycle and Host Pathogen Interaction of *Plasmodiophora brassicae* Causing Clubroot Disease in *Brassica* Plants

Plasmodiophora brassicae is the casual agent of club root disease of crucifers. Records of club root back to the 13th Century in Europe. In the late 19th Century, a severe epidemic of club root destroyed large proportions of the cabbage crop in St. Petersburg, Russia. (Grabowski 2005). Woronin, a Russian scientist successfully identified the cause of club root as a "Plasmodiophorous organism" in 1875, and gave it the name *Plasmodiophora brassicae* (Karling 1968).

The life cycle of *P. brassicae* consists of two phases (Figure 1.7) the primary phase is restricted to root hairs and epidermal cells of the host, and the secondary phase which occurs in the cortex and stele of roots and hypocotyl and leads to abnormal development (Ingram and Tommerup 1972).

Not much is known about histological events during the primary infection phase, although the mechanism of penetration has been well described (Buczacki 1983). Resting spores germinate and release zoospores which penetrate the root hair by an apparatus consisting of a 'Stachel' and 'Rohr' (Braselton 1995), thereby releasing the complete protoplast of the pathogen into the root hair. Then, a multinucleate primary plasmodium grows until zoospores are formed which are again released into the soil (Ludwig-Müller and Schuller 2008). These can again infect root hairs or penetrate the root cortex by an unknown mechanism. Whether plasmodia have to fuse prior to penetration has not been clearly established, however, the observation of dikaryotic myxamoeba during this phase of infection would point to plasmogamy of two zoospores (Kobelt *et al.* 2000).

Since it is also possible to generate root galls from a single zoospore, it is assumed that different mating types are not necessary (Klewer *et al.* 2001). After the secondary infection has occurred the dikaryotic amoeba migrate, through the root cortex in direction of the central stele (Kobelt *et al.* 2000; Mühlenberg *et al.* 2002) and in the early stages of the second infection cycle, young secondary plasmodia are formed (Figure 1.8). Finally, multinucleate secondary plasmodia are formed which is accompanied by strong hypertrophy of infected cells (Ludwig-Müller *et al.* 1999a & 1999b; Siemens *et al.* 2006). In this stage karyogamy has been observed followed by meiosis of the diploid nuclei (Ingram and Tommerup 1972). These processes lead to the cleavage of the plasmodium to yield numerous resting spores (Figure 1.8).



Figure 1.8: Microscopic pictures and characteristic developmental stages of *Plasmodiophora brassicae* were illustrated by Ludwig-Müller (1990). Abbreviations as from the top of right side: ZS, zoospore (arrow);RH, root hair; PP, multinucleate primary plasmodium; BP binucleate secondary plasmodium (myxamoeba); N, host nucleus;, PL, multinucleate secondary plasmodium; SP, sporulating plasmodium; RS, resting spores.

Obligate biotrophic plant pathogens have evolved together with their host and therefore exploit the host metabolism for their own needs. The symptoms caused by *P. brassicae* are root galls. The final stage of disease development leads to changes in water and nutrient supply due to destruction of vasculature and thus causing wilting in the green parts of the plant (Rausch *et al.* 1983). In earlier stages of the infection, the pathogen uses plant signalling molecules such as cytokinins to re-distribute assimilates from the shoot to the root to guarantee its own nutrition (Evans and Scholes 1995; Siemens *et al.* 2006). Mono, disaccharides and starch increase in roots colonised by *P. brassicae* (Evans and Scholes 1995; Brodmann *et al.* 2002). In addition, the production of auxin is stimulated which in turn causes the root cells to enlarge (Grsic-Rausch *et al.* 2000; Ludwig-Müller and Schuller 2008). This intricate relationship is difficult to investigate because the pathogen can not be cultivated without its host.

1.6.1 Resistance Mechanism to Clubroot Disease

The understanding of the mechanisms of disease development is required because the disease is difficult to control under field conditions. Breeding programs have yielded resistant cultivars, but on the other hand the pathogen itself has evolved more virulent pathotypes on these plants (Voorrips 1995).

QTL analysis of brassicas has identified specific genes involved in resistance mechanisms (Rocherieux *et al.* 2004; Piao *et al.* 2004; Hirai 2006; Saito *et al.* 2006). Recent transcriptome and proteome analysis on the interaction of *P. brassicae* with *A. thaliana* (Devos *et al.* 2006; Siemens *et al.* 2006) and Brassica (Cao *et al.* 2007) could reveal novel targets for resistance breeding.

1.6.2 Role of Aliphatic and Aromatic Glucosinolate during Clubroot

The role of glucosinolates in plant defence is proposed to involve the release of toxic thiocyanates and isothiocyanates (Fenwick *et al.* 1983b; Chew 1988a). The conversion of glucosinolate to nitriles would yield less toxic products (Bones and Rossiter 1996). Little information on the role of aliphatic and aromatic glucosinolates during the development of the clubroot disease is available, because most research has focussed on indole glucosinolates (Agerbirk *et al.* 2008).

Devos *et al.* (2006) showed myrosinase was upregulated at a very early time point of infection, whereas Siemens *et al.* (2006) found evidence of downregulation of myrosinase transcripts in *A. thaliana* clubroots at later time points of gall development. It has not yet been shown by functional analysis that myrosinase is a limiting factor in gall formation. Additional factors such as binding protein (MBP) myrosinase associated protein (MyAP), epithiospecific protein (ESP) and ESM1 (Epithiospecifier modifier, a protein belonging to a known class of myrosinase-associated proteins, which inhibits ESP-mediated nitrile formation) would determine the outcome of metabolism and toxicity (Lambrix *et al.* 2001; Eriksson *et al.* 2002; Halkier and Gershenzon 2006; Burow *et al.* 2008).

In resistant and susceptible Chinese cabbage (*Brassica rapa*) cultivars, aliphatic and aromatic glucosinolates level was analysed (Ludwig-Müller *et al.* 1997). The total glucosinolate content in roots of the two susceptible varieties was higher throughout the experimental period than in roots of the two resistant cultivars (Ludwig-Müller *et al.* 1997). While the aliphatic glucosinolate were induced in the two susceptible cultivars compared to the resistant ones, the two resistant cultivars showed an increase

in aromatic GSL, indicating there may be a dual role for these compounds (Ludwig-Müller *et al.* 1999b). In addition, in one of the resistant cultivars inductions of aliphatic and aromatic glucosinolates were observed after jasmonate treatment (Ludwig-Müller *et al.* 1997). Overall, the observations did not entirety fit with the hypothesis that the group of aliphatic glucosinolate are induced as defence response.

In an investigation on the host range of *P. brassicae* in various non-brassica species, a dual role of aromatic glucosinolates during club formation was presented (Ludwig-Müller *et al.* 1999b). Symptom development was correlated with specific glucosinolates in one species, while the increase in other glucosinolates might be regarded as a defence response. In glucosinolate containing non-brassicas, *Tropaeolum majus* and *Carica papaya*, the concentrations of benzyl-glucosinolate were increased markedly in roots following *P. brassicae* infection compared with the controls (Ludwig-Müller *et al.* 1999b). Slight gall formation was observed in *T. majus* (Ludwig-Müller *et al.* 1999b) and it was hypothesised that benzyl-Glucosinolates could act as precursor for phenylacetic acid (PAA-Fig-1.8), which has auxin activity in *T. majus* (Ludwig-Müller and Cohen 2002).

Two alkenyl-glucosinolates were only detectable in *P. brassicae* infected roots of mutants of *A. thaliana*. Total aliphatic glucosinolates were slightly increased in clubroots (Haughn *et al.* 1991). Consequently, a mutant in a gene encoding an enzyme involved in the biosynthesis of aliphatic glucosinolates (Kroymann *et al.* 2001) did not show any tolerance to clubroot (Ludwig-Müller *et al.* 1999a) (Figure 1.8).



Figure 1.9: Model proposed by Ludwig-Muller *et al.* (1999a; 1999b) suggesting the probable pathway of glucosinolates during clubroot formation. Alipathic glucosinolates derived from methionine might play a role as defence compounds leading to a level of tolerance. The aromatic glucosinolates could also play defensive role but they might serve as precursors for auxin like molecules such as phenylacetic acid (PAA). Indole glucosinolates derived from tryptophan likely serve as auxin precursors and are intermediate for Indole 3- acetic acid (IAA) increasing IAA production which pathway would lead to susceptibility. Inhibition of the enzymes (nitrilase) in this pathway would help the plant more immune in nature. Blocking early steps in the pathway of CYP79B2/B3 would not lead to tolerance because alternative pathways might operate. The role of Myrosinase binding protein (MBP), Myrosinase associated protein (MyAP) have not yet been demonstrated. Epithiospecific protein (ESP) and Epithiospecifier modifier 1 (EMS1) have involvement in regulating glucosinolates hydrolysis and influence the out come of the reaction leading to determine the synthesis of specific defense compounds.

1.6.3 Indole Glucosinolate and Clubroot Disease Development

Indole glucosinolates play a vital role as precursors for Indole Acetic Acid (IAA) production during clubroot formation (Butcher *et al.* 1974). It was emphasised that if plants have large amounts of indole glucosinolate, then after tissue disruption also large amounts of IAA would be produced, thereby increasing susceptibility. Another assumption is that plants with low indole glucosinolate levels and therefore a lower

capacity for IAA synthesis by turnover of indole glucosinolates, should be more tolerant to clubroot formation (Figure 1.8).

However, conflicting results have been published on this topic. For example Butcher *et al.* (1974) and Ockendon and Buczacki (1979) found clear correlations between resistance and low indole glucosinolate content in Brassicaceae. Chong *et al.* (1981 & 1984). Mullin *et al.* (1980) were not able to correlate indole glucosinolate content with resistance to clubroot. Two resistant and two susceptible *B. rapa* cultivars showed differences in the indole glucosinolate patterns (Ludwig-Müller *et al.* 1997). Two susceptible cultivars reacted with an increase in indole glucosinolates after infection with *P. brassicae* 14 and 20 day post inoculation in roots, whereas there was no difference between infected and control roots of the two resistant cultivars. All cultivars tested showed increased glucosinolate levels after treatment with salicylic acid (SA) and jasmonic acid. Jasmonic acid induced mainly indole glucosinolates in the leaves, whereas SA induced the indole glucosinolates both in leaves and roots of both cultivars.

In *A. thaliana* Columbia, indole glucosinolate levels were increased during clubroot development (Ludwig-Müller *et al.* 1999a). Two mutant lines (lines tu3 and tu8) with altered glucosinolate content (Haughn *et al.* 1991) showed reduced symptom development compared to the wild type. In tu8 indolic glucosinolates decreased while in tu3 were unchanged compared to the wild type (Ludwig-Müller *et al.* 1999a).

1.7 Chemical Management of Clubroot Disease

Although some soil fungicides are available for the control of clubroot, these have limited efficacy where there is a high density of resting spores and highly virulent populations of *P. brassicae* (Tanaka *et al.* 1999, Porter *et al.* 1998; Donald *et al.*

2001). Fungicides such as cluazinam, flusulfamide, cyazofamid and mancozeb have also been found to be effective (Humpherson-Jones 1993; Dixon *et al.* 1994; Mitani *et al.* 2003) against clubroot of Brassicas.

Mitani *et al.* (2003) demonstrated that cyazofamid at 0.3 mg/L inhibited resting spore germination of *P. brassicae* by 80%, cyazofamid at 3-10 mg/L exhibited fungicidal activity to resting spores of *P. brassicae* 1-10 days after treatment. Cyazofamid was applied to infested soil, both root-hair infections and club formation caused by *P. brassicae* were strongly inhibited at 1-3 mg kg⁻¹ dry soil, suggesting that cyazofamid directly inhibits resting spore germination, thereby leading to the inhibition of root-hair infection and club formation.

In 1996, fluazinam formulated as 50% suspension concentrate, was registered in Australia for use as a soil drench to control clubroot disease of brassica crops. Commercially suitable methods for application of fluazinam were evaluated in field trials conducted in Victoria and Western Australia by Donald *et al.* (2001) and they demonstrated that incorporation of fluazinam into the soil in bands 23 cm wide along the transplant row (to a depth of about 15–20 cm) immediately before transplanting was the most effective method of application. The banded soil incorporation treatment consistently increased the marketable yield of broccoli and cauliflower.

Knowledge of the mode of action allows more effective application of fungicides. However, the determination of the mode of action of fungicides against *P. brassicae* is made more difficult because it is an obligate pathogen and cannot be cultured axenically. Nevertheless, biological modes of action of some fungicides against *P. brassicae brassicae* have been postulated e.g. trichlamide and fluazinam may inhibit resting-

spore germination, and primary or secondary infections (Naiki and Dixon 1987; Suzuki *et al.* 1995). In contrast, quintozene possesses relatively low suppressive activity against resting-spore germination (Naiki and Dixon, 1987; Suzuki *et al.* 1995) but does act against *P. brassicae* established within host cortical tissues in a manner similar to Benomyl (Dixon *et al.* 1972; Naiki 1985).

1.8 Alternate Management Strategies

P. brassicae survives in soil for a long time as resting spores (Wallenhammar 1996). Liming has been employed as a traditional and conventional technique and diseasesuppressive effects of the neutralisation of soil acidity are well documented (Colhoun, 1953; Dobson *et al.* 1983; Campbell *et al.* 1985; Murakami *et al.* 2002; Tremblay *et al.* 2005).

Webster & Dixon (1991) employed the sand-solution culture system to investigate the effects of pH on primary (root-hair) infection and clubroot development in the absence or presence of calcium. They observed independent and synergistic effects of pH and calcium on the suppression of zoospore invasion, zoosporangial maturation and clubroot development. It was demonstrated that an increase in soil pH as a result of the accumulation of calcium was the primary cause of the suppression of root-hair infection and that the degree of effectiveness was dependent upon the level of Ca applied.

Although the suppression mechanism of soil neutralisation and that of calcium enrichment need to be elucidated comparatively, all these observations confirm that the occurrence of clubroot disease is suppressed effectively under neutral soil pH in the presence of calcium. It is evident that either spore germination or root hair

infection, each a part of the primary phase of the life cycle of the pathogen, is inhibited under such conditions (Niwa *et al.* 2008).

Niwa *et al.* (2008) provided the first direct evidence that the spore germination of *P. brassicae* in the rhizosphere is inhibited under neutral conditions created by the application of calcium-rich organic matter or CaCO₃. Myers & Campbell (1985) demonstrated that neutralization by calcium application did not reduce the viability of the resting spores, suggesting that the effects were not fungicidal, but fungistatic to the pathogen. Webster & Dixon (1991) suggested that an increase in soil pH by calcium application might not eradicate the pathogen directly, but create unfavourable conditions affecting the infection processes, e.g. enhancing host resistance to infection. The result clarifies a part of the mechanism underlying the inhibition of the disease under neutral soil pH and raises new questions of how spore germination is inhibited under these conditions.

It has been suggested that root exudates stimulate spore germination (Macfarlane 1970; Suzuki *et al.* 1992; Kowalski and Bochow 1996). It is hypothesised that soil pH may influence the response of *P. brassicae* spores to root exudates or that qualitative and/or quantitative changes in the exudates may occur under neutral conditions. Identification of the germination-stimulating factors in exudates would be an important step in understanding this mechanism (Macfarlane 1970)

The application of food factory sludge compost (FSC) to soil increases soil pH, calcium, carbon, nitrogen and phosphorus levels, which may lead to additional effects of these elements on disease suppression (Niwa *et al.* 2007). However, this is unlikely because the suppressive effect in FSC-treated soils was cancelled out by acidification with sulphuric acid (Niwa *et al.* 2007).

In Australia, an integrated program to control and prevent the spread of clubroot has been developed, based on detection and quantification of *P. brassicae*, improved farm and nursery hygiene and strategic application of in-field controls including lime (calcium oxide), calcium, boron and the fungicide fluazinam (Donald *et al.* 2006).

1.9 Bion and Phosphonate Application against Plasmodiophora brassicae

The plant activator acibenzolar (Bion) is a non fungicidal compound used to combat plant pathogens by inducing the host plant's natural defence mechanisms (Tally *et al.* 1999). This is a functional analogue of salicylic acid shown to accumulate in plants challenged by a pathogen (Friedrich *et al.* 1996). Following accumulation of salicylic acid, plant defence gene(s) are induced (Lawton *et al.* 1996) triggering the production of defence compounds.

Phosphorous acid has been shown to have a number of modes of action including being directly fungisatic (Grant *et al.* 1990) as a plant activator (Afek and Sztejnberg 1989), and as an inhibitor of pathogen defence suppressor (Grant *et al.* 1990). The simple anion of phosphonic acid, phosphonate has been demonstrated to be a remarkably cost effective agent for the control of a number of plant diseases (Pegg *et al.* 1985; Guest *et al.* 1988; de Boer *et al.* 1990). Phosphonate application leads to a more rapid accumulation of phytoalexin when compared to untreated control (Dercks and Creaser 1989; Guest 1984; Guest *et al.* 1988; Nemestothy and Guest 1990; Saindrenan *et al.* 1988). Cheah *et al.* (2000) demonstrated that phosphorous acid (Foli-R-FOS 400) as a plant drench (2 mL/L) significantly reduced clubroot formation in Chinese cabbage cv. Wong bok (*Brassica chinensis* L.) in glasshouse condition.

A number of field trials were carried out by Abbasi and Lazarovits (2006) to test the effect of phosphonate fungicide on the severity of clubroot of bok choy/Pak choy (*B. rapa* var. *chinensis*) and cabbage (*B. rapa* var. *perkinensis* and *B. oleracea* var. *capitata*) in clubroot infested field. Phosphonate concentrations of 0.07 and 0.14% a.i. applied as soil drench before or after planting consistently reduced clubroot severity. Fresh weight of bok choy was increased or not affected by phosphonate treatments.

1.10 RATIONALE AND SIGNIFICANCE

There is evidence that glucosinolates reduce the risk of cancer in human and enhance the response to disease infection in some plant groups. It has been demonstrated that certain glucosinolate levels rise upon pathogen invasion as part of a resistance mechanism (Mithen 1992). However, the effects of glucosinolates accumulation in different plant tissues following infection is not well understood. There is minimal information available on the level of glucosinolates during different crop management practices such as fertilisation, irrigation, planting date, etc. There is also lack of information on the content of aerial and root glucosinolates during clubroot disease development at early stages of plant growth.

Changes of glucosinolates have long been associated with clubroot disease symptoms. Results show that several glucosinolates are induced in root galls, while aliphatic glucosinolates are regarded as defence compounds. Analysis of cabbage cultivars as well as *A. thaliana* mutants provided correlative evidence between disease severity and root indole glucosinolates content. The potential to use chemicals like potassium phosphonate and Bion to increase glucosinolate levels, and thus enhance the defence response has not been explored. The effect of clubroot disease on accumulation of particular group of glucosinolates in aerial parts of *Brassica oleraecea italica* is yet to be investigated.

The interaction between leaves-shoot and root induction of glucosinolates in *Brassica* oleracea and *B. nigra* were studied applying the signalling hormones jasmonic acid and salicylic acid (van Dam *et al.* 2003). Interestingly, there is no information on the changes of individual glucosinolates throughout the aerial and root parts of plants in response to interaction with clubroot disease and fungicide action over time.

Based on the previous findings, this investigation will measure the level of individual glucosinolates both in aerial and root tissues during the early stages of the development of *P. brassicae*. The findings of this work will aid in designing future experimentation to elucidate the role of individual glucosinolates in plant defence and the maintenance of higher levels of beneficial glucosinolates in *Brassicas* that potentially reduces the risk of human diseases.

Chapter II. General Materials and Methods

2.1 Plant material

Hybrid Broccoli (*Brassica oleracea* L. var. *Italica*), cultivar Marathon F1 (Fairbanks, Lot no. 156490, 542 Footscray Road, West Melbourne 3003, Australia) was used as a susceptible host of *P. brassicae* in this experiment.

2.2 Pathogen material

A field isolate of *Plasmodiophora brassicae* Woronin, was collected by Dr Caroline Donald (DPI Victoria) from a broccoli farm in Werribee, Victoria, Australia in 2006. Also fresh clubroot (galls) were collected at the beginning of this study from newly harvested bok choy (*Brassia rapa* L. var. *chinensis* cv. Hanelt) at a commercial vegetable farm in Camden, New South Wales, Australia in March, 2008. The galls were washed and stored in a freezer at -20°C until use.

2.3 Inoculation techniques

Three different methods of inoculation were tested to find out one suitable technique for effective and rapid disease development. The viability of *Plasmodiophora brassicae* spores in frozen clubroots was tested before inoculation into the seedlings by staining with 0.01% (w/v) hypertonic neutral red in 10 mM phosphate buffer (pH 7.5) (O'Connell *et al.* 1985).

Inoculation method-1 (IM-1) consisted of injecting spore suspension into the root zones of 12 day old seedlings (Donald and Porter 2004). Root galls (clubroots) containing resting spores of *P. brassicae* were homogenised 1:3 with distilled water (w/v) in a mechanical blender. The extract was filtered through nylon stocking. The

filtered spore suspensions were cleaned by repeated centrifugation in 20 mL Falcon tubes at 2000 g for five minutes and resuspended in sterilise distilled water (Donald and Porter 2004). The final concentration of resting spores in each suspension was estimated using a haemocytometer. The spore suspension was diluted to 10^8 spores/mL. The 12 day old transplanted seedlings were inoculated by pipetting 200 µL of resting spore suspension (10^8 spores/mL) at the base of each seedling.

The second inoculation technique (IM-2) was modified from the method of Toxopeus and Janssen (1975). Inoculum slurry was prepared by 3 min high speed blending of washed club roots with distilled water (1:5 w/v). About 50 mL of infected root slurry $(10^7 \text{ resting spores per mL})$ per kilogram potting mix was thoroughly mixed up 3 days prior to 12 day old seedling transplantation.

The third inoculation technique (IM-3) was a combination of IM-1 and IM-2. Twelve day old seedlings were transplanted in to the potting mix containing 10^7 spores/mL of slurry mixed 3 days prior to seedling transplantation (IM-2). After immediate transplanting seedlings, 200 µL of cleaned resting spore suspension containing 10^8 resting spores per mL was injected around the rhizosphere of seedlings (12 day old).

In pilot tests the third inoculation method (IM3) showed the highest infection rate and was used in further experiments. Glucosinolates were measured following pathogen infection of 12 day old seedlings. Chemical treatments were applied to 10 day old seedlings (experiments described in Chapter 4).

2.4 Plant culture

Plastic pots (15 cm diameter, 20 cm high) were filled with modified UC (University of California) potting mix consisting of coco peat and washed sand (1:1-w/v). Osmocote slow release fertilizer (Scotts Australia Pty. Ltd) was added at 10 g kg⁻¹ potting mix 3 days before transplanting or seed sowing. Seedlings were maintained for the duration of the experiment in Darlington Glasshouse, at The University of Sydney from November 2008 to July 2009. Glasshouse room temperature was maintained between 22 to 25°C during day and 18 to 20°C at night. Relative humidity was maintained at 80 to 90%. Seedlings were irrigated three times daily for 3 minutes. Pots were thoroughly watered immediately prior to inoculation and seed sowing.

2.5 Microscopic observation of diseases development process

Stages of pathogen development within the root hair and cortical cell infection towards gall formation were observed using a light microscope. A solution of anilineblue was used to stain primary and secondary infection structures of *P. brassicae* infecting root hairs and the cortical cell region. Four days after inoculation, potting mix was rinsed from seedling roots under water. One hundred root hairs on the tap root (0-7 cm from the basal part of the hairy root) were identified and the numbers of root hair infections were counted (Asano *et al.* 2000). Each seedling was placed with its roots in 125 ppm aniline-blue solution in 50% (v/v) acetic acid for 1 min at room temperature and then rinsed with tap water for 1 minute (Voorrips 1992).

The roots of 8 plants for each inoculation method (2 plants from one pot) were examined under the light microscope using Nomarski optics (Olympus-DP70-BX51,

Olympus Australia, North Ryde, NSW, Australia). This process was repeated every 4 days up to 36 days post inoculation (DPI). Root hair infection, including differentiated stages of primary phases of plasmodial developmental (primary plasmodia, mature zoosporangia, partially evacuated zoosporangia and fully evacuated zoosporangia), cortical cell infection by dikaryotic and multinucleate secondary plasmodium and specific time point of gall formation were recorded.

Invasion of secondary plasmodium in the cortex region was observed using aniline blue staining of 0.5 cm segments from the midsection of the root. The frequency (%) of infection was calculated from the ratio of the number of infected cells to the total number of cells observed in each area of the cortical cells (n=?).

Disease severity (fresh gall weight in g/plant) among the inoculation methods were assessed at 12, 16, 20 24, 28, 32 and 36 DPI.

2.6 Statistical Analysis

All the analysis (data from three inoculation methods) was performed with the statistical package GraphPad Prisam 5.2, 2009 (GraphPad Software Inc, Sandeigo California, USA). A two-way ANOVA (inoculation method x days post inoculation) was to determine the effect of each inoculation method on the frequency of root hair infection, cortical cell infection and fresh gall weight per plant.

2.7 Sample collection for glucosinolate measurement

For glucosinolate analysis, inoculated and uninoculated roots and leaves-shoots were sampled every 7 days post inoculation to 42 days (total of 6 intervals). Eight plants were collected each time with roots and leaves-shoots washed and dried prior to snap freezing in liquid nitrogen. Samples were stored at -20° C in polyethylene Ziploc bags until freeze drying.

2.8 Freeze drying

Frozen samples were removed and immediately placed into the freeze drying chamber (DYNAVAC-FD300 freeze drier, Rowville, Victoria, Australia). Drying cycle continued until all water was removed from the plant tissue. Freeze dried samples were ground with a mechanical coffee blender to a fine powder. Powdered material was stored in air tight containers at room temperature until HPLC analysis. Glucosinolate content was assumed to remain constant in freeze- dried samples held at relative temperature (Jones *et al.* 2007).

2.9 Glucosinolate extraction

Powdered broccoli (0.4 g) was preheated for 10 minutes in near boiling water (90^oC) in 10 mL Oakridge centrifuge tubes. Ten mL of boiling micro filtered deionised water was added and the tubes heated for a further 10 minutes. Samples were centrifuged at 4,000 rpm for 10 minutes. The supernatant was collected and transferred to a 25 mL volumetric flask. The pellet was resuspended using a vortex mixer with 10 mL ultra pure boiling water and re-centrifuged at same speed. The supernatant was combined and the volume adjusted to 25 mL. The extracted supernatants were filtered (PHENEX NY, 0.45 μ m regenerated cellulose) into auto-sampler vials (2 mL AMB)

RAM vials, 9 MM THD) for High Performance Liquid Chromatography (HPLC) analysis (Jones *et al.* 2007).

2.10 HPLC – analyses and UV Detection

Glucosinolates were separated on a C-18 column as described by Jones et al. (2007), modified from West et al. (2002). A binary gradient of 50 mmol/L ammonium acetate in pure water at pH 6.74 (mobile phase A) and 20% methanol in 50 mmol/L ammonium acetate (v/v) (mobile phase B) at a flow rate of 1 mL/min. Gradient was maintained at 0% (mobile phase B), for 10 minutes, then increased to 40% (mobile phase B) over 5 min, maintained at 100% (mobile phase B) for 10 minutes before reequilibrating the column with the 100% (mobile phase A) for 15 min. Column temperature was maintained to 30^oC and column pressure maintained at 11.5 MPa. The column was protected with an appropriate guard column. The injection volume was 20 μ L. Wavelength for detecting glucosinolates (UV detector) in all instances was 230 nm, Glucoiberin (3-methylsulphinyl-propyl), progoitrin (2OH-3-butenyl) glucoraphanin (4-methylsulphinyl butyl), gluconapin (-3butenyl), 4hydroxyglucobrassicin (4OH-3-indolylmethyl) glucobrassicin (Indol 3 ylmethyl), neoglucobrassicin (1-methoxyindol-3-ylmethyl) were measured throughout the experiments. The standards were purchased from C_2 Bioengineering (www.glucosinolates.com), Hovedgaden 12, 2690 Karlslunde, Denmark, verified 25 September 2007. All other chemicals used were analytical grade and mostly purchased from Sigma-Aldrich.

CHAPTER III

3.1 Introduction

Brassica rapa L. ssp. *cinensis* (L.) Hanelt cv. Pak Choi is now produced mainly by Chinese and Vietnamese Australians and partly by traditional brassica growers who wish to diversify. This vegetable is generally known as Chinese cabbage and also by local names bok choy, baak choi or tsing pak choi. This leafy vegetable is grown commercially in all states of Australia (Lee 1995; Moore *et al.* 1998). A number of diseases, including clubroot, cause at least 10% yield loss every year (Anonymous 2009a). Clubroot occurs in most of the major vegetable brassica growing regions of Australia and is probably the most serious disease of these crops world-wide. Infected plants wilt, become stunted and, in severe cases, die. Infection occurs on roots at any stage of growth. Symptoms are not obvious until the final stages of disease development, when knotted swellings on the roots cause plants to be stunted and wilt, particularly in hot-dry weather.

In this later stage of gall development the pathogen causes abnormal tissue proliferation which is the result of an altered metabolism of auxins (Butcher *et al.* 1974 &1976; Kavanagh & Williams 1981). The biosynthesis of auxin in Brassicaceae is believed to be produced via the indole glucosinolate pathway (Mahadevan & Stowe 1972; Ludwig-Müller *et al.* 1993). Glucosinolates are a group of secondary plant metabolites found in all species of Brassicaceae. It is a widely studied class of plant chemical compounds with a large structural diversity. Over 120 glucosinolates have been identified, mainly in species belonging to the Brassicaceae (Fahey *et al.* 2001). Glucosinolates influence important quality and flavour characteristics of the produce,

as well as resistance against non-adapted pathogen and insect pests (Chew, 1988b; Mithen 2001).

Glucosinolate levels in brassicas are also affected by the growing location and conditions (Shelp and Maclellan 1993). The clubroot causing pathogen may alter the levels of different glucosinolate among above ground and belowground organs of brassica crops (Rostas *et al.* 2003; Mithen 1992). Previous studies on glucosinolates in brassica vegetables have indicated environmental, including biotic and abiotic stresses, and cultural factors affecting glucosinolate levels. Therefore, the main objective of this study was to compare the levels of major glucosinolates in field and glasshouse grown brassica crop following symptom development.

The major glucosinolate profiles of root and shoot tissue of *Brassica oleracea* (broccoli) following *P. brassicae* infection in glasshouse condition (see Chapter 4) were monitored. Although the original aim was to compare similar cultivars of Broccoli grown under field and glasshouse conditions. Instead of broccoli a large field of severely clubroot infested Chinese cabbage (*Brassica rapa* ssp. *chinensis* cv. pak choi) was used. Both diseased and healthy plants were collected and root and aerial tissues analysed to establish a comparison between clubroot infested glasshouse and field grown brassica. It is hypothesised that there will be a similar pattern of glucosinolate concentration between brassica vegetables following infection by the clubroot causing obligate pathogen, *Plasmodiophora brassicae* under glasshouse and field conditions.

3.2 Materials and Methods

3.2.1 Plant materials and sample collection:

Five week old *B. rapa* ssp. *chinensis* cv. Pak Choy, commonly named as Chinese cabbage (bok choy or pak choy) were collected from Camden, NSW, Australia in March of 2008. The field was known to be heavily infected with *Plasmodiophora brassicae* for several years. The following groups of plant specimens were collected for this experiment:

- 1. Diseased (clubroot) roots
- 2. Healthy roots
- 3. Leaves and shoot of diseased plant
- 4. Leaves and shoot of healthy plant

Whole plant samples (root + leaf + shoot) were kept in airtight polyethylene bags with moist field soil. After 3 hours plant samples were washed thoroughly dried between filter papers then immediately immersed into the liquid nitrogen and stored at -20° C until freeze drying.

3.2.2 HPLC condition and UV detection

All of the collected pak choy field samples were analysed at the Postharvest Laboratory, Department of Primary Industries, Knoxfield, Victoria. Sample storage, freeze drying and extraction were described in Chapter 2. Field sample analysis was performed on HPLC (GBC, Australia) equipped with an LC5100 UV-VIS diode array detector. Glucosinolates were separated on a C-18 column (250 x 4.6 mm, 5 um;

Alltech Associates) as modified by Jones *et al.* (2007) from West *et al.* (2002). The standards of glucosinolates used were glucoiberin (3 methylsulphinyl- propyl), progoitrin (2 OH butenyl), glucoraphanin (4-methylsulphinyl butyl), gluconapin (3 butenyl), 4 OH glucobrassicin (4 OH 3 indolylmethyl), glucobrassicin (Indol 3 ylmethyl) and neoglucobrassicin (1 methoxyindol 3 ylmethyl). The standards were purchased from C_2 Bioengineering (www.glucosinolates.com), Hovedgaden 12, 2690 Karlslunde, Denmark, verified 25 September 2007. All other chemicals used were analytical grade and mostly purchased from Sigma-Aldrich.

3.2.3 Data analysis

Diseased and healthy plant samples were randomly collected (5 plants for each category of treatment). HPLC results of individual glucosinolates were subjected to an analysis of variance. The limit of significance between differences of treatments was set at P< 0.05 by a two sample t-test using GenStat v 11.2 edition developed by Lawes Agricultural Trust (Rothamsted Experimental Station), UK.



Figure 3.1. Five week old field grown Chinese cabbage (*B. rapa* ssp. *chinensis* cv. Pak Choi) A. Clubroot B. Healthy roots.

Results

3.3: Effect of clubroot on glucosinolate contents in field grown Chinese cabbage (Pak-Choy)

3.3.1 Aliphatic glucosinolate levels in aerial tissues

Five week old cabbage plant exhibited young galls (Figure 3.1). The major aliphatic glucosinolates in the aerial parts of 5 week old field grown clubroot diseased and healthy Chinese cabbage were progoitrin, glucoraphanin and with minor amounts of gluconapin.

Progoitrin levels were 18% lower (P=0.013) in diseased plants compared to healthy plants (Figure 3.2). There were no significant differences in glucoraphanin content between aerial tissues of diseased and healthy. Gluconapin levels were significantly (P=0.03) higher in diseased aerial tissues compared with healthy aerial tissues.

The total concentrations of three aliphatic glucosinolates in cabbage leaves and shoot were significantly (P=0.03) lower in *P. brassicae* infected plants, and infection caused 13% lower aliphatic glucosinolate accumulation compared with healthy plant leaves-shoot parts (Figure 3.2).

3.3.2. Indole glucosinolate levels in aerial tissues

Clubroot disease of field grown Chinese cabbage significantly affected indole glucosinolate contents during young gall forming stage of *Plasmodiophora*. *brassicae* infection.

Glucobrassicin could not be detected in healthy plant leaves, whereas infected plant leaves produced 0.44 μ mole/g DW. The changes in neoglucobrassicin in leaves were increased 5 fold following *P. brassicae* infections.

The total indole glucosinolate contents of clubroot infected aerial tissues were significantly higher (0.74 μ mole/g DW). This was 11 times higher than in healthy plant tissues (Figure 3.3).

3.3.3. Aliphatic glucosinolate levels in roots

The levels of progoitrin in Chinese cabbage root significantly increased during young gall formation. The progoitrin level in diseased root was 6.37 μ mole/g DW, almost 4 times higher than healthy root (1.46 μ mole/g DW).

Glucoraphanin production in roots was very low and infected plant roots contained significantly (P<0.001) higher amount of glucoraphanin (0.86 μ mole/g DW) compared with healthy roots (0.26 μ mole/g DW). Diseased roots contained half the level of gluconapin (P<0.001) of healthy roots.

The total aliphatic glucosinolate content of field grown Chinese cabbage was markedly increased in infected roots (P<0.001), 3 times higher than in healthy roots (Figure 3.4).
3.3.4. Indole glucosinolate levels in root

A remarkable increase in indole glucosinolate content was observed following clubroot disease infestation in roots of field grown pak-choy. *P. brassicae* infection strongly enhanced glucobrassicin accumulation rate in diseased root compared with healthy roots. Approximately 8-fold higher levels of glucobrassicin were detected during young gall formation. Healthy roots accumulated only 0.15 μ mole/g DW. Neoglucobrassicin levels were 0.67 μ mole/g DW in healthy root while diseased root produced significantly (P<0.01) higher amounts of neoglucobrassicin (1.39 μ mole/g DW) (Figure 3.5).

The resulting mean of individual indole, total indole glucosinolate showed significantly higher levels (P<0.001) in infested roots (2.81 μ mole/g DW) than in healthy roots (0.83 μ mole/g DW) (Figure 3.5).

3.3.5. Total aliphatic and indole glucosinolate levels distributed throughout the aerial tissues and root organs

Levels of total glucosinolate (aliphatic and indole) in aerial tissues of healthy plants were significantly (P=0.002) higher than those of diseased aerial tissues. Diseased roots accumulated significantly (P=0.002) higher total glucosinolate levels (aliphatic and indole) (Figure 3.6). This is a clear indication that *P. brassicae* infection at the time of young gall formation alters production of individual and total glucosinolates.



Figure 3.2. Progoitrin, glucoraphanin, gluconapin and total aliphatic glucosinolate in leaves and shoots of 5-week old field grown healthy and diseased (clubroot) Chinese cabbage (pak-choy). Data points represent the mean of four experimental replicates and error bars are the standard errors (\pm SE).



Figure 3.3. Glucobrassicin, neoglucobrassicin and total indole glucosinolate in leaves and shoots of 5-week old field grown healthy and diseased (clubroot) Chinese cabbage (pak-choy). Data points represent the mean of four experimental replicates and error bars are the standard errors (\pm SE).



Figure 3.4. Progoitrin, Glucoraphanin, Gluconapin and total aliphatic glucosinolate in root tissues of 5-week old field grown healthy and diseased (clubroot) Chinese cabbage (pak-choy). Data points represent the mean of four experimental replicates and error bars are the standard errors (\pm SE).



Figure 3.5. Glucobrassicin, neoglucobrassicin and total indole glucosinolate in root tissues of 5-week old field grown healthy and diseased (clubroot) Chinese cabbage (pak-choy). Data points represent the mean of four experimental replicates and error bars are the standard errors (±SE).



Figure 3.6. Total glucosinolates (aliphatic & indole) in leaves and root of 5-week old field grown healthy and diseased (clubroot) Chinese cabbage (pak-choy). Data points represent the mean of four experimental replicates and error bars are the standard errors (±SE).

Discussion

3.4: Effect of clubroot on glucosinolate contents in field grown Chinese cabbage (Pak-Choy)

Individual and total aliphatic glucosinolate levels in aerial and root tissues of 35 day old field grown pak-choy were evaluated using HPLC. Aliphatic (progoitrin, glucoraphanin and gluconapin) and indole glucosinolates (glucobrassicin and neoglucobrassicin) were detected both in healthy and diseased aerial tissues. Total aliphatic glucosinolate level was significantly higher in healthy aerial tissues (28.33 μ mole/g DW) than in diseased aerial tissues. Glucobrassicin was not identified in healthy aerial tissues but was abundant in aerial tissues of diseased plants, contributing to total indole glucosinolate levels that were 12.5 times higher in aerial tissues from diseased compared to healthy plants. Total glucosinolate levels were however dominated by aliphatic glucosinolates, which were 3 – 30 times more abundant in leaf and shoot tissue.

These results indicate that during the characteristic gall formation caused by P. *brassicae* the synthesis of aliphatic glucosinolates, particularly progoitrin, is suppressed (Figure 3.2) in the edible parts of this pak-choy cultivar. However, infection caused enhanced glucobrassicin accumulation in aerial tissues. Glucosinolate accumulation can also be induced by insect herbivory (Birch *et al.* 1990) and fungal infection (Doughty *et al.* 1991). This induction does not lead to similar increases in the content of all glucosinolates in the tissues, but rather to increase of certain compounds during the development of disease (Ludwig-Müller *et al.* 1997, 1999a & 1999b).

There are no available published data on glucosinolate levels in aerial plant parts following P. brassicae infection. Previous investigations relating to clubroot and glucosinolate concentrated on indole glucosinolate and gall development factors. Information has been published on the occurrence of glucosinolates in nonbrassicas, including Tropaeolum majus and Carica papaya, Reseda alba and Beta vulgaris, following P. brassicae infection by Ludwig-Müller et al. (1999b). However, they did not investigate the concentration of either aliphatic or indole glucosinolate levels, rather benzylglucosinolates such as glucotropaeolin, gluconasturtiin and glucomalcomiin. They reported that young leaves of P. brassicae infected plants of T. majus contained more than 150% benzylglucosinolate levels than leaves from uninoculated plants. Benzylglucosinolate levels of C. papaya young leaves following infection were decreased by 29% and old leaves increased by 7% than health leaves. This information demonstrates that P. brassicae infection can interfere directly or indirectly in the biosynthesis pathway of glucosinolate accumulation in aerial tissues.

Aliphatic (progoitrin, glucoraphanin and gluconapin) and indole glucosinolate were detected in the root tissues of field grown pak-choy. Diseased root showed significantly higher levels of aliphatic glucosinolate. Progoitrin production (6.37 μ mole/g DW) is nearly 4 times higher than in healthy root tissues (1.66 μ mole/g DW). Total aliphatic glucosinolate accumulations in diseased root tissues were 3 times higher than in healthy root tissue (Figure 3.4). A similar pattern was observed in indole glucosinolate production following infection. Glucobrassicin increased nearly 8 times and neoglucobrassicin production was more than doubled following *P*. *brassicae* infection at the time of characteristic gall formation. This result suggests the biosynthetic pathway of both aliphatic and indole glucosinolates might be interrupted

due to complicated interactions during clubroot development. Ludwig-Müller *et al.* (1997) demonstrated that roots of the Chinese cabbage variety, Osiris, total indole glucosinolate levels strongly increased during the symptom development stage (28 DAI) compared with the resistant cultivar, Parkin. They also reported that the infected roots of the variety Osiris showed a higher peak of indole glucosinolate levels compared to Parkin due to increasing level of neoglucobrassicin which is similar to our results. Bennett *et al.* (1996) also showed that young leaves of 35 day old Chinese cabbage produced higher neoglucobrassicin (type of indole glucosinolate) following infection.

Ludwig-Müller *et al.* (1997) confirmed that *P. brassicae* infection in susceptible Chinese variety showed increased levels of aliphatic glucosinolate during root hair infection stage and higher indole glucosinolate at the symptom development stage. Aromatic glucosinolate remained unchanged in susceptible varieties (Granat and Osiris) of Chinese cabbage. Aromatic glucosinolate levels were not analysed in our study.

Total glucosinolates (aliphatic and indole) in aerial tissue were significantly higher in healthy plants (32.04 μ mole/g DW) than in diseased plants (29.08 μ mole/g DW). This happened due to production of a higher concentration of aliphatic glucosinolates (range 25.00 to 30.00 μ mole/g DW) compared to indole glucosinolate (range 0.1 to 0.7 μ mole/g DW) in aerial tissues of pak-choy. This could indicate that *P. brassicae* infection is capable of suppressing aliphatic glucosinolate in aerial tissues, however further research should be conducted to confirm this indications. Total glucosinolates (aliphatic and aromatic) in root tissues were significantly higher in diseased plant (10.32 μ mole/g DW) than in healthy plants (3.38 μ mole/g DW).

The most likely explanation for the observed differences in root and shoot patterns is that both organs have a different regulation of glucosinolate biosynthesis and turnover. Transportation of glucosinolates via the phloem over long distance (Chen *et al.* 2001) is not likely to be the main cause. This is supported by the observation that induction of specific indole glucosinolates by aphid feeding occurs in detached leaves as well, precluding a role for transport from the roots (Kim and Jander 2007). Moreover glucosinolate metabolism is highly integrated with plant growth. For example, there is a direct link between indole glucosinolate biosynthesis and the auxin, indole 3 acetic acid (IAA) metabolism, as both derive from tryptophan and share the first dedicated step in their biosynthesis (Grubb and Abel 2006). IAA is a key regulator in plant development in tissue differentiation (De Smel and Jürgens 2007). This also implies that environmental factors, both biotic and abiotic, affect IAA-regulated changes in growth rate or shoot/root ratios and may affect the levels of indole glucosinolates.

Additionally glucosinolate biosynthesis may also be interfering with defence signalling pathways. Hence, the question of what makes the glucosinolate profile different between roots and shoots may be intimately associated with the physiological differences between root and shoot metabolisms in general., Some general patterns have been identified with the current results of glucosinolate levels from field grown samples that may help us to better understand the role of these compounds in natural and controlled growth condition.

CHAPTER IV

4.1: Introduction

The glucosinolate content of Brassica tissues is influenced by genetics and the environment. This can include the external and cell environment (Jones *et al.* 2006). Besides the glucosinolate type varying between Brassica varieties, tissue type and the age of the plant affect glucosinolate levels. The accumulation of glucosinolates can be induced after wounding and pathogen attack (Koritsas *et al.* 1991; Bodnaryk 1992). Glucosinolates and their breakdown products are thought to play a role in disease resistance against insects and fungal pathogens (Glen *et al.* 1990; Mithen 1992).

Plasmodiophora brassicae causes clubroot and is one of the most damaging pathogens of the Brassicaceae family worldwide (Woronin 1878; Ludwig-Müller 1999a & 1999b). The effect of plant pathogens, particularly *P. brassicae*, on glucosinolate concentrations in broccoli is relatively unknown, as is information on the relationship of individual glucosinolates between aerial and root tissues of broccoli following *P. brassicae* infection process. There is some evidence that indole glucosinolate levels increase upon the development of clubroot in *B. campestris* (*renamed: Brassica rapa* L. subsp. *campestris* (L.) A. R. Clapham) and B. oleracea along with an increased synthesis of auxin precursors (Anonymous 2009c; Ludwig-Müller 1999b).

The plant defence activators phosphorous acid and acibenzolar (Bion) have been evaluated for the controlling numbers of plant pathogens. The plant activator acibenzolar (Bion) is a non fungicidal compound used to combat plant pathogens by inducing the host plant's natural defence mechanisms (Tally *et al.* 1999). This

chemical is a functional analogue of salicylic acid (SA), a plant signal shown to accumulate in plants challenged by a pathogen (Friedrich *et al.* 1996).

Phosphorous acid has been shown to have a number of modes of action including being directly fungistatic (Grant *et al.* 1990), and as a plant activator and enhance the of plant defence responses (Guest *et al.* 1988; Afek and Sztejnberg 1989; Grant *et al.* 1990; de Boer *et al.* 1990).

There is no available published information on the effect of potassium phosphonate and Bion against *P. brassicae* invasion or the levels of individual glucosinolates of their distribution among the above and below ground organs either in broccoli or any of the Brassica crops.

In this study, susceptible *Brassica oleracea* ssp. *italica* cv. Marathon (broccoli) was studied in a glasshouse to evaluate the complex interactions between the pathogen attack, application of defence activators and levels of aliphatic and indole glucosinolate compounds distributed in above and below ground tissues.

Based on previous studies in cultivated species, it is hypothesised that phosphonate and Bion application will elicit a glucosinolate response and that these responses are systemic (Guest *et al.* 1988; Ludwig-Müller *et al.* 1997; Bartler *et al.* 1999). Individual classes of glucosinolates respond differently to chemical treatment and to the root damage following pathogen infection.

The aim of this chapter is to study whether phosphonate and Bion applications trigger differential induction of specific classes of glucosinolate and systemic responses throughout the plant. Changes in glucosinolate levels were also compared to the

effects of activators on gall formation, which may indicate the future efficacy of these chemicals to manage clubroot.

4.2: Materials and Methods

4.2.1 Chemicals

Treatments with phosphonate (Agrifos Supa 600, Agrichem Manufacturing Industries, Loganholme, Queensland, Australia) 1 g a.i / L, Bion (500 g/kg a.i. acibenzolar-Smethyl;Syngenta) 25 mg a.i. /L of water and equal combination of phosphonate and Bion were sprayed once 10 days after seed germination. Sprays were applied until runoff (approx. 250 mL solution per tray containing 100 seedlings). Tap water was sprayed at the same time on untreated control plants. Potting mix and glasshouse condition were described in Chapter 2.

4.2.2 Seedling Inoculation Technique

Inoculation Method-3 (IM-3) is the combination of IM-1 (direct spore injection at the base of seedlings) and IM-2 (resting spores of *Plasmodiophora brassicae* amended potting mix) was applied for rapid disease development in this experiment. According to the outcome from preliminary trial of three inoculation techniques, double inoculation method (IM-3) showed significantly faster symptom development (Figure- 4.1, 4.2 and 4.3). So inoculation Method-3 (IM3) was used for these experiments (Figure 4.9 to 4.35), where variation of glucosinolates accumulation following pathogen infection and chemicals treatments was determined. Twelve day old seedlings were transplanted into the potting mix containing 10⁷ spores/mL of slurry mixed 3 days prior to seedling transplantation (IM-2). After transplanting

seedlings, 200 μ L of cleaned resting spore suspension containing 10⁸ resting spores per mL was injected around the rhizosphere of seedlings (IM1).

4.2.3 Treatment Combination

The following eight (8) treatments were used to collect the samples for glucosinolate measurements:

- Potassium Phosphonate (PP) treated seedlings + *Plasmodiophora brassicae* (Pb)
- 2. Bion (Bn) treated seedlings + Pb
- 3. PP + Bn treated seedlings + Pb
- 4. PP treated seedlings + no pathogen
- 5. Bn treated seedlings + no pathogen
- 6. Bn + PP treated seedlings + no pathogen
- 7. Pathogen inoculation (Pb only)
- 8. No chemical treatment and no pathogen inoculation/Healthy plant (HLY)

The design was Randomized Complete Block Design (RCBD) with four replications. Samples were collected at 0, 21 and 42 days after inoculation. To observe sequential disease development and determine glucosinolate variations, samples were also collected at 7, 14, 28 and 35 days intervals from both inoculated and uninoculated plants. Plants in treatment 7 (inoculated) and treatment 8 (uninoculated) are referred as diseased control and healthy control throughout the text.

Sample collection, storage, freeze drying, glucosinolate extraction procedures were described in Chapter 2.

4.2.4 HPLC and UV Detection

Samples were analysed in the Laboratory of Plant Pathology, Faculty of Agriculture, Food and Natural Resources at The University of Sydney during June 2008 to July 2009. Glucosinolate extraction protocols, HPLC condition such as mobile phase, flow rate and temperature are described details in Chapter 2. For this experiment, the HPLC (Dionex Pty Lt, Australia) equipped with PDA100 photo diode array detector. Glucosinolates were separated on a Agilent ZORBAX Eclipse plus C18 column (4.6x250mm; 5um) Agilent technologies, USA. In the beginning, duplicate samples (those were used in Postharvest Lab, Knoxfield DPI, Victoria- see Chapter 2) ran with the standard- sinigrin purchased from Sigma Aldrich, Australia. The differences of retention time of sinigrin between the Knoxfield Lab and Sydney Uni (Plant Pathology Lab) HPLC set up was estimated. The retention times of glucoiberin, progoitrin, glucoraphanin, gluconapin, 4-hydroxy-glucobrassicin, glucobrassicin and neoglucobrassicin were matched with the relative retention time of sinigrin. Due to unavailability of pure standards, the amount of above individual glucosinolate was determined as µmoles/L sinigrin equivalents.

Sinigrin was used as an external standard to calibrate the concentration and peak area to measure the individual glucosinolate concentration equivalent to sinigrin concentration. Four different concentrations (\Box mole) were used e.g. 12.5, 25, 50 and 100 \Box mole. The relationship between concentration of standard (sinigrin) and the peak area was calculated based on the formula Y= ax + b where, 'x' is the concentration of glucosinolate (\Box mole/g dry weight), 'Y' is the peak area and 'r²' is the correlation of the equation and 'a' (slope) = 0.1821 and 'b' intercept = 0.087. The correlation coefficients confirm excellent linear relationships between the concentration of the glucosinolates and their response peak area (Figure 4.1).



Figure 4.1 Calibration curve of sinigrin in chromatography used as external standard

4.2.5 The effect of Bion and Phosphonate on clubroot severity

The following five (5) treatments were used to evaluate gall suppression in broccoli

- Potassium Phosphonate (PP) treated plant + Plasmodiophora brassicae (Pb) inoculation
- 2. Bion (Bn) treated plant + Plasmodiophora brassicae (Pb) inoculation
- 3. Combination of PP and Bn treated plant + Pb inoculation
- 4. Fresh plant (no chemical treatment) + Pb inoculation
- 5. Fresh plant (no chemical and no pathogen)

A total of 10 x 5 x 2 = 100 seedlings from 5 different treatments were assessed for disease severity as well as different growth parameters. Plants were harvested 42 days after inoculation. Pots were arranged in RCBD with 10 replications.

4.2.6 Disease assessment

The effect of chemical applications on disease severity was assessed at the end of the trial (42 days post inoculation). Plants at 42 days post inoculation were assessed visually by washing root galls using a scale of six disease classes (Friberg *et al.* 2006) modified from Buczacki *et al.* (1975) and Wallenhammar *et al.* (2000). The modified disease classes are:

- 0 no symptoms;
- 1 small club formations on lateral roots;
- 2 small club formations on the main root;
- 3 large club formations on the main roots, lateral roots with small or few clubs only:
- 4 large club formations on the main roots and numerous clubs on lateral roots; and
- 5 severe club formations on the main roots leading to partial degradation, lateral roots completely destroyed, plant growth markedly affected.

4.2.7 Statistical Analysis

Data analysis of chemically treated, diseased and healthy control plants were performed with the statistical package GraphPad Prisam 5.2, 2009 (GraphPad Software Inc, San Deigo California, USA). Two way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to determine different treatment factors over time factor. Mean comparisons were also estimated at level 5% of confidence interval (P=0.05) and standard error of mean. Mean separation was also determined for the effect of chemical treatment and pathogen inoculation on specific individual glucosinolates in broccoli according to Bonferroni post test.

Ordinal regression analysis was performed for different chemical application data in suppressing club root disease severity (0 to 5 scales). Growth parameters such as fresh and dry weight of plant leaf-shoot, fresh gall weight were analysed by analysis of variance and using GenStat 11.2 Edition package program, 2009, VSN International Ltd.

4.3 Results: Optimisation of Inoculation Method

Three different inoculation techniques of *Plasmodiophora. brassicae* were tested against susceptible broccoli seedlings under glasshouse condition. Inoculation methods were evaluated to find a fast and effective technique based on the frequency of root hair infection, cortical cell infection and fresh gall weight at different time point after inoculation.

The percent root hair infection of three inoculation techniques was estimated at 4, 8, 12 and 16 days after inoculation. There was no significant difference between inoculation method 1 (spore injection at the base of seedlings) and inoculation method 2 (inoculum slurry amended with potting mix) on the number of root hair infections by primary zoospore of *P. brassicae* at any of the sampling times. Method 3 (combination of IM-1 and IM-2) gave significantly higher (P<0.001) percent of root hair infection compared with method-1 and 2 at any time, post inoculation. Method-3 exhibited 97% root hair infection compared to 77% and 75% of root hair infection by

method-2 and method-1, respectively at 16 days after inoculation. Similar ratios of percent root hair infection were recorded at 4, 8 and 12 days post inoculation (Figure 4.2).

Inoculation methods were evaluated by counting the percent of root cortical cells occupied by multinucleate secondary plasmodia from 12 to 36 days post inoculation. Methods-1 and 2 did not show any significant differences in cortical cell infection between 12 to 24 days post inoculation but Method 1 showed significantly lower (P<0.001) infected cortical cell at 24 and 28 days post inoculation compared to Method 2. Method-3 showed significantly higher (P<0.001) percent of cortical cell infection 12 to 24 days after inoculation compared with both Methods 1 and 2, however Method-3 was significantly different after 28 days compared with Method-2. Method-1 had significantly lower (P<0.001) percent of cortical cell infection at 24 and 28 days compared with Method-3. Method 3 caused 80% cortical cell infection while Method-1 and 2 gave only 3.75% and 8.25% cortical cell infection respectively, however, nearly one hundred percent cortical cells were infected with the multinucleate plasmodia of *P. brassicae* by each inoculation method 36 days after inoculation (Figure 4.3).

Fresh galls were weighed every 4 days between 12 to 36 days following infection. Initially (12 dpi), Method-3 produced gall like symptoms (hypertrophy of hypocotyl root) that weighed only 0.75 g/plant. No galls developed using Methods 1 and 2 until 20 days after inoculation. An average of 1.25 g/plant fresh gall was collected from Method -2 while Method-3 produced 9.00 g/plant fresh gall, which was significantly higher (P<0.001) than Method-2. Fresh gall weight from method 1 and 2 did not show any significant differences until 32 days post inoculation, but a significantly higher (P<0.01) weight of fresh galls was observed in Method 2 at 36 DPI compared to Method 1. Method 3 exhibited higher fresh gall weight at every time point of sampling. At 36 DPI, galls from method 3 were 1.8 and 3.2 times larger than those from Method 2 and Method 1, respectively (Figure 4.4).

Sequential development of primary and secondary infection stages were observed in the plant roots where inoculation method 3 (spore injection and inoculum slurry) was used. Primary plasmodia, differentiated plasmodia (early zoosporangia) and also fully differentiating plasmodia (early zoosporangia) in root hairs were seen under microscope 0 to 7 day after inoculation (Figure 4.5). Secondary plasmodia were first identified at 7 DPI in cortical cell region. A small and big cluster of secondary plasmodia with cell proliferation in cortical cells were observed 10 DPI. Multinucleate secondary plasmodia and destroyed cortical cell walls were also observed 10 DPI (Figure 4.6). At the same time, initial gall initiation was seen under microscope. Visible galls were harvested at 14 DPI. Resting spore formation inside young galls were identified during 21 to 28 dpi and matured resting spores were successfully extracted from 42 day old galls of broccoli, those were used further experiments (Figure 4.6).



Figure 4.2. Effect of inoculation methods on root hair infection by *Plasmodiophora brassicae* of 4 to 16 days after inoculation. Data points represent the mean of four experimental replicates and error bars are the standard errors (±SE).



Figure 4.3. Effect of inoculation methods on cortical cell infection by *Plasmodiophora brassicae* of 4 to 16 days after inoculation. Data points represent the mean of four experimental replicates and error bars are the standard errors (±SE).



Figure 4.4. Effect of inoculation methods on fresh gall weight by *Plasmodiophora brassicae* of 4 to 16 days after inoculation. Data points represent the mean of four experimental replicates and error bars are the standard errors (\pm SE).



Figure 4.5. Sequential development of primary stage of infection in broccoli root hair occurred 0 to 7 days after inoculation A. Primary plasmodium in root hairs B. Differentiating plasmodium (early zoosporangia) in root hairs C. Root hair with secondary plasmodia, fully differentiated zoosporangium D. Empty root hair - Secondary plasmodia (sp) released from the tip of hairs.





Fig 4.6. Sequential development of secondary infection stage in root cortical cell region of broccoli A. Secondary plasmodia (observed at 7 dpi) B. Small cluster of secondary plasmodia C. large cluster of secondary plasmodia occupied cortical cells and cell proliferation starts D. Multinucleate secondary plasmodia and destroyed cortical cell walls.



Figure 4.7 A. Gall initiation at 10 DP seen under light microscope B. Visible gall at 14 DPI C. Resting spore formation from dissecting gall (21 DPI) D. Extracted resting spores from characteristic gall at 42 day after inoculation



Figure 4.8 A. Root of uninoculated control plant at 14 day old plant B. Cortical cell of uninoculated seedling root

4.4 Discussion

In this study, inoculation method 1 injected *P. brassicae* spore suspension into the root zone of 12 days old seedling of broccoli. Inoculation method 2 mixed inoculum slurry with potting mix. Method 1 and 2 did not show any differences in root hair infection. Microscopic observation of infected cortical cells showed method 2 exhibited significantly higher number of cell infection at 24 and 28 days post inoculation than method 1. Method 2 (inoculum slurry) also caused a significant increase in fresh gall weight at 36 DPI. However, Methods 1 and 2 did not show consistent differences in relation to cortical cell infection and fresh gall weight.

Johnston (1968) regarded incorporating diseased tissue into the growth medium as an imprecise method for inoculating cabbage plants with *Plasmodiophora brassicae*. He reported that a spore suspension technique was more precise and for experiments where inoculum must be precisely quantified, similar procedures may be preferable to inoculum consisting of diseases root tissue. The most aggressive method of producing disease is not always preferred i.e. disease control studies, bio-control studies where subtle differences may be present. The presence of mixed pathogens in populations, the inoculum used, the more likely that mixed pathogens will be present. This is important in many studies eg. resistance. However, in this study the soil inoculation with infected root slurry resulted in a better infection rate in cortical tissue and produced clubs weighing significantly more than spore injecting inoculation method. For work intended to maintain or increase stocks of *P. brassicae*, there would seem to be no compelling reason to use a more complicated and more time consuming procedure. Considering, time and labour, infected root slurry is much easier, less time consuming preparing inoculum than extracted spore suspension injection technique.

Inoculation method 3 (IM3) was the combination of Method 1 and 2 applied together into broccoli seedlings. This combined application (double inoculation) of spore suspension and inoculum slurry into the broccoli seedlings resulted strong infection at every sampling observation of root hair, cortical cell infection and fresh gall size. The likely reason for a rapid infection by IM-3 might be due to higher inoculum pressure causing gradual increase of primary and secondary infection rate during 0 to 36 days post inoculation compared with any of single inoculation technique (Method 1 and 2). Method 3 caused consistent infections to root hairs and cortical region and produced clubs weighing significantly more than other two inoculation methods.

The slurry mix ensured that large numbers of resting spores are in close proximity to plant roots. Possibly, combining Method 1 and 2 increased the inoculum pressure in the seedling roots and resulted in more than 80% root hair and 40% cortical cells infected 4 and 12 days post inoculation, respectively, while separately, spore suspension and inoculum slurry gave 10% and 20% root hair and cortical cell infection, respectively. The first young gall appeared following the combined inoculation method (IM3) at 12 dpi whereas first young galls were seen on spore suspension (IM1) and (inoculum slurry (IM2) inoculated plants at 24 and 28 dpi, respectively. Dekhuijzen (1979) reported visible galls of susceptible variety of *B. campestris* var. *rapa* infected with sterile resting spores of *P. brassicae* from senescent callus 14 dpi. He also reported the presence of amoeboid structures within cortical cells of the susceptible variety 10 days after inoculation. The double inoculation technique (IM 3) induced clubroot symptoms earlier than reported by Dehhuijzen (1979). The presence of decaying root tissue used as slurry may enhance

the germination of resting spores (Williams and McNabola 1967; Macfarlane, 1970). Inoculating seedlings with infected root slurry prior to injection of extracted spore was rapid and effective method likely to be useful to researchers maintaining population of the organism in the glasshouse.

Previous studies (Samuel and Garrett 1945; Naiki *et al.* 1978) reported that the age of root hairs might affect root hair infection by *P. brassicae*. It is interesting to note roots hairs on 5 - 6 day old roots were more susceptible to infection by *P. brassicae* than younger or older root hairs (Asano *et al.* 2000). In this study, inoculum slurry was added to potting mix 3 days prior to seedling transplantation thus the early stage of root hairs become exposed to germinated resting spores resulted rapid infection. In the case of spore suspension techniques, spores injected to root zone of 12 days old transplanted seedlings means root hairs were older than used in slurry inoculation method. This explanation is in good agreement with the findings of Samuel and Garrett (1945) and Naiki *et al.* (1978). So far, there is no published report of a double inoculation technique of *P. brassicae*. This technique gives rapid and consistent formation of galls 14 DPI.

4.5: Results: Glasshouse trial on the effect of *Plasmodiophora brassicae* inoculation on glucosinolate levels in aerial and root tissues of broccoli.

4.5.1 Aliphatic glucosinolate production in broccoli root

Inoculated and uninoculated plant roots were assayed using High Performance Liquid Chromatography (HPLC) with Photo Diode Array (PDA) to observe changes of different individual glucosinolate levels during primary (0-7 DPI), secondary (7-14 DPI), symptom development (14-28 DPI) and characteristic gall formation phases (28-42 DPI) of clubroot disease. Aliphatic glucosinolate levels such as glucoiberin, progoitrin, glucoraphanin and gluconapin concentration were determined following infection from 0 to 42 days compared with uninoculated plants. Sequential developmental stages of infection are marked as

- primary stage of infection: 0 to 7 DPI,
- secondary stage of infection: 7 to 42 DPI, of which
 - symptom development stage or initial gall formation stage: 7 to 21 DPI and
 - o characteristic gall formation stage: 21 to 42 DPI.

There were no significant differences in glucoiberin and gluconapin production between inoculated and uninoculated roots during 0 to 21DPI. However, infected roots showed significantly (P<0.001) higher levels of glucoiberin and gluconapin accumulation during the symptom development stage (28 to 35) of clubroot (Fig. 4.9 & 4.12). Glucoraphanin production was similar in infected and healthy roots at any stage of the *P. brassicae* life cycle (Fig.4.11). Progoitrin accumulation in inoculated root showed significantly higher at 14, 28 and 35 dpi compared with uninoculated, healthy plants (Fig. 4.10).

Glucoiberin, progoitrin and gluconapin production significantly increased in inoculated plant roots, which resulted in higher levels of total aliphatic accumulation at 21 to 42 DPI compared with uninoculated plant (Figure 4.13).

4.5.2 Indole glucosinolate production in broccoli root

Changes in individual indole glucosinolate accumulations were observed during symptom development stage of infection to characteristic gall formation (7 to 42 DPI). 4-hydroxy glucobrassicin contents in inoculated plants increased at the secondary infection stage then decreased at symptom development stage and increased again to 42 days post inoculation (Fig. 4.14). Glucobrassicin accumulation rates were continuously higher (P<0.001), except during primary phases of infection (0 to 7 DPI) when it was higher in uninoculated plants (Fig.4.15). During primary infection, neoglucobrassicin in inoculated root significantly (P<0.001) dropped, and then increased significantly (P<0.01) until gall formation, compared with uninoculated roots (Fig. 4.16).

Significantly lower levels of total indoles accumulated following root hair infection, however, with the progression of infection indole accumulation in root organs significantly increased until characteristic gall producing stage (42 DPI). Infected roots showed 2.5 times higher levels of total indole accumulation than uninoculated roots 28 DPI (symptom development stage) of *P. brassicae* infection (Figure 4.17).

P. brassicae inoculation did not cause significant differences in the accumulation of glucoiberin, progoitrin and gluconapin in aerial tissues except at the time of symptom development (21 DPI). During the symptom development phase of clubroot, infection caused a 50% decrease (P<0.05) in glucoiberin accumulation. A similar pattern was observed in progoitrin and gluconapin accumulation in aerial organs compared with healthy plants. Glucoraphanin accumulation was significantly enhanced (P<0.05) following infection and it was nearly 1.5 times higher than in uninoculated plants at the secondary infection time (14 DPI) (Figure 4.18, 4.19 and 4.20 and 4.21).

The resulting total aliphatic content of leaves and shoots of inoculated and uninoculated plants was not significantly different at any time point of clubroot infection (0 to 42 DPI) (Figure 4.22).

4.5.4 Indole glucosinolate levels in aerial tissues

There was a significantly (P<0.001) higher 4-OH glucobrassicin accumulation in shoots from inoculated compared to uninoculated plant, except at the secondary infection phase (14DPI). 4-OH glucobrassicin levels were nearly 80 times higher than in uninoculated tissues 35 DPI. Glucobrassicin production levels were significantly (P<0.001) higher in inoculated plants 7, 14 and 28 DPI. *P. brassicae* infection did not cause significant variations in neoglucobrassicin levels except at the time of symptom development when neoglucobrassicin was not detected in healthy

aerial tissue and was 1.69 μ mole/g DW in infected tissues (Figures 4.23, 4.24 and 4.25).

A sharp increase in total indole glucosinolate levels was observed following infection and significantly higher (P>0.001) levels of total indole glucosinolate were recorded at primary and symptom development phase and gall forming stage (P<0.05) of clubroot (Figure 4.26).



Figure 4.9. Glucoiberin content in *Brassica oleracea* (broccoli) root tissues of *P. brassicae* inoculated (diseased) and uninoculated (healthy) plant (0 to 42 days post inoculation. Data points represent the mean of four experimental replicates and error bars are the standard errors (±SE).



Figure 4.10. Progoitrin content in *Brassica oleracea* (broccoli) root tissues of *P. brassicae* inoculated (diseased) and uninoculated (healthy) plant (0 to 42 days post inoculation. Data points represent the mean of four experimental replicates and error bars are the standard errors (±SE).



Figure 4.11. Glucoraphanin content in *Brassica oleracea* (broccoli) root tissues of *P. brassicae* inoculated (diseased) and uninoculated (healthy) plant (0 to 42 days post inoculation. Data points represent the mean of four experimental replicates and error bars are the standard errors (±SE).



Figure 4.12. Gluconapin content in *Brassica oleracea* (broccoli) root tissues of *P. brassicae* inoculated (diseased) and uninoculated (healthy) plant (0 to 42 days post inoculation. Data points represent the mean of four experimental replicates and error bars are the standard errors (±SE).



Figure 4.13. Total aliphatic glucosinolate content in *Brassica oleracea* (broccoli) root tissues of *P. brassicae* inoculated (diseased) and uninoculated (healthy) plant (0 to 42 days post inoculation. Data points represent the mean of four experimental replicates and error bars are the standard errors (\pm SE).



Figure 4.14. 4 OH glucobrassicin content in *Brassica oleracea*(broccoli) root tissues of *P. brassicae* inoculated (diseased) and uninoculated (healthy) plant (0 to 42 days post inoculation. Data points represent the mean of four experimental replicates and error bars are the standard errors (\pm SE).



Figure 4.15. Glucobrassicin content in *Brassica oleracea* (broccoli) root tissues of *P. brassicae* inoculated (diseased) and uninoculated (healthy) plant (0 to 42 days post inoculatio Data points represent the mean of four experimental replicates and error bars are the standard errors (±SE).



Figure 4.16. Neoglucobrassicin content in *Brassica oleracea* (broccoli) root tissues of *P. brassicae* inoculated (diseased) and uninoculated (healthy) plant (0 to 42 days post inoculation. Data points represent the mean of four experimental replicates and error bars are the standard errors (±SE).



Figure 4.17. Total indole glucosinolate content in *Brassica oleracea* (broccoli) root tissues of *P. brassicae* inoculated (diseased) and uninoculated (healthy) plant (0 to 42 days post inoculation. Data points represent the mean of four experimental replicates and error bars are the standard errors (\pm SE).


Figure 4.18. Glucoiberin content in *Brassica oleracea* (broccoli) aerial tissues (leaves & shoots) of *P. brassicae* inoculated (diseased) and uninoculated (healthy) plant (0 to 42 days post inoculation). Data points represent the mean of four experimental replicates and error bars are the standard errors (±SE).



Figure 4.19. Progoitrin content in *Brassica oleracea* (broccoli) aerial tissues (leaves & shoots) of *P. brassicae* inoculated (diseased) and uninoculated (healthy) plant (0 to 42 days post inoculation) Data points represent the mean of four experimental replicates and error bars are the standard errors (\pm SE).



Figure 4.20. Glucoraphanin content in *Brassica oleracea* (broccoli) aerial tissues (leaves & shoots) of *P. brassicae* inoculated (diseased) and uninoculated (healthy) plant (0 to 42 days post inoculation). Data points represent the mean of four experimental replicates and error bars are the standard errors (\pm SE).



Figure 4.21. Gluconapin content in *Brassica oleracea* (broccoli) aerial tissues (leaves & shoots) of *P. brassicae* inoculated (diseased) and uninoculated (healthy) plant (0 to 42 days post inoculation) Data points represent the mean of four experimental replicates and error bars are the standard errors (±SE).



Figure 4.22. Total aliphatic glucosinolate content in *Brassica oleracea* (broccoli) aerial tissues (leaves & shoots) of *P. brassicae* inoculated (diseased) and uninoculated (healthy) plant (0 to 42 days post inoculation). Data points represent the mean of four experimental replicates and error bars are the standard errors (±SE).



Figure 4.23. 4-hydroxyGlucobrassicien content in *Brassica oleracea* (broccoli) aerial tissues (leaves & shoots) of *P. brassicae* inoculated (diseased) and uninoculated (healthy) plant (0 to 42 days post inoculation) Data points represent the mean of four experimental replicates and error bars are the standard errors (\pm SE).



Figure 4.24. Glucobrassicin content in *Brassica oleracea* (broccoli) aerial tissues (leaves & shoots) of *P. brassicae* inoculated (diseased) and uninoculated (healthy) plant (0 to 42 days post inoculation) Data points represent the mean of four experimental replicates and error bars are the standard errors (\pm SE).



Figure 4.25. Neoglucobrassicin content in *Brassica oleracea* (broccoli) aerial tissues (leaves & shoots) of *P. brassicae* inoculated (diseased) and uninoculated (healthy) plant (0 to 42 days post inoculation) Data points represent the mean of four experimental replicates and error bars are the standard errors (±SE).



Figure 4.26. Total indole glucosinolate content in *Brassica oleracea* (broccoli) aerial tissues (leaves & shoots) of *P. brassicae* inoculated (diseased) and uninoculated (healthy) plant (0 to 42 days post inoculation Data points represent the mean of four experimental replicates and error bars are the standard errors (\pm SE).

4.6 Discussion: Levels of individual and total glucosinolates in roots and aerial tissues of *Plasmodiophora brassicae* inoculated and uninoculated plants

Glucosinolates are believed to play a role in the host pathogen interaction. There is evidence for the association of glucosinolates and their breakdown products in resistance to fungal pathogens and insects (Mithen 1992; Ludwig-Müller 1999a & 1999b; Rangkaddilok *et al.* 2002). In this study, the main objective was to monitor changes in particular glucosinolates and their total levels in a susceptible variety of broccoli (*B. oleracea* ssp. *italica* cv. Marathon) following *Plasmodiophora brassicae* infection.

Glucosinolate levels in both the roots and aerial tissues were strongly influenced, although in different ways, by *P. brassicae* infection. Aliphatic glucosinolates including glucoiberin, progoitrin, glucoraphanin and gluconapin were present in both root and aerial tissues. Individual glucosinolate levels showed different responses to symptom development.

Results from root tissue analysis clearly indicate that during symptom development of clubroot disease, glucoiberin, gluconapin levels increase more than progoitrin. Glucoraphanin is the dominant aliphatic glucosinolate produced by broccoli seedlings. During any of the infection phases there is a limited association with infection and glucoraphanin accumulation. The highest level of glucoraphanin at 28 DPI was 8.95 μ mole/g DW in diseased plants, not significantly different to healthy plant roots. A similar concentration of glucoraphanin in healthy roots was reported in broccoli cv. Marathon by Kushad *et al.* (1999).

Our results showed that *Plasmodiophora brassicae* infection induced nearly 4 times higher total indole glucosinolate (61.22 μ mole/g DW at 28DPI) accumulation than total aliphatic glucosinolate (16.27 μ mole/g DW at 28 DPI). This suggests that during gall formation, indole glucosinolate respond more dramatically than aliphatic glucosinolates.

This study monitored indole glucosinolates including 4-hydroxy glucobrassicin, glucobrassicin and neoglucobrassicin. Glucobrassicin levels have a strong correlation with following the early secondary infection (14 DPI) to characteristic gall forming phase (matured galls) (42 DPI). At every time point glucobrassicin levels were higher in inoculated plants, and the highest levels (41.22 μ mole/g DW) were identified during symptom development phase of clubroot disease.

Butcher *et al.* (1974) proposed that indole glucosinolates are converted by the fungus to indole acidic acid (IAA) during clubroot formation. The outcome of this study is supported by those findings however, that during primary infection glucobrassicin accumulation significantly decreased compared with healthy root. There were also some conflicting results published in this aspect. Mullin *et al.* (1980) were not able to correlate changes in indole content with clubroot formation in susceptible cabbage seedlings.

Neoglucobrassicin levels increased during primary infection, however, diseased plants produced significantly lower concentrations during gall formation. 4-hydroxy

glucosinolates also showed similar patterns during secondary infection. Initially (0-7 DPI), it increased and then decreased during symptom development.

Ultimately, total indole production was significantly higher in inoculated plants throughout the disease development process, except at the primary stage of infection when accumulation was lower in diseased root tissues. These findings are similar to the results shown by Ludwig-Müller (1999a). It has been shown that indole glucosinolate content of cabbage seedlings susceptible to *P. brassicae* increased compared to resistant varieties. The work by Ludwig-Müller (1999a) did not clarify the particular indole glucosinolate levels during the infection process, however the concentration of indole glucosinolates was estimated by analysing whole plants rather than root tissues only.

Infection caused a significant reduction of glucoiberin, gluconapin and progoitrin production during symptom development. However, glucoraphanin was significantly enhanced during the later stage of secondary infection compared with uninoculated plants. Interestingly, total aliphatic accumulation in aerial tissues did not differ significantly at any stage of the infection process. There is insufficient information on the role of aliphatic glucosinolates during development of clubroot, as previous studies focused on indole glucosinolates (Agerbirk *et al.* 2008). However, the aliphatic glucosinolates were enhanced in infected roots of Chinese cabbage (Granat), and Osiris showed a very high content of aliphatic glucosinolates in root tissue during the whole infection period of clubroot (Ludwig-Müller *et al.* 1997). Devos *et al.* (2006) showed myrosinase was upregulated at very early time point of infection

whereas Siemens *et al.* (2006) found evidence of down regulation of myrosinase in *Arabidopsis thaliana* clubroot at later time point of gall formation.

This information indicates that the different types of glucosinolates were affected differently during infection. Our results also showed the unequal distribution of aliphatic and indole glucosinolates between aerial and root tissues following infection. Haughn *et al.* (1991) observed that total aliphatic glucosinolate accumulation in *A. thaliana* during gall formation increased slightly. This information is not directly comparable with current findings, because Haughn *et al.* (1991) used different plant species and analytical methods.

Diseased leaves showed significantly higher levels of particular individual indole glucosinolates, such as 4-hydroxy glucobrassicin, glucobrassicin and also neoglucobrassicin, during most of the infection process. As a result, total indole glucosinolates accumulation significantly increased throughout clubroot development. It is not yet known how leaf indole glucosinolates interact with root infection with *P. brassicae*. The only available information is from the investigation by Rostas *et al.* (2003) who monitored cabbage plants infected with *Alternaria brassicae*. A distinct rise of indole glucosinolates, glucobrassicin, neoglucobrassicin and 4-methoxy-glucobrassicin, was observed.

These results support our current understanding that fungal leaf infection may alter glucosinolate levels and more likely increased individual and total indole glucosinolate in aerial parts. However this investigation shows increased indole glucosinolate levels following infection of root tissues. More investigation is required to gain a better understanding the influence of infection of either leaf or root tissue on glucosinolate accumulation in infected or distant leaf and root tissues.

4.7: Results: The effect of phosphonate and Bion on glucosinolate levels in *P*. *brassicae* inoculated and uninoculated plants

4.7.1 Aliphatic Glucosinolate Production in Broccoli Root Tissue

Glucoiberin production

Combined application of phosphonate and Bion in inoculated plants significantly (P< 0.01) increased levels of glucoiberin in broccoli root organs during gall maturation stage (Figure 4.27).

There was no difference in glucoiberin production between *P. brassicae* infected and healthy control plants at transplantation and mature gall formation phase. During symptom development stage, *P. brassicae* infection caused significantly (P<0.05) higher levels of glucoiberin production than uninoculated plants. Concentrations were 45% higher in uninoculated plants (1.17 \Box mole/gDW) compared to inoculated plants (0.65 \Box mole/gDW) (Figure 4.27).

There was no significant difference in glucoiberin production among the chemical treatments at the time of transplanting. Glucoiberin production in chemically treated inoculated and uninoculated plant gradually decreased over time, varying from 3.5 to 2.75, 2.0 to 2.5 and 0.6 to 1.8 µmole/gDW at 0, 21 and 42 dpi, respectively.

Progoitrin Production

Combined application of phosphonate and Bion to infected plants resulted in a significantly (P < 0.05) higher production of progoitrin at gall maturation stage, which was double that of phosphonate treated inoculated plant (Figure 4.28). There was no significant difference between the levels of progoitrin in *P. brassicae* inoculated and uninoculated plants any stage of the pathogen life cycle.

At transplanting both inoculated and uninoculated plants had not produced progoitrin, whereas phosphonate and Bion treated plants produced progoitrin, and there were no significant differences among the treatments. No progoitrin could be detected in phosphonate treated and untreated plants during the symptom development phase. Phosphonate application to inoculated plants resulted in progoitrin production (0.26 mole/g DW) however, no progoitrin could be detected in phosphonate treated uninoculated plant at the stage of gall maturation (Figure 4.28).

Glucoraphanin production

There was no significant difference in glucoraphanin production in root tissues among the chemical treatments in either inoculated or uninoculated plants at early, mid and later disease development phase, however chemically treated plants contained significantly (P<0.001) a higher (4 times) amount of glucoraphanin than inoculated and non-inoculated plants at seedling transplantation.

P. brassicae infection had no effect on levels of glucoraphanin in roots at any stage of the infection process compared with uninoculated healthy plants.

Glucoraphanin production in chemical treated inoculated and uninoculated plant was enhanced 1.5 fold compared to non-chemical treated plants during symptom development phase.

When phosphonate was applied separately or in combination with Bion to uninoculated plants, glucoraphanin production was significantly reduced (P<0.001) compared with both infected and healthy plants only at 42 DPI (Figure 4.29).

Gluconapin

At any phase of the life cycle, infection with *P. brassicae* did not result in any significant changes on the content of gluconapin in broccoli roots compared with healthy plants. Phosphonate and the combination of phosphonate and Bion treatments resulted in greater gluconapin production during early stages of seedling growth (0 to 14 DPI) both in inoculated and uninoculated plants compared with inoculated and uninoculated control plants. There is no significant difference in gluconapin production among chemical treatments in inoculated and uninoculated however Bion treated uninoculated plant had significantly lower (P<0.01) gluconapin concentrations than both inoculated and uninoculated control plants (Figure 4.30).

Total aliphatic glucosinolate production in root tissues

Combined application of phosphonate and Bion in uninoculated plant significantly (P<0.01) reduced total aliphatic glucosinolate levels than uninoculated control plant (Figure 4.31). There was no difference in total aliphatic glucosinolate levels in the roots of inoculated and uninoculated broccoli plants at any stages of disease cycle. During early stages of seedling growth/transplanting time (0 DPI), phosphonate, Bion and their combination significantly increased production of aliphatic glucosinolates, which was more than 3 fold higher than chemical untreated control plants. There was no significant difference in total aliphatic production in broccoli root among chemical application or diseased or healthy plants during clubroot symptom and characteristic gall formation stages (Figure 4.31).

4-hydroxy glucobrassicin production

There was no significant difference in 4-hydroxy glucobrassicin production in broccoli root between *P. brassicae* infected and healthy plant during transplanting time and symptom development stage of clubroot. There was a significant difference (P<0.01) between the 4-hydroxyglucobrassicin content of uninoculated and inoculated control plants by 42 DPI, in which, concentrations were 42% higher in inoculated control plants (4.05 \Box mol/g DW) compared with healthy control plants (2.85 \Box mol/g DW) (Figure 4.32).

Significantly lower concentrations of 4-hydroxy glucobrassicin accumulated when phosphonate, Bion and their combination were applied to uninoculated plants Phosphonate, Bion and their combined applications in inoculated plants significantly (p<0.001) increased 4-hydroxy glucobrassicin production (Figure 4.32).

Glucobrassicin Production

At the time of transplanting there were no significant differences identified in root glucobrassicin content among the treatments. Glucobrassicin content had increased in all treatments during symptom development stages however, between 21 and 42 days, the content of glucobrassicin in some treatments increased while in others it decreased (Figure 4.33).

Bion and phosphonate application in uninoculated plants significantly (p<0.001) reduced glucobrassicin production, compared to uninoculated control plants during characteristic gall formation stage. Bion and combined application of phosphonate and Bion in inoculated plants significantly reduced glucobrassicin levels (P<0.001)

compared with inoculated and uninoculated controls at 42 DPI. Phosphonate application in uninoculated plant significantly reduced (P<0.01) glucobrassicin levels, while Bion and phosphonate-Bion combined application had no effect and remained unchanged compared to uninoculated control plants (Figure 4.33).

Neoglucobrassicin Production

Neoglucobrassicin content in roots at the time of transplanting was not equal in all treatments. The concentration of neoglucobrassicin due to combined treatment of phosphonate and Bion both in inoculated and uninoculated plants was absent at transplanting time (Figure 4.34).

Phosphonate, Bion or their combined application in inoculated plants suppressed the production of neoglucobrassicin in plant roots during symptom development. However, phosphonate application in uninoculated plants significantly (P<0.05) enhanced neoglucobrassicin accumulation compared to healthy control plants. (Figure 4.34). Phosphonate application to inoculated plants significantly reduced neoglucobrassicin production while Bion and their combined application in inoculated plants had no effect and remained unchanged compared to inoculated control plant during matured gall formation stage. However phosphonate (P<0.001) Bion (P<0.01) and their combined (P<0.05) application in uninoculated plant significantly increased neoglucobrassicin production compared to uninoculated plant during gall formation stage (Figure 4.34).

Total indole glucosinolate production in roots

Total indole glucosinolate production in roots at the time of inoculation was very low in all treatments and there were no significant differences among chemical treated and inoculated control (Figure 4.35).

Level increased by at least 5 times at symptom development and mature gall formation phases of clubroot disease, however, phosphonate and Bion application in inoculated plant significantly (P<0.001) suppressed the level of total indole glucosinolate but their combined treatment did not change total indole glucosinolate content compared to inoculated but untreated control plants.

Phosphonate application in uninoculated plants significantly (P<0.001) increased the accumulation of total indole glucosinolates. Bion or combined application had no effect compared to uninoculated control plant during gall forming stage (Figure 4.35).



Figure 4.27. The effect of phosphonate and Bion on glucoiberin content of *Brassica* oleracea (Broccoli) root tissues following *Plasmodiophora brassicae* infection (0 to 42 days post inoculation). Data points represent the mean of four experimental replicates and error bars are the standard errors (±SE).



Figure 4.28. The effect of phosphonate and Bion on progoitrin content of *Brassica oleracea* (broccoli) root tissues following *Plasmodiophora brassicae* infection (0 to 42 days post inoculation). Data points represent the mean of four experimental replicates and error bars are the standard errors (±SE).



Figure 4.29. The effect of phosphonate and Bion on glucoraphanin content of *Brassica oleracea* (broccoli) root tissues following *Plasmodiophora brassicae* infection (0 to 42 days post inoculation). Data points represent the mean of four experimental replicates and error bars are the standard errors (±SE).



Figure 4.30. The effect of phosphonate and Bion on gluconapin content of *Brassica oleracea* (broccoli) root tissues following *Plasmodiophora brassicae* infection (0 to 42 days post inoculation). Data points represent the mean of four experimental replicates and error bars are the standard errors (±SE).



Figure 4.31. The effect of phosphonate and Bion on total aliphatic glucosinolates content of *Brassica oleracea* (broccoli) root tissues following *Plasmodiophora brassicae* infection (0 to 42 days post inoculation). Data points represent the mean of four experimental replicates and error bars are the standard errors (\pm SE).



Figure 4.32. The effect of phosphonate and Bion on 4-hydroxy glucobrassicin content of *Brassica oleracea* (broccoli) root tissues following *Plasmodiophora brassicae* infection (0 to 42 days post inoculation). Data points represent the mean of four experimental replicates and error bars are the standard errors (±SE).



Figure 4.33. The effect of phosphonate and Bion on glucobrassicin content of *Brassica oleracea* (broccoli) root tissues following *Plasmodiophora brassicae* infection (0 to 42 days post inoculation). Data points represent the mean of four experimental replicates and error bars are the standard errors (\pm SE).



Figure 4.34. The effect of phosphonate and Bion on neoglucobrassicin content of *Brassica oleracea* (broccoli) root tissues following *Plasmodiophora brassicae* infection (0 to 42 days post inoculation). Data points represent the mean of four experimental replicates and error bars are the standard errors (±SE).



Figure 4.35. The effect of phosphonate and Bion on total indole glucosinolate content of *Brassica oleracea* (broccoli) root tissues following *Plasmodiophora brassicae* infection (0 to 42 days post inoculation). Data points represent the mean of four experimental replicates and error bars are the standard errors (±SE).

Glucoiberin production

Plasmodiophora brassicae infection in broccoli seedlings had no significant effect on glucoiberin production in aerial tissue of broccoli during gall formation stage, but infection caused a significant reduction (P<0.001) of glucoiberin production in broccoli aerial tissue compared to healthy control plants during symptom development stage.

Phosphonate, Bion and their combined application in both inoculated and uninoculated plant suppressed glucoiberin production at all stages of disease development except 21 DPI, however chemical application in inoculated plants gave significantly (P<0.001) higher levels of glucoiberin compared to chemical treated uninoculated plants during mature gall formation (Figure 4.36).

Progoitrin production

Plasmodiophora brassicae infection caused a significant reduction (P<0.001) of progoitrin during symptom development stage (21 DPI), which was a two-fold decrease compared to healthy controls. There was no difference in glucoiberin content between infected and healthy plant at later stages of disease development (42 DPI).

Phosphonate, Bion and their combined application in both inoculated and inoculated plants suppressed levels of progoitrin in aerial tissues at early and later stages of disease development however chemical treated inoculated and uninoculated plants gave lower amounts of progoitrin than untreated uninoculated control plants (Figure 4.37).

Glucoraphanin production

The concentration of glucoraphanin did not change in response to infection with *P*. *brassicae* at any stage of disease compared to uninoculated healthy plants. Glucoraphanin production in broccoli leaves and shoots were three times higher in inoculated and uninoculated plants at transplanting time compared to symptom development and gall formation stages.

Throughout disease development, combined application of phosphonate and Bion in both inoculated and uninoculated plants gave lower amounts of glucoraphanin compared to single application of phosphonate and Bion (Figure 4.38).

Gluconapin production

P. brassicae infection had no significant effect on gluconapin production in broccoli aerial parts at the gall formation stage (42 DPI). At symptom development, gluconapin production decreased two-fold in infected plants compared to healthy plants. The amount of gluconapin was higher at the transplant stage than both symptom development and gall formation stages.

Single applications of phosphonate or Bion either in inoculated or uninoculated significantly increased the levels of gluconapin. However their combined application did not enhance the gluconapin accumulation and concentrations of gluconapin remained the same in inoculated and healthy control plant at transplanting time (Figure 4.39).

Total aliphatic glucosinolate

Considering all treatments, contents of total aliphatic glucosinolate were significantly higher (P<0.001) at the time of seedling transplantation compared to later symptom (21 DPI) and gall formation (42 DPI) stages of disease development. There were no significant differences in total aliphatic glucosinolate accumulation in aerial tissues from inoculated plants compared with healthy plants at any stage of the disease cycle. Phosphonate and Bion application in either inoculated or uninoculated plants reduced aliphatic glucosinolates accumulation 1.5 to 2 fold at the symptom and gall producing stage of clubroot disease in broccoli (Figure 4.40). However, combined application of Phosphonate and Bion significantly reduced the total aliphatic glucosinolate content compared with application of phosphonate (P<0.001) and Bion (P<0.01) alone at the time of seedling transplanting (Figure 4.40).

4.7.4 Indole glucosinolate production in broccoli aerial tissues

4-hydroxy glucobrassicin production

Chemical treatment (phosphonate, Bion or their combination) in both inoculated and uninoculated plant completely suppressed the accumulation of 4-hydroxy glucobrassicin during mature gall forming stage of disease development. At the symptom development stage, phosphonate application in uninoculated plants significantly increased (P<0.001) 4-hydroxy glucobrassicin production (1.77 μ mole/g DW) compared to phosphonate treated inoculated plant (0.45 μ mole/gDW). At early stages of disease development, no significant differences were observed among chemical treatments and concentrations varied between 0.25 to 0.45 μ mole/g DW among all treatments including control plants (Figure 4.41).

There was a significant difference (P<0.001) between the content of 4-hydroxy glucobrassicin in *P. brassicae* infected and healthy plants at the mature gall formation stage. Concentrations were nine fold higher in infected plants (2.22 μ mole/gDW) compared with healthy plants (0.25 μ mole/g DW). During the symptom development stage, infection caused seven times higher 4-hydroxyglucosinolate production compared to healthy plants.

Glucobrassicin production

The glucobrassicin content in infected and healthy control plants was not different at both symptom development and gall formation stage. At every stage of the pathogen life cycle, chemical treatment of both inoculated and uninoculated root reduced the levels of glucobrassicin. No significant differences in glucobrassicin concentration were detected among the chemical treatments either in inoculated or uninoculated seedlings during early stage of the pathogen life cycle however, large variations of glucobrassicin production were observed among the chemical treated plants during symptom development and gall forming stages of the pathogen life cycle. Phosphonate and Bion in inoculated plants and Bion in uninoculated plants had no significant differences on levels of glucobrassicin at both symptom and severe gall forming stages, whereas combined application of phosphonate and Bion significantly (P<0.01) reduced glucobrassicin accumulation in leaves and shoots of broccoli seedling at same or later stages of pathogen infection (Figure 4.42).

Neoglucobrassicin production

Neoglucobrassicin production in above ground organs was not detected in chemical treated inoculated and uninoculated plants at 0 DPI and also in Bion treated

inoculated plant at 21 DPI, whereas *P. brassicae* infection significantly (P<0.001) enhanced neoglucobrassicin accumulation (1.65 μ mole/g DW) at symptom development stage (21 DPI). Neoglucobrassicin content was low during initial infection stages (0.3 μ mole/g DW) but increased four-fold in infected plant (2.0 μ mole/g DW) at later stages of infection (42 DPI) which was significantly (P<0.05) lower compared to healthy plants (1.3 μ mole/g DW).

Phosphonate and phosphonate-Bion combined application to inoculated plant significantly (P<0.01) increased neoglucobrassicin levels compared with untreated inoculated plants during matured gall forming stage (42 DPI). Chemically treated uninoculated plant had significantly (P<0.05) less neoglucobrassicin production in above ground organ compared with both non-chemically treated plants during gall formation stages (Figure 4.43).

Total Indole glucosinolate production

Total indole glucosinolate levels in leaves and shoots were significantly higher in untreated *P. brassicae* infected control plants than in healthy plants at both symptom (P<0.05) and mature gall forming stage (P<0.01).

Initially, indole levels were low and gradually increased during the infection process. Chemical activator application in both inoculated and uninoculated plant suppressed the accumulation of total indole in above ground organs compared to non treated diseased and healthy control plants during symptom and gall formation stages of clubroot in broccoli (Figure 4.44).



Figure 4.36. The effect of phosphonate and Bion on glucoiberin content of *Brassica* oleracea aerial tissues following *Plasmodiophora brassicae* infection (0 to 42 days post inoculation). Data points represent the mean of four experimental replicates and error bars are the standard errors (\pm SE).



Figure 4.37. The effect of phosphonate and Bion on progoitrin content of *Brassica oleracea* (broccoli) aerial tissues following *Plasmodiophora brassicae* infection (0 to 42 days post inoculation). Data points represent the mean of four experimental replicates and error bars are the standard errors (±SE).



Figure 4.38. The effect of phosphonate and Bion on glucoraphanin content of *Brassica oleracea* (broccoli) aerial tissues following *Plasmodiophora brassicae* infection (0 to 42 days post inoculation). Data points represent the mean of four experimental replicates and error bars are the standard errors (\pm SE).



Figure 4.39. The effect of phosphonate and Bion on gluconapin content of *Brassica oleracea* (broccoli) aerial tissues following *Plasmodiophora brassicae* infection (0 to 42 days post inoculation). Data points represent the mean of four experimental replicates and error bars are the standard errors (±SE).



Figure 4.40. The effect of phosphonate and Bion on total aliphatic glucosinolate content of *Brassica oleracea* (broccoli) in aerial tissues following *Plasmodiophora brassicae* infection (0 to 42 days post inoculation). Data points represent the mean of four experimental replicates and error bars are the standard errors (\pm SE).



Figure 4.41. The effect of phosphonate and Bion on 4 OH glucobrassicin content of *Brassica oleracea* (broccoli) aerial tissues following *Plasmodiophora brassicae* infection (0 to 42 days post inoculation). Data points represent the mean of four experimental replicates and error bars are the standard errors (±SE).



Figure 4.42. The effect of phosphonate and Bion on glucobrassicin content of *Brassica oleracea* (broccoli) aerial tissues following *Plasmodiophora brassicae* infection (0 to 42 days post inoculation). Data points represent the mean of four experimental replicates and error bars are the standard errors (\pm SE).



Figure 4.43. The effect of phosphonate and Bion on neoglucobrassicin content of *Brassica oleracea* (broccoli) aerial tissues following *Plasmodiophora brassicae* infection (0 to 42 days post inoculation). Data points represent the mean of four experimental replicates and error bars are the standard errors (±SE).



Figure 4.44. The effect of phosphonate and Bion on total indole glucosinolate content of *Brassica oleracea* (broccoli) aerial tissues following *Plasmodiophora brassicae* infection (0 to 42 days post inoculation). Data points represent the mean of four experimental replicates and error bars are the standard errors (±SE).

4.8 Discussion: The effect of phosphonate and Bion on glucosinolate levels following *P. brassicae* inoculated and uninoculated plant

This is the first report analysing glucosinolate levels in Brassica inoculation with *Plasmodiophora brassicae* prior to foliar sprays of phosphonate or Bion. This study provides the first direct evidence that these plant defence chemicals can strongly affect aliphatic and indole glucosinolate levels both in aerial and root tissues during root infection by the obligate clubroot pathogen, *Plasmodiophora brassicae*. This study focused on the analysis of aerial and root tissues at the initial infection (0-7 DPI), clubroot symptom development stage (7-28 DPI) and finally the later stage of this infection process (42 DPI, time of characteristic gall formation).

Results at the final stage of clubroot gall maturation (42 dpi) on variations of glucosinolate levels following the application of phosphonate and Bion are summarized (Table 4.1). Results have been displayed to show the changes glucosinolate levels in treated, uninoculated plants and treated in inoculated plants, compared with non treated uninoculated and inoculated control plants respectively. Significant changes in glucosinolate levels occurred at the stage of characteristic gall formation.

Phosphonate or Bion application has a significant systemic impact on total indole root glucosinolate levels in *B. oleracea* cv. Marathon. No significant changes in root aliphatic glucosinolate levels following single applications of phosphonate or Bion in either pathogen inoculated or uninoculated plants.

Table 4.1. Summary of the variations of individual aliphatic and indole and total aliphatic and indole glucosinolate following *P. brassicae* inoculation and chemical treatment in aerial and root tissue of *B. oleracea* spp italica cv. Marathon (Broccoli) during matured gall formation (42 DPI)

| Treatments | Individual and total aliphatic and indole glucosinolate profile | | | | | | | | |
|------------------|---|-----|-----|-------------------|--------------------|------------|-----|------|-----------------|
| | GB | PN | GR | GN | Aliphatic Total | 4OH GBS | GBS | NGBS | Indole Total |
| Root tissue | Compared with uninoculated, untreated(healthy) plant | | | | | | | | |
| Unino & Ph | ns | nd | *** | ns | ns | ns | ns | *** | *** |
| Unino & Bion | ns | nd | ns | ** | ns | ns | ** | ** 🗍 | ns |
| Unino & Ph+Bn | ns | nd | *** | ns | ** | * | ns | * | ns |
| Inoculated | Compared with inoculated, untreated (diseased) plant | | | | | | | | |
| Ino & Ph | ns | ns | ns | ns | ns | * | *** | * | *** |
| Ino & Bn | ns | ns | ns | ns | ns | ns | *** | ns | *** |
| Ino & Ph+Bn | ** 🗍 | ** | ns | ns | ** | *** | ns | ns | ns |
| Aerial tissue | Compared with uninoculated, untreated(healthy) plant | | | | | | | | |
| Unino & Ph | *** | *** | * | *** nd | *** | ns/n d | ns | ns | ns |
| Unino & Bion | *** | *** | * | *** nd | *** | ns/n d | *** | ns | *** |
| Unino & Ph+Bn | *** | *** | *** | ***□n d | *** | ns/n d | *** | ns | *** |
| Inoculated | Compared with inoculated, untreated (diseased) plant | | | | | | | | |
| Ino & Ph | *** | *** | ns | *** | *** | *** | ns | *** | ns |
| Ino & Bn | *** | *** | ns | *** | *** | *** | ns | ns | ns |
| Ino & Ph+Bn | *** | *** | *** | *** n d | *** | *** | *** | ** | *** |

GB; Glucoiberin, PN; Progoitrin, GR; Glucoraphanin, GN; Gluconapin; 4OHGBS; 4 OH Glucobrassicin, GBS; Glucobrassicin, NGB; Neoglucobrassicin, Ph; potassium phosphonate, Bn; Bion, Nd; Not detected, Ns; not significant at P<0.05, \Box ; Decreased, \Box ; Increased, *; P<0.05, **; P<0.01 and ***; P<0.001.

A single application of phosphonate or Phosphonate + Bion in uninoculated plant significantly decreased the production of glucoraphanin in root tissue while no changes were observed in inoculated plants. A single application of phosphonate or Bion has almost no effect on root total aliphatic glucosinolate levels either in inoculated or uninoculated plants. Interestingly, total aliphatic glucosinolate production was significantly reduced in uninoculated, but then increased in inoculated plants following the combined application of phosphonate and Bion signifying that the aliphatic glucosinolate synthesis pathway shifted following infection. Furthermore, combinations of phosphonate and Bion might regulate accumulation of aliphatic glucosinolate levels in root tissues of broccoli. This indicates that the root pathogen triggers signalling pathways, and may significantly alter food quality by stimulated biosynthesis pathway of particular compounds (van Dam *et al.* 2003).

Phosphonate or Bion application to shoot in inoculated plant significantly (P<0.001) reduced indole levels in root tissues compared to inoculated control plants, whereas phosphonate application in uninoculated plants stimulated accumulation rate of indole levels. The application of Bion to uninoculated plants did not change total indole levels however, glucobrassicin and neoglucobrassicin significantly increased and decreased, respectively. This result indicates that *P. brassicae* infection interacting with single application of phosphonate or Bion suppressed the production of indole glucosinolates in root tissue.

The total indole reduction might be correlated to gall formation. There is evidence that indole glucosinolates are implicated in gall formation. Plants with lower indole production have a lower capacity for indole acidic acid synthesis and turnover of indole glucosinolates (Chong *et al.* 1984; Ludwig-Müller *et al.* 1997). Disease severity score (Figure 4.47) clearly indicates that single applications of phosphonate or Bion significantly reduce gall severity and gall size compared with non-treated inoculated control plants. These results from our observation certainly establish a significant correlation between glucobrassicin reduction and suppression of symptom development. Metabolites of glucobrassicin may be associated with the development of galls (Ockendon and Buczacki 1979; Ludwig-Müller and Cohen 2002).

Ludwig-Müller (1997) showed that after inoculation with P. brassicae, symptoms of clubroot in the Chinese cabbage varieties, Granat and Osiris showed higher glucosinolate levels, especially indole glucosinolates. Ludwig Muller also confirmed through scanning electron microscopy that plasmodia of P. brassicae were confined in the resistant variety (Parkin), demonstrating that indole glucosinolate levels affect the auxin content and may influence symptom development of clubroot disease. The absence of these compounds does not confer resistance to the plant, but rather prevents club development. Evidence from other literature concerning this point is conflicting. Butcher et al. (1976) and Chong et al. (1981 & 1984) found correlations between low indole glucosinolates content of the plants and resistance to clubroot, however Mullin et al. (1980) did not confirm these results. Previous demonstration by Ludwig-Müller et al. (1993) indicated that indole glucosinolates only increased when club formation was observed. Invasion of roots of the susceptible variety Granat in liquid culture did not lead to clubroot symptoms, and the indole glucosinolates content did not increase compared with controls.

The data summarised in Table 4.1 indicate that either individual or total aliphatic glucosinolate production in aerial tissues was significantly (P<0.001) lower following both single and combined applications of phosphonate and Bion in inoculated and uninoculated plants. These results suggest that phosphonate and Bion induce a systematic response resulting in a reduction of aliphatic glucosinolate levels. This also indicates that *P. brassicae* infection did not affect aliphatic glucosinolate accumulation in aerial tissues. Information published by Kiddle *et al.* (1994) and Ludwig-Müller (1997) showed that Bion application in did not increase overall glucosinolate levels in shoots of *B. nigra* and *B. campestris.*

The levels of indole glucosinolates in aerial tissue remained unchanged following phosphonate application in uninoculated and inoculated plants. Phosphonate and Bion combined induced significant (P<0.001) reduction of total indole levels, but a single application of Bion in uninoculated plant significantly reduced total indole levels. Total indole glucosinolates of inoculated plant roots remained unaffected. This suggests both Bion application and pathogen infection influenced the signalling pathway in *B. oleracea*. This also indicates that a decrease or no change in root glucosinolate synthesis would not necessarily decrease levels in shoots as well, because the above ground and below ground aliphatic and indole profiles are regulated independently (Sang *et al.* 1984; Potter *et al.* 1999).

The significant overall correlation due to phosphonate and Bion application particularly in root tissues in *P. brassicae* infected and uninfected plants throughout the experiment (0 to 42 DPI) indicated that metabolites of glucosinolates may be associated with the progression of gall formation. Phosphonate has been shown to

enhance the plant defence responses, including lignification, phytoalexin accumulation and hypersensitive cell death (Guest 1984; Saindrenan *et al.* 1988). In several plant species, jasmonic acid and salicylic acid (plant signalling hormone) have systemic activity (van Dam *et al.* 2001; Rostas *et al.* 2003). Based on the previous knowledge, it was hypothesised that phosphonate and Bion application against clubroot pathogen could play an important role altering defence compound like glucosinolates and may also varying roots and shoot induced responses. Recent demonstration by Van Dam *et al.* (2003) suggested that SA applications reduced root glucosinolates in root treated plants whereas shoot levels remained similar. This indicates that the physiochemical regulation, clarification of signalling pathways of major glucosinolate profiles in root-shoot tissues of brassicas requires further investigation, including the effects of phosphonate and Bion on both root and shoot organs.

Thus decreased (\Box) levels of indole glucosinolates reflect suppression of symptom development by phosphonate or Bion.

The full significance of these findings reported here and the effect of phosphonate and Bion on other pathogens in field and glasshouse condition has yet to be assessed. The results also suggested that current ideas regarding the symptom development and relative importance of indole glucosinolate synthesis pattern (MacDanell *et al.* 1988; Ludwig-Müller *et al.* 1999a & 1999b) needs to be revaluated. In the glasshouse trial, potassium phosphonate, Bion or their combination were sprayed to evaluate their suitability in suppressing clubroot severity. Plants were harvested 42 days post inoculation. Gall size was scored (0 to 5 scale) visually and fresh weight of gall (g) was also compared to determine a suitable management option for clubroot disease of broccoli.

There were significant differences in disease scores of broccoli plants among the chemical treatments 6 weeks post inoculation. Phosphonate application showed significantly lower (P<0.001) disease score (2.5) followed by Bion (3.25), combined treatment (3.50) compared with inoculated control treatment (4.75). There was no significant difference between Bion and phosphonate-Bion combined application in suppressing gall formation however, Bion and combined treatment significantly (P<0.05) reduced gall weight compared with the inoculated control treatment (Figure 4.45 and 4. 46).

The same trend was seen in fresh gall weights among chemical and non-chemical treated control plant. Fresh weights of galls were affected by the chemical treatments. Highest fresh gall weight (56.8 g) was harvested from the non treated plant which had significantly higher (P<0.001) fresh gall weights compared with the rest of the treatments (Figure 4.46). Phosphonate treated plants produced significantly lower fresh gall weight followed by Bion (32.5 g) and the combined treatment (45.8 g) plants. Phosphonate treated plant contained galls at least 3 times smaller than control plants (Figure 4.47).


Figure 4.45. The effect of phosphonate and Bion on clubroot disease severity (gall score) 42 day after inoculation. Least significant differences (LSD): 0.832.



Figure 4.46. The effect of phosphonate and Bion on fresh gall weight following *Plasmodiophora brassicae* harvested at 42 day after inoculation. Least significant differences (LSD): 6.074.



Figure 4.47 The effect of chemicals on clubroot disease severity, A. Untreated uninoculated healthy root B. Untreated inoculated (*P. brassicae*) control root C. Phosphonate & Bion treated root D. Bion treated root E. Phosphonate treated root.

4.10 Discussion

Plants absorb phosphonate through leaves and stems, then show increased defence responses following inoculation (Guest and Bompeix 1990; Grant *et al.* 1990). This may inhibit the formation of infective and reproductive structures. Bion (acibenzolar, 50% a.i. wettable granule formulation) is a non fungicidal compound used to combat plant pathogens by inducing the plant's natural defence mechanisms (Tally *et al.* 1999). This chemical is a functional analogue of salicylic acid shown to accumulate in plants challenged with a pathogen (Friedrich *et al.* 1996). Following accumulation of salicylic acid, plant defence gene(s) are induced (Lawton *et al.* 1996) triggering the production of defence compounds.

In this study chemicals were sprayed on 10 day old seedling leaves 4 days prior to seedling transplanting into the inoculated potting mix. Phosphonate (Agrifos 600) significantly reduced the severity of clubroot of broccoli in glasshouse trials more than Bion or a combination of phosphonate and Bion. Similar results were observed when gall size was measured, indicating that phosphonate is most effective in reducing fresh gall weight compared to other treatments.

Phosphonate is directly toxic to target pathogens but also may protect plants by enhancing the defence response of the treated plant against the invading pathogen (Guest *et al.* 1988; Grant *et al.* 1990; Guest and Bompeix 1990).

A low dose of phosphonate (1g a.i./L of water) was applied because of possible side effects such as leaf burning, and stunting have been documented under phosphate limiting conditions (Carswell *et al.* 1996). Also excessive concentrations can result in

severe phytotoxicity (Pilbeam *et al.* 2000; Hardey *et al.* 2001). Phosphonate treatment reduced gall formation 6 weeks after inoculation, and the average gall score was 2.5 out of 0 to 5 scale, whereas non treated, inoculated control plant had an average gall score of 4.75.

A higher rate of phosphonate application may provide excellent clubroot control however they also may not be economically feasible and may cause phytotoxicity. In this instance, further studies need to be undertaken to optimise the doses and minimise phytotoxicity, both in glasshouse and field trials.

The first report on the efficacy of phosphonate to control clubroot of *B. rapa* var. cinensis, *B. rapa* var. *perkinensis* and *B. oleracea* var. *capitata* in naturally infested muck soils was reported by Abbasi and Lazarovits *at al.* (2006). Their published results support the findings of our glasshouse trial, however they applied phosphonate as a number of soil drenches before and after transplanting. Phosphonate concentration of 0.07 and 0.14% a. i /L. as soil drenching before and after planting significantly reduced clubroot severity under glasshouse condition.

Chapter V. General Discussion

Optimised inoculation procedures for *Plasmodiophora brassicae* on broccoli under greenhouse conditions were developed. Changes in glucosinolate levels in root and shoot organs were demonstrated following natural and artificial infection with *P. brassicae*. Both phosphonate and Bion were shown to alter glucosinolate levels following pathogen infection, and phosphonate was shown to reduce clubroot severity.

Root and aerial tissues from naturally and artificially infected plants were analysed for four aliphatic glucosinolates (glucoiberin, progoitrin, glucoraphanin and gluconapin) and three indole glucosinolates (4-hydroxy glucobrassicin, glucobrassicin and neoglucobrassicin). In aerial tissues, aliphatic glucosinolate levels were unchanged following *P. brassicae* infection. Indole glucosinolate levels were significantly higher in inoculated plants at each sampling time point (7, 14, 21, 28, 35 and 42 DPI) compared to uninoculated plants. Particular glucosinolate levels increased or decreased mostly at symptom development and mature gall forming stages.

In root tissue, aliphatic glucosinolate levels in diseased plants were significantly higher at symptom development phase (28 DPI) while no significant changes were observed between diseased and healthy roots at primary, early secondary infection stage and later mature gall forming stages. Total indole glucosinolate levels declined at the primary stage of infection, but significantly increased during symptom development phase to gall forming stages.

Data from these experiments suggest that aliphatic glucosinolates, both in root and in aerial tissues, are less affected than indole glucosinolates by clubroot infection. Changes

in indole glucosinolate levels following clubroot in relation to clubroot disease development have been reported in previous studies. The concentration and synthesis of auxin and cytokinins are increased in *P. brassicae* infected tissues. While it was demonstrated that the vegetative secondary plasmodia of the pathogen produce cytokinins (Muller and Hilgenberg 1986), the increased amount of IAA might be due to the increased synthesis and turnover of auxin precursors in infected roots (Searle *et al.* 1982; Rausch *et al.* 1983). The break down of indole glucosinolates, which could lead to the release of relatively large amounts of auxin, is responsible for inducing clubroot symptoms (Butcher *et al.* 1974). This implies that levels of indole glucosinolates do not increase in resistant host. This hypothesis is consistent with the evidence shown by Ludwig-Müller *et al.* (1997) that indole glucosinolate increased during development of the clubroot disease in two susceptible varieties, but did not change in two *Plasmodiophora*-resistant Chinese cabbage varieties.

This study aimed to observe the changes of glucosinolate concentration following *P*. *brassicae* infection and foliar spray of potassium phosphonate and Bion. Glucosinolate profiles and suppression of gall formation were monitored. The levels of aliphatic glucosinolate in root tissues increased 2.5 times in treated plants compared to untreated plants 4 days after chemical treatment. Glucosinolate accumulation gradually decreased both in inoculated and uninoculated plants over time. During gall formation chemical treatments of either inoculated or uninoculated plants induced no changes in glucosinolate levels compared to untreated inoculated or inoculated plant. This result indicates aliphatic glucosinolate levels are almost unaffected due to *P. brassicae* infection or chemical treatment.

At final stage of gall formation, the accumulation of indole glucosinolates in Bion and phosphonate treated inoculated plant root were suppressed significantly compared to inoculated plants but treated uninoculated plants showed almost similar levels of indole glucosinolates to uninoculated plants.

There is good evidence that pathogen infection stimulated the accumulation of indole glucosinolates but that chemical application inhibited the growth of the pathogen and ultimately resulted in a suppression of indole production. This finding might be correlated with the results from the clubroot gall score and fresh gall size significantly reduced in phosphonate and Bion treated plants. Previous studies show that gall formation is directly or indirectly correlated with the production of indole glucosinolates. In particular, glucobrassicin may play vital role in gall formation. This was also investigated by Butcher et al. (1974) who found that plants having little or no indole glucosinolates were resistant to clubroot and developed fewer symptoms. In this study, glucobrassicin levels in phosphonate and Bion treated inoculated plant at 42 DPI dropped nearly 200% and 20% compared to untreated inoculated plants respectively. Similar data was recorded for neoglucobrassicin and 4-hydroxy glucobrassicin. Gall development was suppressed by phosphonate and Bion indicating that these chemicals suppress the pathogen growth and development, simultaneously reducing indole glucosinolate accumulation or as in the case of phosphonate as directly inhibitory to the pathogen.

There might be another possibility that the chemical directly interrupted the biosynthesis of indole glucosinolate in plant root. Because phosphonate application in uninoculated plants slightly increases neoglucobrassicin accumulation resulted significant increase of total indole glucosinolate levels (42 DPI) than untreated uninoculated plants. Bion and

combined application of Bion and phosphonate had a dual effect as glucobrassicin level decreased significantly in uninoculated plant and neoglucobrassicin significantly increased compared to untreated uninoculated plant (42 DPI). A similar pattern was observed in combined applications of phosphonate and Bion treated plant. For this reason, the second hypothesis needs to be further investigated as there is no available evidence published elsewhere with such a interaction between Bion or phosphonate, *P. brassicae* infection and glucosinolate profiles in brassica. Abbasi and Lazarovits *et al.* (2006) tested the effect of phosphonate on clubroot formation and found similar effectiveness to this study, but they did not monitor glucosinolate levels following infection.

Chemical application in aerial tissues of inoculated and uninoculated plants, significantly suppressed total aliphatic glucosinolate levels. Phosphonate application in uninoculated plants did not cause any changes in total indole glucosinolates levels, but Bion and combined applications significantly reduced indole production levels compared to untreated uninoculated plants. Phosphonate and Bion application did not cause any change in indole glucosinolate levels in inoculated plants but combined applications significantly reduced indole plants but combined applications significantly reduced levels in inoculated plants but combined applications significantly reduced levels of total indole compared to untreated inoculated plants. These results show a complex pattern of indole glucosinolate accumulation in aerial plant tissues following pathogen infection of roots.

The most plausible physiological explanation for the observed differences in root and shoot patterns is that both organs have a different regulation of glucosinolate biosynthesis and turnover. Transportation of glucosinolates via the phloem over long distances (Chen *et al.* 2001) is not likely to be the main cause. This is supported by the observation that

the induction of specific indole glucosinolates by aphids occurs in leaves as well, producing a role for transport from the roots (Kim and Jander 2007). Progress has been made in identifying transcription factors of glucosinolate biosynthesis (Yan and Chen, 2007). Several of these glucosinolate transcription factors showed organ specific expression patterns (Gigolashvili *et al.* 2007a & 2007b & 2008) However, a more detailed experimentation and analysis of tissue specific regulation of glucosinolates synthesis and turn-over, as well as integration into the general metabolism is needed to elucidate the mechanism of specific gene involvement in specific glucosinolates accumulation rate throughout the biosynthetic and signalling pathway of particular glucosinolate.

This study has demonstrated the effect of clubroot on aliphatic and indole glucosinolates in root and aerial tissues of 35 days field grown brassica (*B. rapa* cv. *cinensis*). Our attempt was to compare glucosinolate profiles of managed and naturally grown clubroot infected brassica crop. Interesting results from both natural and controlled systems were found. This glasshouse trial was good model of field grown samples. In both cases, clubroot disease strongly enhanced indole glucosinolate accumulation both in root and aerial tissues. Only a small dissimilarity was observed in aliphatic glucosinolates. In the glasshouse trial, clubroot infection did not affect total aliphatic glucosinolates in the aerial parts while field grown sample analysis showed 12% reduction of total aliphatic accumulation in clubroot infected aerial tissues. In roots, total aliphatic glucosinolates increased 3 times and similarly, in glasshouse trial, total aliphatic glucosinolates increased 1.5 times during gall development (28 DPI). The evidence of this comparative study suggests that the changes in glucosinolate profiles following *P. brassicae* infection followed a similar trend in field and glasshouse-grown plants of different species.

This study focused on changes in glucosinolate profiles following clubroot infection, rather than defensive roles of particular glucosinolates. Individual glucosinolate levels strongly responded to pathogen infection, particularly the indole glucosinolates. A possible reason for this is the direct or indirect involvement of Indole Acidic Acid (IAA) in gall formation. Myrosinase may preferentially convert indole glucosinolates to their corresponding nitriles and then to IAA (Fenwick *et al.* 1983a) hence, indole glucosinolates can be an alternative pathway of auxin production in brassica. The induction of auxin via indole glucosinolates may be responsible for many of the symptoms in brassica following pathogen attack (Mithen 1992). There are several factors that still need to be investigated before a precise role can be attributed, including changes to TrpOXE (Tryptophan Oxidase Enzyme) activity after infection, the activity of nitrilase and the pH of infected cells, and how this influences the products from myrosinase-catalysed degradation (Ludwig-Müller *et al.* 1999a & 1999b).

One aliphatic glucosinolate, progoitrin (2 hydroxy-3 butenyl) significantly increased both in root and aerial tissues following infection of *P. brassicae*, both in field and glasshouse trial study. It is necessary to investigate if there is any involvement of progoitrin in disease resistance. The toxic activity of hydrolysis products of indole glucosinolates to some pests and pathogens have been reported (Mithen *et al.* 1986). The hydrolysis product of hydroxyl aliphatic glucosinolates like progoitrin had no toxic activity towards *Leptosphaeria maculans* (Mithen *et al.* 1986).

The evidence from suppression of gall formation and fresh gall size after chemical treatment shows that phosphonate is strongly effective and Bion moderately effective against P. brassicae development but combined application was not effective in suppressing gall development. Conflicting patterns of glucosinolate profiles both root and shoot tissues due to combined applications of phosphonate and Bion application were found. This suggests a need to further investigate glucosinolate profiles and clubroot management following combined applications of phosphonate and Bion, both in foliar and root treatment using different doses. Effectiveness of phosphonate might be due to its ability to be absorbed rapidly and translocate within the plant in both the xylem and phloem (Cohen and Coffey 1986). It can persist in plant tissues for extensive periods (Carswell et al. 1996) have protective and curative properties (Wicks et al. 1991; Marks and Smith 1992) and displays a complex mode of action, ranging from direct effects such as activation of host defence responses against a number of plant pathogens (Grant et al. 1990: Guest and Bompeix 1990).

In vitro studies have demonstrated that a range of isothiocyanates, such as sulforaphane derived from glucoraphanin, the most abundant glucosinolate in broccoli, inhibited Phase I enzymes responsible for activation of carcinogens and induces Phase II detoxification enzyme systems, the body's cancer defence mechanisms (Zang *et al.* 1992; Johnson 2000; Talalay and Fahey 2001; Munday and Munday 2004). In our study, glucoraphanin significantly increased in aerial tissues following infection during symptom development time (14 DPI) and also significantly increased in root tissues during gall maturation (28 DPI). This information might be good sign for breeders who are working on breeding for beneficial glucosinolate rich brassica varieties. Considering overall increase of

glucosinolates that occurred in root tissue following infection, researchers may concentrate further on developing glucosinolate rich varieties of root brassica crops such as radish.

In this study of glucosinolate levels in roots and shoots some general patterns have been identified that may help us to understand better the role of different glucosinolates compounds in natural and controlled conditions. The levels and distribution of glucosinolates have been much better defined in relation to clubroot. The relationship between clubroot and aerial tissue glucosinolate profiles and fungicide interaction to root-shoot glucosinolates distribution is mostly unknown. More effort should go into analysing glucosinolate profiles in above ground tissues following root infection and chemical spray both as foliar and root treatments (soil drenching). This would provide insights into possible mechanisms causing the observed diversity in glucosinolate profiles. In addition, it would greatly benefit plant breeders wishing to manipulate glucosinolate composition in respect of health benefits and pest and pathogen specific defence responses.

References

- Abbasi PA, Lazarovits G (2006) Effect of soil application of AG3 phosphonate on the severity of clubroot of bok choy and cabbage caused by *Plasmodiophora* brassica. Plant Disease 90(12), 1517-1522.
- Afek U, Sztejnberg A (1989) Effect of fosetyl-Al and phosphorous acid on scoparone, phytoalexin associated with resistance of citrus to *Phytophthora citrophthora*. *Phytopathology* 79, 736-739.
- Agerbirk N, de Vos M, Kim JH, Jander G (2008) Indole glucosinolate breakdown and its biological effects. *Phytochemistry Review* (2009) 8(1), 101-120.
- Agerbirk, N, Olsen CE, Soerensen H (1998). Initial and final products, nitriles, and ascorbigens produced in myrosinase-catalyzed hydrolysis of indole glucosinolates. *Journal of Agriculture and Food Chemistry* 46, 1563–71.
- Aires A, Rosa Eduardo, Carvalho R (2006) Effect of nitrogen and sulfur fertilization on glucosinolates in the leaves and roots of broccoli sprouts (*Brassica* oleracea var. italica). Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture 86 (10), 1512-1516.
- Ambrosone CB, McCann SE, Freudenheim JL, Marshall JR, Zhang Y, Shields PG (2004) Breast cancer risk in premenopausal women is inversely associated with consumption of broccoli, a source of isothiocyanates, but is not modified by GST genotype. *Journal of Nutrition* 134, 1134–8.
- Anilakumar KR, Khanum F, Bawa AS (2006) Dietary role of glucosinolate derivatives: a review. *Journal of Food Science and Technology*. 43, 8–17.
- Anonymous (2002) Broccoli Sprouts Fight Ulcers and Cancer. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 99(11), 7610-7615.
- Anonymous (2008a) http://www.horticulture.com.au. & http://www.botanyworld.com
- Anonymous (2008b) http://www.horticulture.com.au/news/Horti-Happenings_enewsletter.asp, http://www.ausveg.com.au/statistics.cfm
- Anonymous (2008c) http://www.ausveg.com.au/statistics.cfm www.horticulture.com au.
- Anonymous (2009a) On-farm Test for Clubroot. http://www.dpi.vic.gov.au/DPI/nrenfa.nsf, Matters of vegetable facts, no 35, Vegcheque

Anonymous (2009b) http://www.freshforkids.com.au/veg_pages/broccoli/broccoli.

Anonymous (2009c) http://www.ars-grin.gov/cgi-bin/npgs/html/taxon.pl?7636.

- Asano T, Kageyama K, Hyakumachi M (2000) Germination of surface infected resting spores of *Plasmodiophora brassicae* and their root hair infection in turnip hairy roots. *Mycoscience* 41, 143-9.
- Bartlet E, Kiddle G, Williams I, Wallsgrove RM (1999) Wound-induced increases in the glucosinolate content of oilseed rape and their effect on subsequent herbivory by a crucifer specialist. *Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata* 91(1), 163–167.
- Basten G, Williamson G, Bao Y-P (2000) The induction of UGT1A1 by dietary phytochemicals found in broccoli (poster). *DMW Conference*, St Andrews, Scotland, 9-18 June 2000.
- Becker WF, Von Jagow G, Anke T, Steglich W (1981) Strobilurin A, strobilurin B and Myxothiazol: new inhibitors of the bc₁ segment of the respiratory chain within an E-B-methoxyacrylate system as common structural element. *FEBS letters* 132, 329-333.
- Bennett R, Kiddle G, Hick A, Dawson G, Wallsgrove R (1996) Distribution and activity of microsomal NADPH-dependent monooxygenases and amino acid decarboxylases in cruciferous and non cruciferous plants and their relationship to foliar glucosinolate content. *Plant, Cell and Environment* 19, 801-812.
- Bernardi R, Negri A, Ronchi S, Palmieri S (2000) Isolation of the epithiospecifier protein from oil-rape (*Brassica napus* ssp oleifera) seed and its characterization. *FEBS Letter* 467, 296–98.
- Birch ANE, Griffiths DW, MacFarlane-Smith WH (1990) Change in forage and oilseed rape (*Brassica napus*) root glucosinolates in response to attack by turnip root. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* 51, 309-20.
- Bodnaryk RP (1992) Effects of wounding on glucosinolates in the cotyledons of oilseed rape and mustard. *Phytochemistry* 31, 2671-77.
- Bodnaryk RP (1994) Potent effect of jasmonates on indole glucosinolates in oilseed rape and mustard. *Phytochemistry* 35, 301-5.
- BodnaryK RP, Yoshihara T (1995) Structural-activity relationship of cyclopentanone analogues of jasmonic acid for induced responses of canola seedlings. *Journal of Chemical Ecology* 21, 1735-1743.
- Bones AM, Rossiter JT (1996) The myrosinase-glucosinolate system, its organisation and biochemistry. *Physiologia Plantarum* 97(1), 194–208.
- Booth EJ, Walker KC (1992) The effect of site and foliar sulfur on oilseed rape: comparison of sulfur responsive and non-responsive seasons. *Phyton* 32, 9–13.

- Bouchereau A, Clossais-Besnard N, Bensaoud A, Leport L, Renard M (1996) Water stress effects on rapeseed quality. *European Journal of Agronomy* 5(1-2), 19-30.
- Brabban AD and Edwards C (1995) The effects of glucosinolates and their hydrolysis products on microbial growth. *Journal of Applied Bacteriology* 79, 171– 177.
- Brabban AD, Edwards C (1994) Isolation of glucosinolate degrading microorganisms and their potential for reducing the glucosinolate content of rape-meal. *FEMS Microbiology Letters* 119, 83–88.
- Brandt B, Meyer-Staeckling S, Schmidt H, Agelopoulos K, Buerger H (2006) Mechanisms of *egfr* Gene Transcription Modulation: Relationship to Cancer Risk and Therapy Response. *Clinical Cancer Research* 12, 7252-7260.
- Braselton JP (1995) Current status of the plasmodiophorids. Critical Review in Microbiology 21, 263-275.
- Bringmann G, Kajahn I, Neusüss C, Pelzing M, Laug S, Unger M, Holzgrabe U (2005) Analysis of the glucosinolate pattern of *Arabidopsis thaliana* seeds by capillary zone electrophoresis coupled to electrospray ionization-mass spectrometry. *Electrophoresis* 26(7-8), 1513-22.
- Brodmann D, Schuller A, Ludwig-Müller J, Aeschbacher RA, Wiemken A, Boller T, Wingler A (2002) Induction of trehalase in Arabidopsis plants infected with the trehalose-producing pathogen, *Plasmodiophora brassicae*. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interaction* 15, 693–700.
- Brown PD, Morra MJ (1997) Control of soil-borne plant pests using glucosinolatecontaining plants. Advanced Agronomy 61, 167-231.
- Brown PD, Tokuhisa JG, Reichelt M, Gershenzon J (2003) Variation of glucosinolate accumulation among different organs and developmental stages of *Arabidopsis thaliana. Phytochemistry* 62, 471–81.
- Buczacki ST (1983) Plasmodiophora: an inter-relationship between biological and practical problems. In *Buczacki ST, ed. Zoosporic plant pathogens.* London, UK, Academic Press 161-191.
- Buczaki ST, Toxopeus H, Mattusch P, Johnson TD, Dixon GR, Hobolth LA (1975)
 Study of the physiologic specialization in *Plasmodiophora brassicae*.
 Proposals for attempted rationalization through an international approach.
 Transaction of the British Mycological Society 65, 295-303.
- Burow M, Bergner A, Gershenzon J, Wittstock U (2007) Glucosinolate hydrolysis on Lepidium sativum - identification of the thiocyanate-forming protein. Plant Molecular Biology 63, 49-61.

- Burow M, Zhang ZP, Ober JA, Lambrix VM, Wittstock U, Gershenzon J, Kliebenstein DJ (2008) ESP and ESM1 mediate indol-3-acetonitrile production from indol-3-ylmethyl glucosinolate in Arabidopsis. *Phytochemistry* 69, 663–671.
- Buskov S, Olsen CE, Sorensen H, Sorensen S (2000) Supercritical fluid chromatography as basis for identification and quantitative determination of indol-3-ylmethyl oligomers and ascorbigens. *Journal of Biochemical and Biophysical Methods* 43, 175–95.
- Butcher DN, El-Tigani S, Ingram DS (1974) The role of indole glucosinolates in the club root disease of the cruciferae. *Physiological Plant Pathology* 4, 127–140.
- Butcher DN, Searle LM, Mousdale DMA (1976) The role of glucosinolates in the club root disease of the cruciferae Meded. Fac. Landbouwwet. Rijksaniv. *Gent* 41/2, 525-532.
- Campbell RN, Greathead AS, Myers DF, Deboer GJ (1985) Factors related to control of clubroot of crucifers in the Salinas Valley of California. *Phytopathology* 75, 665–70.
- Canene-Adams K, Campbell JK, Zaripheh S, Jeffery EH, Erdman JW Jr. (2005a) The Tomato as a Functional Food. In: Symposium: Relative Bioactivity of Functional Foods and Related Dietary Supplements. *Journal of Nutrition* (135), 1226–1230.
- Canene-Adams K, Clinton SK, Erdman JW Jr. (2005b) Effects of dietary lycopene, tomato, and broccoli powders on the growth of dunning R3327-H prostatic adenocarcinoma tumors [Abstract]. In: FASEB J; Mar; Bethesda, MD: *Federation of American Society of Experimental Biology* 19, A79.
- Cao T, Srivastava S, Rahman MH, Kav NNV, Hotte N, Deyholos MK, Strelkov SE (2007) Proteome-level changes in the roots of *Brassica napus* as a result of *Plasmodiophora brassicae* infection. *Plant Science* 174, 97–115.
- Carlson DG, Daxenbichler ME, Tookey HL (1987b) Glucosinolates in turnip tops and roots: cultivars grown for greens and/or roots. *Journal of American Society for Horticulture Science* 112, 179–183.
- Carlson DG, Daxenbichler ME, VanEtten CH, Hill CB, Williams PH (1985) Glucosinolates in radish cultivars. *Journal of American Society for Horticulture Science* 110, 634-638.
- Carlson DG, Daxenbichler ME, VanEtten CH, Kwolek WF, Williams PH (1987a) Glucosinolates in crucifer vegetables- broccoli, Brussels sprouts, cauliflower, collards, kale, mustard greens and kohlrabi. *Journal of American Society for Horticulture Science* 112, 173-178.

- Carswell C, Grant BR, Theodorou ME, Haris J, Niere JO, Plaxton WC (1996) The fungicide phosphonate disrupts the phosphate-starvation response in *Brassica nigra* seedlings. *Plant Physiology* 110, 105-110.
- Cartea ME, Velasco P, Obrego'n S, del R1 'o M, Padilla G, de Haro A (2008) Seasonal variation in glucosinolate content in *Brassica oleracea* crops grown in northwestern Spain. *Phytochemistry* 69(2), 403-410.
- Cheah LH, Page BBC, Koolaard JP (1998) Soil-incorporation of fungicides for control of clubroot of vegetable brassicas. (Ed. M. O'Callaghan) In 'Proceedings of the 51st New Zealand plant protection conference', 130– 133, (*The New Zealand Plant Protection Society Inc.* Hamilton).
- Chen J, Abawi GS, Zuckerman BM (2000) Efficacy of Bacillus thuringiensis, Paecilomyces marquandii, and Streptomyces costaricanus with and without organic amendment against Meloidogyne hapla infecting lettuce. Journal of Nematology 32, 70-77.
- Chen SX, Petersen BL, Olsen CE, Schulz A, Halkier BA (2001) Long distance phloem transport of glucosinolate in Arabidopsis. *Plant Physiology* 127, 194-201.
- Chew FS (1988a) Biological Effects of Glucosinolates. In Biologically Active Natural Products: Potential Use in Agriculture; Cutler, HG, Ed. American Chemical Society: Washington, DC, 155-181.
- Chew FS (1988b) Searching for Defensive Chemistry in the Cruciferae or do Glucosinolates always Control Interactions of Cruciferae with their Potential Herbivores and Symbionts? No! In Chemical Mediation of Coevolution, Spencer, K.C. Ed. American Institute of Biological Sciences 81-112.
- Chiang WCK, Pusateri DJ, Leitz REA (1998) Gas chromatography/Mass spectrometry method for the determination of sulforaphane and sulforaphane nitrile in broccoli. *Journal of Agriculture and Food Chemistry* 46(3), 1018-1021.
- Chong C, Chiang MS, Crete R (1981) Thiocyanate ion content in relation to clubroot disease severity in cabbages. *HortScience* 16, 663–664.
- Chong C, Chiang MS, Crete R (1984) Studies in glucosinolates in clubroot resistant selections and susceptible commercial cultivars of cabbages. *Euphytica* 34, 65–73.
- Chong C, Chiang MS, Crete R (1984) Study on glucosinolates in clubroot resistant selections and susceptible commercial cultivars of cabbages. *Euphytica* 34, 65-73.
- Ciska E, Martyniak-Przybyszewska B, Kozlowska H (2000) Content of glucosinolates in cruciferous vegetables grown at the same site for two years under

different climatic conditions. Journal of Agriculture and Food Chemistry 48, 2862–2867

- Cohen JH, Kristal AR, Stanford JL (2000) Fruit and Vegetable Intakes and Prostate Cancer Risk. *Journal of National Cancer Institute* 92, 61-68.
- Cohen Y, Coffey MD (1986) Systemic fungicides and the control of Omycetes. Annual Review of Phytopathology 24, 311-338.
- Cole R (1976) Isothiocyanates, nitriles and thiocyanates as products of autolysis of glucosinolates in Cruciferae. *Phytochemistry* 15, 759–62.
- Colhoun J (1953) A study of the epidemiology of clubroot disease of crucifers. Annals of Applied Biology 40, 263-83.
- Conaway CC, Yang YM, Chung FL (2002) Isothiocyanates as cancer chemopreventive agents: their biological activities and metabolism in rodents and humans. *Current Drug Metabolism* 3, 233–255.
- Danielak and Borkowski (1969) Biologically active compounds in seeds of crucifers Part III. Chromatographical search for glucosinolates, Dissertions *in Pharmacy and Pharmacology* 21, 563-575.
- Daxenbichler ME, Spencer GF, Carlson DG, Rose GB, Brinker AM, Powell RG (1991) Glucosinolate Composition of Seeds from 297 Species of Wild Plants. *Phytochemistry 30*, 2623-2638.
- De Boer RF, Greenhalgh FC, Pegg KG (1990) Phosphorous acid treatments control phytophthora disease. *Australian Bulletin* OEPP/EPPO 20, 193-197.
- De Smel I, Jürgens G (2007) Patterning the axis in plants-auxin in control. Current Opinion in Genetics and Development 17, 337-343.
- Dekhuijzen HM (1976) Microscopical studies on the cortex and medullary rays of Brassica campestris var. rapa infected with Plasmodiophora brassicae. Journal of Phytopathology 87, 171-186.
- Dekhuijzen HM (1979) Electron microscopic studies on the root hairs and cortex of a susceptible and a resistant variety of *Brassica campestris* infected with *Plasmodiophora brassicae*. Netherlands Journal of Plant Pathology 85, 1-17.
- Delaquis PJ, Mazza G (1995) Antimicrobial properties of isothiocyanates in food preservation. *Food Technology* 49, 73–79.
- Dercks W, Creaser LL (1989) Influence of fosetyle-Al. on phytoalexin accumulation in the *Plasmophora viticola*-grape vine interaction, *Physiological and Molecular Plant Pathology* 34, 203-213.

- Devos S, Laukens K, Deckers P, Van Der Straeten D, Beeckman T, Inze D, van Onckelen H, Witters E, Prinsen E (2006) A hormone and proteome approach to picturing the initial metabolic events during *Plasmodiophora brassicae* infection on Arabidopsis. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interaction* 19, 1431–1433.
- Dixon GR (2007) Vegetable Brassicas and Related Crucifers. Wallingford, UK, CABI, 27.
- Dixon GR, Craig MA, Burgess PJ, Thomas JI (1994) A new soil applied fungicide for the control of Plasmodial fungi. *Brighton Crop Protection Conference*, *Pests and Diseases* V2, 541-548.
- Dixon GR, Doodson JK, Beeney BW, Davies H, Jemmett JL, Moxon RH (1972) Studies of resistance in Sweeden seed stocks to clubroot *Plasmodiophora* brassicae. Journal of the National Institute of Agricultural Botany 12, 456–463.
- Dobson RL, Gabrielson RL, Baker AS, Bennett L (1983) Effects of lime particle-size and distribution and fertilizer formulation on clubroot disease caused by *Plasmodiophora brassicae. Plant Disease* 67, 50–2.
- Donald EC, Porter IJ (2004) A sand-solution culture technique used to observe the effect of calcium and pH on root hair and cortical stages of infection by *Plasmodiophora brassicae. Australasian Plant Pathology* 33, 585-589.
- Donald EC, Porter IJ, Lancaster RA (2001) Band incorporation of fluazinam (Shirlan) into soil to control clubroot of vegetable brassica crops. *Australian Journal* of Experimental Agriculture 41, 1223–1226.
- Donald EC, Porter LJ, Faggian R, Lancaster RA (2006) An integrated approach to the control of clubroot in vegetable Brassica crops. *Acta Horticulturae* 706, 283–300.
- Doughty KJ, Kiddle GA, Pye BJ, Wallsgrove RM, Pickett JA (1995) Selective induction of glucosinolates in oilseed rape leaves by methyl jasmonate. *Phytochemistry* 38, 347–50
- Doughty KJ, Porter AJR, Morton AM, Kiddle G, Bock CH, Wallsgrove R (1991) Variation in the glucosinolate content of oilseed rape (*Brassica napus* L.) leaves II. Response to infection by *Alternaria brassicae* (Berk.) Sacc. *Annals of Applied Biology* 118, 469-477.
- Drobinca L, Zemanova M, Nemec P, Antos K, Kristian P, Stullerova A, Knoppova V, Nemen P (1967) Antifungal activity of isothiocyanates and related compounds. Naturally occurring isothiocyanates and their analogues, *Applied Microbiology* 15, 701–709.
- Eberhardt MV, Kobira K, Keck AS, Finley JW, Juvik JA, and Jeffery EH (2005) Correlation analyses of phytochemical composition, chemical, and cellular

measures of antioxidant activity of broccoli (*Brassica oleracea* L. Var. italica). Journal of Agriculture and Food Chemistry 53, 7421-31.

- Eriksson S, Andreasson E, Ekbom B, Graner G, Pontoppidan B, (2002) Complex formation of myrosinase isoenzymes in oilseed rape seeds are dependent on the presence of myrosinase-binding proteins. *Plant Physiology* 129, 1592–99.
- Ettlinger MG, Lundeen AJ (1956) The structures of sinigrin and sinalbin: an enzymatic rearrangement. *Journal of American Chemical Society* 78, 4172–4173.
- Ettlinger MG, Lundeen AJ (1957) First synthesis of a mustard oil glucoside: the enzymatic Lossen rearrangement. *Journal of American Chemical Society* 79, 1764–1765.
- Evans JL, Scholes JD (1995) How does clubroot alter the regulation of carbon metabolism in its host? *Aspect of Applied Biology* 42, 125–132.
- F A O (2006) State of Food Insecurity in the World. *Food and Agricultural Organization*, Rome.
- Fahey JW, Amy T, Zalcmann PT (2002b) The chemical diversity and distribution of glucosinolates and isothiocyanates among plants. *Phytochemistry* 59, (2) 237.
- Fahey JW, Haristoy X, Dolan PM, Kensler TW, Scholtus I (2002a) Sulforaphane inhibits extracellular, intracellular, and antibiotic-resistant strains of Helicobacter pylori and prevents benzo[a]pyrene-induced stomach tumors. Proceedings of the National Academy of Science USA 99, 7610–15.
- Fahey JW, Stephenson KK (1999) Cancer chemoprotective effects of cruciferous vegetables. *HortScience* 34, 4–8.
- Fahey JW, Zalcmann AM, Talalay P (2001) The chemical diversity and distribution of glucosinolates and isothiocyanates among plants. *Phytochemistry* 56, 5– 61.
- Fahey JW, Zhang Y, Talalay P (1997) Broccoli sprouts: An exceptionally rich source of inducers of enzymes that protect against chemical carcinogens.*Proceedings of the National Academy of Science* USA. 94, 10367-10372.
- Farnham M, Wilson W, Stephenson PE, Fahey JW (2004) Genetic and environmental effects on glucosinolate content and chemoprotective potency of broccoli. *Plant Breeding* 123(1), 60-65.
- Faulkner K, Mithen R, Williamson G (1998) Selective increase of the potential anticarcinogen 4-methylsulfphinylbutyl glucosinolate in broccoli. *Carcinogenesis* 19, 605-609.

- Fenwick GR, Eagles J, Self R (1982) The fast atom bombardment mass spectra of glucosinolates and glucosinolate mixtures. Organic Mass Spectrometry 17, 544–546.
- Fenwick GR, Griffiths NM, Heaney RK (1983b) Bitterness in Brussesl sprouts (Brassica oleracea L. var gemmifera). The role of glucosinolates and their breakdown products. Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture 34, 73-80.
- Fenwick GR, Heaney RK, Mullin WJ (1983a) Glucosinolate and their breakdown products in food and food plants. CRC Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition 18, 123-201.
- Fieldsend J, Milford GFJ (1994) Changes in glucosinolates during crop development in single-and double low genotypes of winter oilseed rape (*Brassica napus*): production and distribution in vegetative tissues and developing pods during development and potential role in the recycling of sulphur within the crop. *Annals of Applied Biology* 124, 531–542.
- Finley JW, Davis CD, Feng Y (2000) Selenium from high selenium broccoli protects rats from colon cancer. *Journal of Nutrition* 130, 2384-2389.
- Font R, Río-Celestino M, Cartea E, Haro-Bailón A (2005) Quantification of glucosinolates in leaves of leaf rape (*Brassica napus* ssp. *pabularia*) by near-infrared spectroscopy. *Phytochemistry* 66(2), 175–185.
- Foo HL, Gronning LM, Goodenough L, Bones AM, Danielsen BE (2000) Purification and characterisation of epithiospecifier protein from *Brassica napus*: enzymic intramolecular sulphur addition within alkenyl thiohydroximates derived from alkenyl glucosinolate hydrolysis. *FEBS Letter* 468, 243–46.
- Fouad M, Jabasini M, Kaji N, Terasaka K, Tokeshi M, Mizukami H, Baba Y (2008) Microchip analysis of plant glucosinolates. *Electrophoresis* 29 (11), 2280 – 2287.
- Friedrich I, Lawton K, Ruess W, Masner P, Specker N (1996) A Benzothiadiazole derivative induces systemic aquired resistance in tobacco. *The Plant Journal* 10, 61-70.
- Galan MV, Kishan AA, and Silverman AL (2004) Oral broccoli sprouts for the treatment of *Helicobacter pylori* infection: a preliminary report. *Digestive Disease Science* 49(7-8), 1088-90.
- Galletti S, Bernardi R, Leoni O, Rollin P, Palmieri S (2001) Preparation and biological activity of four epiprogoitrin myrosinase-derived products. Journal of Agriculture and Food Chemistry 49, 471–76.
- Gigolashvili T, Berger B, Mock H-P (2007a) The transcription factor HIGI/MYB51 regulates indolic glucosinolate biosynthesis in *Arabidopsis Thaliana*. *Plant Journal* 50(5), 886-890.

- Gigolashvili T, Engqvist M, Yatusevich R, Müller C, Flügge U-I (2008) AG2/MYB76 and HAG3/MYB29 exert a specific and coordinated control on the regulation of aliphatic glucosinolate biosynthesis in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. New Phytologist 177, 627-642.
- Gigolashvili T, Yatusevich R, Berger B (2007b) The R2R3-MYB Transcription factor HAG1/MYB28 is a regulator of methionine-derived glucosinolate biosynthesis in Arabidopsis Thaliana. Plant Journal 51(2), 247-261.
- Gil V, MacLeod AJ (1980) The effects of pH on glucosinolate degradation by a thioglucoside glucohydrolase preparation. *Phytochemistry* 19, 2547–51.
- Gill CIR, Haldar S, Porter S, Matthews S, Sullivan S, Coulter J, McGlynn H, Rowland I (2004) The Effect of Cruciferous and Leguminous Sprouts on genotoxicity *In vitro* and *In vivo*. *Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers & Prevention*13, 1199–1205.
- Giovannucci E, Rimm EB, Liu Y, Stampfer MJ, Willett WC (2003) A Prospective Study of Cruciferous Vegetables and Prostate Cancer. *Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers & Prevention*12, 1403-1409.
- Glen DM, Jones H, Fieldsend JK (1990) Damage to Oilseed Rape Seedlings by the Field Slug *Deroceras reticulatum* in Relation to Glucosinolate Concentration. *Annals of Applied Biology* 117, 197-207.
- Godwin JR, Anthony VM, Clough JM, Godfrey CRA (1992) ICIA5504: a novel, broad spectrum, systemic ß-methoxy-acrylate fungicide, In 'Proceedings of the Brighton crop production conference' Farnham UK. 422-435. (British Crop Protection Council: Survey, UK).
- Godwin JR, Young JE, Hart CA (1994) ICIA 5504: Effects on development of cereal pathogens, In 'Proceedings of the Brighton crop production conference'259-264. (British Crop Protection Council: Survey, UK).
- Gordon M, Newman J (2005) Plants as a source of anti-cancer agents. Journal of Ethnopharmacology 100 (1-2), 72-79.
- Graham S (1983) Results of case-control studies of diet and cancer in Buffalo, New York. *Cancer Research* 43, 2409-2413.
- Grant BR, Dunstan RH, Griffith JM, Niere JD, Smillie RH (1990) The mechanism of phosphonic acid action in phytophthora. *Australasian Plant Pathology* 19, 15-121.
- Griffiths DW, Birch ANE, Hillman JR (1998) Antinutritional compounds in the Brassicaceae—Analysis, biosynthesis, chemistry and dietary effects. Journal of Horticulture Science and Biotechnology 73, 1–18.
- Griffiths DW, Bradshaw JE, Taylor J, Gemmell DJ (1991) Effect of Cultivar and Harvest Date on the Glucosinolate and S-Methylcysteine Sulphoxide

Content of Swedes (Brassica napus ssp rapifera). Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture 56, 539-549.

- Grsic-Rausch S, Kobelt P, Siemens J, Bischoff M, Ludwig-Müller J (2000) Expression and localization of nitrilase during symptom development of the clubroot disease in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Plant Physiology* 122, 369– 378.
- Grubb CD, Abel S (2006) Glucosinolate metabolisam and its control. *TIPS* 11, 89-100.
- Guest DI, Saindrenan P, Barchietto T, Bompeix G (1988) The phosphonates, antioomycete chemicals with a complex mode of action. Proceedings; 5th international Congress of Plant Pathology, Kyoto, p.333 (Abst).
- Guest DI (1984) Modification of defence response in tobacco and capsicum following treatment with fosetyl-Al. [(aluminium tris(o-ethyl phosphonate)]. *Physiological Plant Pathology* 25, 125-134.
- Guest DI, Bompeix G (1990) The complex mode of action of phosphonates. Australasian Plant Pathology 19, 113-115.
- Halkier BA, Gershenzon J (2006) Biology and biochemistry of glucosinolates. Annual Review of Plant Biology 57, 303–333.
- Hardey GE, St J, Barett S, Shearer BI (2001) The future of phosphite as a fungicide to control the soilborne plant pathogen *Phytopthora cinnamomi* in natural eco system (Abstract). *Plant Pathology* 30, 133-139.
- Harlan JR (1975) Crops & Man. American Society of Agronomy, Madison, 295 p.
- Hartwell JL (1982) Plants Against Cancer: A Survey. Quarterman Publications, Lawrence, MA.
- Hasapis X, MacLeod AJ (1982) Benzylglucosinolate degradation in heat-treated Lepidium sativum seeds and detection of a thiocyanate-forming factor. *Phytochemistry* 21, 09–13.
- Hashem FA, Saleh MM (1999) Antimicrobial components of some cruciferae plants (Diplotaxis harra Forsk. and Erucaria microcarpa Boiss.). Phytotherapy Research 13, 329–332.
- Haughn GW, Davin L, Giblin M, Underhill EW (1991) Biochemical genetics of plant secondary metabolites in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Plant Physiology* 97, 217– 226.
- Heaney RK, Fenwick GR (1993) In: P.G. Waterman, Editor, *Methods in Plant Biochemistry*, Academic Press, London, 531-550.

- Heaney Rk, Spinks Ea, Fenwick Gr, (1988) Improved method for the determination of the total glucosinolate content of rapeseed by determination of enzymically released glucose. *Analyst* 113, 1515-1518.
- Hecht SS (2000) Inhibition of carcinogenesis by isothiocyanates. Drug Metabolism Review32, 395-411.
- Helboe P, Olsen O, Sørensen H (1980) Separation of glucosinolates by high performance liquid chromatography. *Journal of Chromatography* 197, 199–205.

Heywood VH (1978) Flowering Plants of the World. Mayflower Books, New York.

- Hirai M (2006) Genetic analysis of clubroot resistance in Brassica crops. *Breed* Science 56, 223–229.
- Humpherson-Jones FM (1993) Effect of surfactants and fungicides on clubroot (*Plasmodiophora brassicae*) of brassicas. *Annals of Applied Biology* 122, 457-465.
- Ingram DS, Tommerup IC (1972) The life history of *Plasmodiophora brassicae* Woron. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B, *Biological Sciences* 180, 103–12.
- Jackson SJT, Singletary KW (2004) Sulforaphane Inhibits Human MCF-7 Mammary Cancer Cell Mitotic Progression and Tubulin Polymerization. *Journal of Nutrition* 134, 2229-2236.
- Jansen MCJF, Bueno-de-Mesquita HB, Feskens EJM, MT Streppel, FJ Kok, Kromhout D (2004) Quantity and Variety of Fruit and Vegetable Consumption and Cancer Risk. *Nutrition and Cancer* 48(2), 142–148.
- Johns T, Kitts WD, Newsome F, Towers GHN (1982) Antireproductive and other medicinal effects of *Tropaeolum tuberosum*. Journal of Ethnopharmacology 5, 149–161.
- Johnson IT (2000) Brassica vegetable and human health: glucosinolate in the food chain. Acta Horticulturae 539, 39-44.
- Johnston T D (1968) Club root in *Brassica:* a standard inoculation technique and the specification of races. *Plant Pathology 17*, 184-187.
- Jones RB, Imsic M, Franz P, Hale G, Tomkins RB (2007) High nitrogen during growth reduced glucoraphanin and flavonol content in broccoli (*Brassica oleracea* var. italica) heads. *Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture* 47, 1498-1505.

- Josefsson E (1970) Glucosinolate content and amino acid composition of rapeseed (*Brassica napus*) meal as affected by sulphur and nitrogen nutrition. Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture 21, 98-103.
- Karcher A, El Rassi Z (1999) Capillary electrophoresis of glucosinolates and their degradation products. *Electrophoresis* 20 (15-16), 3181 3189.
- Karling JS (1968) The Plasmodiophorales. 2nd rev. ed. Hafner Publishing Co., New York, New York.
- Kavanagh JA, Williams PH (1981) Indole auxins in *Plasmodiophora* infected cabbage roots and hypocotyls. *Transaction of British Mycological Society* 77, 125–129.
- Keil DJ, Walters DR (1988) Vascular Plant Taxonomy. 3rd ed. Kendall/Hunt, Dubuque.
- Kiddle GA, Bennett RN, Botting NP, Davidson NE, Robertson AAB, Wallsgrove R M (2001) High performance liquid-chromatography separation of natural and synthetic desulfoglucosinolates and their chemical validation by spectroscopic, NMR, and CI-MS methods. *Phytochemistry Annals 12*, 226-242.
- Kiddle GA, Doughty KJ, Wallsgrove RM (1994) Salicylic acid-induced accumulation of glucosinolates in oilseed rape (*Brassica napus* L) leaves. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 45, 1343–46.
- Kim J, Jander G (2007) Myzus persicae (green peach aphid) feeding on Arabidopsis induces the formation of a deterrent indole glucosinolate. *Plant Journal* 49, 1008-1019.
- Kjær A, Conti J (1954) Isothiocyanates, VII: a convenient synthesis of erysoline (□methylsulphonylbutyl isothiocyanate). ACTA Chemica Scandinavica 8, 295–298.
- Kobelt P, Siemens J, Sacristán MD (2000) Histological characterization of the incompatible interaction between *Arabidopsis thaliana* and the obligate biotrophic pathogen *Plasmodiophora brassicae*. *Mycological Research* 104, 220-225.
- Kohlmeier L, Su L (1997) Cruciferous vegetable consumption and colorectal cancer risk: meta-analysis of the epidemiological evidence. *FASEB Journal* 11, A369.
- Kojima M, Ogawa K (1971) Studies on the effects of isothiocyanates and their analogues on microorganisms (1) Effects of isothiocyanates on the oxygen uptake of yeasts. *Journal of Fermentation Technology* 49, 740–746.
- Koritsas VM, Lewis JA, Fenwick (1991) Glucosinolate responses of oil seed rape, mustard and kale to mechanical wounding and infestation by cabbage stem

flea bettle (*Psylliosed chrysocephala*). Annals of Applied Biology 118, 209-221.

- Kowalski K, Bochow H (1996) Observations on the behaviour of resting spores of *plasmodiophora brassicae* in the presence of cruciferous and noncruciferous plant roots. *ACTA Horticulturae* (ishs) 407, 419-422.
- Kroymann J, Textor S, Tokuhisa JG, Falk KL, Bartram S, (2001) A gene controlling variation in Arabidopsis glucosinolate composition is part of the methionine chain elongation pathway. *Plant Physiology* 127, 1077–88.
- Kushad MM, Brown AF, Kurlich AC, Juvik JA, Klein BP, Wallig MA, Jeffery EH (1999) Variation of glucosinolates in vegetable crops of *Brassica oleracea*. *Journal of Agriculture and Food Chemistry*. 47, 1548–1571.
- Lambrix V, Reichelt M, Mitchell-Olds T, Kliebenstein DJ, Gershenzon J (2001) The Arabidopsis epithiospecifier protein promotes the hydrolysis of glucosinolates to nitriles and influences *Trichoplusia herbivory*. *The Plant Cell* 13, 93–807.
- Lampe JW, Peterson S (2002) Brassica, Biotransformation and Cancer Risk: Genetic Polymorphisms Alter the Preventive Effects of Cruciferous Vegetables. *Journal of Nutrition* 132, 2991-2994.
- Latxague L, Gardrat C, Coustille JL, Viaud MC, Rollin P (1991) Identification of enzymatic degradation products from synthesized glucobrassicin by gas chromatography-mass spectrometry. *Journal of Chromatography* 586, 166–70.
- Lawton KA, Friedrich I, Hunt M, Weymann K, Delaney T, Kessmann H, Staub T, Ryals J (1996) Benzothiadiadiazole induces disease resistance in Arabidopsis by activation of the systemic acquired resistance signal transduction pathway. *The Plant Journal* 10, 1071-82.
- Lee B (1995) Audit of the Australian Asian vegetables industry. RIRDC Research Paper No. 95/13. Canberra, Rural Industries Research and Development Corporation 97 pp.
- Lin C-M, Kim J, Du W-X, Wei C-I (2000) Bactericidal activity of isothiocyanates against pathogens on fresh produce. *Journal of Food Protection* 63, 25–30.
- Louda S, Mole S (1991) Glucosinolates, chemistry and ecology. In: Rosenthal GA, Berenbaum MR (eds), Herbivores. Their Interactions with Secondary Plant Metabolites, 2nd ed., vol. 1, pp. 123–164. Academic Press, San Diego, CA
- Ludwig-Müller J, Bendel U, Thermann P, Ruppel M, Epstein E, Hilgenberg W (1993) Concentrations of indole-3-acetic acid in plants of tolerant and susceptible varieties of Chinese cabbage infected with *Plasmodiophora brassicae* Woron. *New Phytologist 125*, 763–769.

- Ludwig-Müller J, Cohen JD (2002) Identification and quantification of three active auxins in different tissues of *Tropaeolum majus*. *Physiologia Plantarum* 115, 320–329.
- Ludwig-Müller J, Ihmig S, Bennett R, Kiddle G, Ruppel M, Hilgenberg W (1999b) The host range of *Plasmodiophora brassicae* and its relationship to endogenous glucosinolate content. *New Phytologist* 141, 443–458.
- Ludwig-Müller J, Pieper K, Ruppel M, Cohen JD, Epstein E, Kiddle G, Bennett R (1999a) Indole glucosinolate and auxin biosynthesis in *Arabidopsis thaliana* L. glucosinolate mutants and the development of the clubroot disease. *Planta* 208, 409–419.
- Ludwig-Müller J, Rausch T, Langa S, Hilgenberg W (1990) Plasma membrane bound high pI peroxidase isoenzymes convert tryptophan to indole-3acetaldoxime. *Phytochemistry* 29, 1397–400.
- Ludwig-Müller J, Schubert B, Pieper K, Ihmig S, Hilgenberg W (1997) Glucosinolate content in susceptible and tolerant Chinese cabbage varieties during the development of the clubroot disease. *Phytochemistry* 44, 407–414.
- Macfarlane I (1970) Germination of resting spores of *Plasmodiophora brassicae*. Transaction of British Mycological Society 55, 97–112.
- Machev NP, Schraudolf H (1978) Thiocyanate as predecessor of asparagine in Sinapis alba L. Plant Physiology 4, 26-33.
- MacLeod AJ, Rossiter JT (1985) The occurrence and activity of epithiospecifier protein in some Cruciferae seeds. *Phytochemistry* 24, 1895–98.
- Mahadevan S, Stowe BB (1972) Conversion of 3-indole-acetaldoxime to glucobrassicin and sulfoglucobrassicin by woad (*Isatis tinctorial* L.) In: Carr DJ, Ed. Plant growth substances 1970. Berlin: *Springer verlag*, 117-126.
- Manici LM, Lazzeri L, Palmieri S (1997) *In-vitro* fungitoxic activity of some glucosinolates and their enzyme-derived products toward plant pathogenic fungi. *Journal of Agriculture and Food Chemistry* 45, 2768–2773.
- Mari M, Iori R, Leoni O, Marchi A, (1993). *In vitro* activity of glucosinolate-derived isothiocyanates against Postharvest fruit pathogens. *Annals of Applied. Biology* 123, 155–164.

- Marks GC, Smith W (1992) Metalaxyl and phosphonate as prophylactic and curative agents against stem infection of Leucadendron caused by *Phytophthora cinamomi*. Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture 32, 255-259.
- Mawson R, Heaney RK, Zdunczyk Z, Kozlowska H (2006) Rapeseed mealglucosinolates and their antinutritional effects Part 5. Animal reproduction. *Nahrung* 38(6), 588-98.
- Mayton HS, Olivier C, Vaughn SF, Loria R (1996) Correlation of fungicidal activity of Brassica species with allyl isothiocyanate production in macerated leaf tissue. *Phytopathology* 86, 267–271.
- McDanell DS, Mclean AE, Hanley AB, Heaney RK, Fenwick GR (1988) Chemical and biological properties of indole glucosinolates (glucobrassicins): a review. *Food and Chemical Toxicology* 26, 59-70.
- McGregor DI, Mullin W, Fenwick GR (1983) Analytical Methodology for Determining Glucosinolate Composition and Content. Journal-Association of Official Analytical Chemists 66, 825-849.
- Milhen R (1992) Leaf glucosinolale profiles and their relationship to pest and disease resistance in oilseed rape. *Ettphyticit* 3, 71-83.
- Mitani S, Sugimoto K, Hayashi H, Takii Y, Ohshima T, Matsuo N (2003) Effects of cyazofamid against *Plasmodiophora brassicae* Woronin on Chinese cabbage. *Pest Management Science* 59, 287-293.
- Mithen R (2001) Glucosinolates-biochemistry-genetics and biological activity. *Plant* Growth Regulator 34, 91-103.
- Mithen RF, Dekker M, Verkerk R, Rabot S, Johnson IT (2000) The nutritional significance, biosynthesis and bioavailability of glucosinolates in human foods. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* 80, 967–984.
- Mithen RF, Lewis BG, Fenwick GR (1986) In vitro activity of glucosinolates and their products against *Leptosphaeria maculans*. *Transaction of British Mycological Society* 87, 433-440.
- Moore S, Morgan W, Chew M (1998) Chinese chard. The New Rural Industries. Ed.: K. W. Hyde. Canberra, *Rural Industries Research and Development Corporation*, pp. 172-177.
- Moreno DA, Carvajal M, Lopez-Berengue C, Garcia-Viguera C (2006) Chemical and biological characterisation of nutraceutical compounds of broccoli. Journal of Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Analysis 41, 1508–1522.
- Mühlenberg I, Schuller A, Siemens J, Kobelt P, Ludwig-Müller J (2002) Plasmodiophora brassicae, the causal agent of clubroot disease, may

penetrate plant cell walls via cellulase. *Plant Protection Science* 38, 69–72.

- Muller P, Hilgenberg W (1986) Isomer of zeatin and zeatin riboside in clubroot tissue: evidence for trans-zeatin biosynthesis by *Plasmodiophora brassicae*. *Physiologia Plantarum* 25, 130-134.
- Mullin WJ, Proudfoot KG, Collins MJ (1980) Glucosinolate content and clubroot of rutabaga and turnip. *Canadian Journal of Plant Science* 60, 605–612.
- Munday R, Munday CM (2004) Induction of phase II detoxification enzymes in rats by plant-derived isothiocyanates: comparison of allyl isothiocyanate with sulforaphane and related compounds. *Journal of Agriculture and Food Chemistry* 52, 1867–1871.
- Murakami H, Tsushima S, Kuroyanagi Y, Shishido Y (2002) Reduction of resting spore density of *Plasmodiophora brassicae* and clubroot disease severity by liming. *Soil Science and Plant Nutrition* 48, 685–91.
- Myers DF, Campbell RN (1985) Lime and the control of clubroot of crucifers: effects of pH, calcium, magnesium, and their interactions. *Phytopathology* 75, 670–3.
- Naiki T (1985) Mode of action of fungicides on *Plasmodiophora brassicae*. Kongetsu no Noyaku 29, 33-40.
- Naiki T, Dixon GR (1987) The effects of chemicals on developmental stages of *Plasmodiophora brassicae* (clubroot). *Plant Pathology* 36, 316–327.
- Naiki T, kageyama K, Ikegami H (1978) The relation of spore density of *Plasmodiophora brassicae* Wor. To the root hair infection and clubroot formation in chinege cabbage. Annals of Phytopathological Society of Japan 44, 432-439.
- Nemestothy GN, Guest DI (1990) Stimulation of phenylalanine ammonia lyase activity, ethylene biosynthesis and phytoalexin accumulation in tobacco infected with *Phytophthora nicotianae* var. nicotianae following treatment with fosetyl-Al. *Physiological and Molecular Plant Pathology* 37, 207-219.
- Nicholls JW, Bianco V, Allen D, Porter IJ (1999) Relative Concentration of Isothiocyanates in Water-Soil and the Implications for Soilborne Pathogen Control. 10th International Rapeseed Congress, Canbera, Australia.
- Niwa R, Kumei T, Nomura Y, Yoshida S, Osaki M, Ezawa T (2007) Increase in soil pH due to Ca-rich organic matter application causes suppression of the clubroot disease of crucifers. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* 39, 778–85.

- Niwa RY, Nomura M, Ezawa T (2008) Suppression of clubroot disease under neutral pH caused by inhibition of spore germination of *Plasmodiophora* brassicae in the rhizosphere. *Plant Pathology* 57, 445–452.
- Ockendon JG, Buczacki ST (1979) Indole glucosinolate incidence and clubroot susceptibility of three cruciferous weeds. *Transaction of British Mycological Society* 72, 156–157.
- O'Connell RJ, Bailey JA, Richmond DV (1985) Cytology and physiology of infection of *Phaseolus vulgaris* by *Colletotrichum lindemuthianum*. *Physiological Plant Pathology* 27, 75–98.
- Olsen O, Sørensen H (1981) Recent advances in the analysis of glucosinolates. Journal of American oil chemists' Society 58 (9), 857-865.
- Olsen, O Sørensen H (1979) Isolation of glucosinolates and the identification of o-(□-L -rhamnopyranosyloxy)benzylglucosinolate from Reseda odorata. Phytochemistry 18, 1547–1552.
- Parnaud G, Li P, Cassar G, Rouimi P, Tulliez J, Combaret L, Gamet-Payrastre L (2004) Mechanism of sulforaphane-induced cell cycle arrest and apoptosis in human colon cancer cells. *Nutrition and Cancer* 48(2), 198-206.
- Pegg KG, Whiley AW, Saranah JB, Glass RJ (1985) Control of Phytophthora root rot of avocado with phosphorous acid. Australasian Plant Pathology 14, 25-29.
- Perestera T, Fahey JW, Holtzclaw WD, Abeygunawardana C, Kachinski JL, Talalay P (1996) Comprehensive chromatographic and spectroscopic methods for the separation and identification of intact glucosinolates. *Analytical Biochemistry* 239, 168–179.
- Phillips R, Rix M (1993) "The Random House Book of Vegetables", Random House, NY. USA.
- Piao ZY, Deng YQ, Choi SR, Park YJ, Lim YP (2004) SCAR and CAPS mapping of CRb, a gene conferring resistance to *Plasmodiophora brassicae* in Chinese cabbage (*Brassica rapa* ssp. pekinensis). *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 108, 1458–1465.
- Pilbeam RA, Colquhoun IJ, Shearer B, Hardy GE, St. J (2000) Phosphite concentration, its effect on phytotoxicity symptoms and colonisation by *Phytophthora cinnamomi* in three understorey species of *Eucalyptus marginate* forest. (Abstract). *Plant Pathology* 29, 86-95.
- Porter IJ, Donald EC, Cross SJ (1998) Field evaluation of fluazinam against clubroot (*Plasmodiophora brassicae*) of cruciferous vegetable crops. *Tests of*

Agrochemicals and Cultivars No. 19. Annals of Applied Biology 132 (Supplement), 12–13.

- Potter MJ, Vanstone VA, Davies KA, Kirkegaard JA, Rathjen AJ (1999) Reduced succeptibility of *Brassica napus* to *Pratylenchus neglectus* in plantls with elevated root levels of 2-phenylethyl glucosinolate. *Journal of Nematology* 31, 291-298.
- Rangkadilok N, Tomkins B, Nicolas ME, Premier RR, Bennett RN, Eagling DR, Taylor PW (2002) The effect of post-harvest and packaging treatments on glucoraphanin concentration in broccoli (*Brassica oleracea* var. italica). Journal of Agriculture and Food Chemistry 50, 7386–7391.
- Rask L, Andreasson E, Ekbom B, Eriksson S, Pontoppidan B, Meijer J (2000)
 Myrosinase: gene family evolution and herbivore defense in Brassicaceae.
 Plant Molecular Biology 42, 93–113.
- Rausch T, Butcher DN, Hilgenberg W (1983) Indole-3- mehyglucosinolate biosynthesis and metabolism in clubroot disease plants. *Physiologia Plantarum* 58, 93-100.
- Rocherieux J, Glory P, Giboulot A, Boury S, Barbeyron G, Thomas G, Manzanares-Dauleux MJ (2004) Isolate-specific and broad-spectrum QTLs are involved in the control of clubroot in *Brassica oleracea*. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 108, 1555–1563.
- Rosa E, Heaney RK, Fenwick GR, Portas CAM (1996) Changes in glucosinolate concentrations in Brassica crops (*B. oleracea* and *B. napus*) throughout growing seasons. Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture 71, 237È244.
- Rosa EAS, Heaney RK, Fenwick GR, Portas CAM (1997) Glucosinolates in crop plants. *Horticulture Review* 19, 99–215.
- Rosa EAS, Rodrigues PMF (1999a) The effect of light and temperature on glucosinolate concentration in the leaves and roots of cabbage seedlings. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* 78(2), 208-212.
- Rosa EAS, Rodrigues PMF (1999b) Towards a more sustainable agriculture system: the effect of glucosinolates on the control of soil-borne diseases. *Journal* of Horticulture Science and Biotechnology 74, 667–674.
- Rose P, Armstrong JS, Chua YL, Ong CN, Whiteman M (2005) b-phenylethyl isothiocyanate mediated apoptosis; contribution of Bax and the mitochondrial death pathway. *International Journal of Biochemistry and Cell Biology* 37, 100–119.

- Rostas M, Simon M, Hilker M (2003) Ecological cross-effects of induced plant responses towards herbivores and phytopathogenic fungi. *Basic and Applied Ecology* 4, 43- 62.
- Saindrenan P, Barchietto T, Avelino J, Bompiex G (1988) Host defence responses play a central role in the response of phosphite treated cowpea. *Molecular Plant Pathology* 32, 425-435.
- Saito M, Kubo N, Matsumoto S, Suwabe K, Tsukada M, Hirai M (2006) Fine mapping of the clubroot resistance gene, Crr3, in *Brassica rapa*. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 114, 81–91.
- Samuel G, Garrett SD (1945) The infected root hair count for estimating the activity of *Plasmodiophora brassicae* in the soil. *Annals of Applied Biology* 32, 96-101.
- Sang JP, Minchinton IR, Johnstone PK, Truscott RJW (1984) Glucosinolate profiles in seeds, root and leaf of cabbage, mustard, rape seed, radish and swede. *Canadian Journal of Plant Science* 64, 77-93.
- Sauter H, Ammermann E, Rochl F (1994) Strobilurins from the natural products to a new class of fungicides. In. 'Natural products as a source for new agrochemicals'. (Ed. LG Copping) (*The Royal Society of Chemistry*, London UK).
- Schery RW (1972) Plants for Man. 2nd ed. Prentice Hall, Englewood Cliffs, UK.
- Schnug E (1990) Glucosinolates fundamental, environmental and agricultural aspects. In: Sulfur nutrition and sulfur assimilation in higher plants (Rennenberg, H., C. Brunold, L.J. de Kok and I. Stulen, eds.), pp. 97-106. SPB Academic Publishing, Hague.
- Schnug E, Haneklaus S, Borchers A, Polle A (1995) Relations between sulphur supply and glutathione and ascorbate concentrations in *Brassica napus*. *Zeitschrift für Pflanzenernährung und Bodenkunde*, ODEN ZPBOAL 158, 67-69.
- Schnug E, Haneklaus S, Murphy D (1993) Impact of sulfur fertilization on fertilizer nitrogen efficiency. *Sulphur in Agriculture* 17:8–12.
- Schöne F, Paetzelt H, Lange R, Jahreis G, Lüdke H (994) The effect of thioglycosidecontaining feed on the growth, thyroid hormone and thiocyanate status of swine and poultry *erliner und Münchener tierärztliche ochenschrift* 07(12), 418-21.
- Searle LM, Chamberlain K, Rausch T, Butcher DN (1982) The conversion of 3indolemethylglucosinolate to 3-indolyl acetonitrile by myrosinase and its relevance to the clubroot disease of cruciferae. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 33, 935-942.

- Sesso HD, Gaziano JM, Liu S, Buring JE (2003) Flavonoid intake and the risk of cardiovascular disease in women. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 77, 1400-8.
- Sexton AC, Kirkegaard JA, Howlett BJ (1999) Glucosinolates in *Brassica juncea* and resistance to Australian isolates of *Leptosphaeria maculans*, the blackleg fungus. *Australasian Plant Pathology* 28(2) 95 102.
- Shapiro TA, Fahey JW, Wade KL, Stephenson KK, Talalay P (1998) Human metabolism and excretion of cancer chemoprotective glucosinolates and isothiocyanates of cruciferous vegetables. *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers Prevention* 7, 1091–1100.
- Shelp BJ, Liu L, Maclellan D (1993) Glucosinolate composition of broccoli (*Brassica* oleracea var. italica) grown under various boron treatments at three ontario sites. Canadian Journal of Plant Science 73, 885-888.
- Siemens J, Keller I, Sarx J, Kunz S, Schuller A, Nagel W, Schmülling T, Parniske M, Ludwig-Müller J (2006) Transcriptome analysis of Arabidopsis clubroots indicate a key role for cytokinins in disease development. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interaction* 19, 480–494.
- Singh SV, Srivastava SK, Choi S, Lew KL, Antosiewicz J, Xiao D (2005) Sulforaphane-induced cell death in human prostate cancer cells is initiated by reactive oxygen species. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 280(20), 19911-19924.
- Snogerup S (1980) The Wild Forms of the *Brassica oleracea* Group and Their
 Possible Relations to the Cultivated Ones. pp. 121-132. In C. Gomez-Campo, K. Hinata & S. Tsunoda (eds.), Brassica Crops and Wild Allies:
 Biology and Breeding. Japan Scientific Societies Press, Tokyo.
- Suido HA, Takeuchi T, Tanaka T (2003) Serum cholesterol-lowering effects of a broccoli and cabbage mixture in rats, *Proceedings of the XIIIth International Sympocium on Athrosclerosis*, Kyoto, Japan, September 28– October 2, p. 238
- Suzuki K, Matsumiya E, Ueno Y, Mizutani J (1992) Some properties of germinationstimulating factor from plants for resting spores of *Plasmodiophora* brassicae. Annals of Phytopathological Society of Japan 58, 699-705.
- Suzuki K, Sugimoto K, Hayashi H and Komyoji T (1995) Biological mode of action of fluazinam, a new fungicide, for Chinese cabbage clubroot. Annals of Phytopathological Society of Japan 61: 395–398.
- Talalay P, Fahey JW (2001) Phytochemicals from cruciferous plants protect against cancer by modulating carcinogen metabolism. *Journal of Nutrition* 131, 3027–3033.

- Tally A, Oostendrop M, Lawton K, Staub T, Bassi B (1999) Commercial development of elicitors of induced resistance to pathogens. In 'Induced plant defences against pathogens and herbivores' pp357-369. (Eds A Agawal, Sadik Tuzun E. Bent).
- Tanaka S, Kochi S-i. Kunita H, Ito S-I, Kameya-Iwaki M (1999) Biological Mode of Action of the Fungicide, Flusulfamide, against *Plasmodiophora brassicae* (clubroot). *European Journal of Plant Pathology* 105 (6), 577-584(8).
- Tang L, Zhang Y (2004) Dietary Isothiocyanates Inhibit the Growth of Human Bladder Carcinoma Cells. *Journal of Nutrition* 134, 2004-2010.
- Tawfiq N, Wanigatunga S, Heaney RK, Musk SRR, Williamson G, Fenwick GR (1994) Induction of the anti-carcinogenic enzyme quinine reductase by food extracts using murine hepatoma cells. *European Journal of Cancer Prevention* 3, 285–292.
- Terrell EE (1977). A Checklist of Names for 3,000 Vascular Plants of Economic Importance. U.S. Department of Agriculture Handbook No. 505, 21-22.
- Thies W (1976) Quantitative gas liquid chromatography of glucosinolates on a niicroliter scale. Fette Seifen, Anstrichin 78, 231-234.
- Tian Q, Schwartz SJ, Rosselot RA (2005) Quantitative determination of intact glucosinolates in broccoli, broccoli sprouts, Brussels sprouts, and cauliflower by high-performance liquid chromatography–electrospray ionization–tandem mass spectrometry. Annals of Biochemistry 343(1), 93-9.
- Tookey HL (1973) Crambe thioglucoside glucohydrolase (EC 3.2.3.1): separation of a protein required for epithiobutane formation. *Canadian Journal of Biochemistry* 51, 54–60.
- Toxopeus H and Janssen AMP (1975) Clubroot resistance in turnip II. The 'slurry' screening method and clubroot races in the Netherlands. *Euphytica* 24, 51-755.
- Traka M, Mithen R (2009) Glucosinolates, isothiocyanates and human health. *Phytochemistry Review* 8, 269–282.
- Tremblay N, Bélec C, Coulombe J, Godin C (2005) Evaluation of calcium cyanamide and liming for control of clubroot disease in cauliflower. *Crop Protection* 24, 798–803.
- Truscott RJW, Johnstone PK, Minchinton IR, Sang JP (1983) Indole Glucosinolates in Swede (*Brassica napobrassica* L. Mill). Journal of Agriculture and Food Chemistry 31, 863-867.
- Uda Y, Matsuoka H, Kumagami H, Shima H, Maeda Y (1993) Stability and antimicrobial property of 4-methylthio-3-butenyl isothiocyanate, the

pungent principle in radish. Nippon Shokuhin Kogyo Gakkaishi 40, 743–746.

- Underhill EW (1980) Glucosinolates. In: Encyclopaedia of plant physiology 8, 493-511, (Bell EA & Charlwoood BV Eds.).
- Underhill EW, Kirkland DF (1971) Gas chromatography of triniethylsilyl derivatives of glucosinolates. *Journal of Chromatography* 57, 47-54.
- Vallejo F, Tomás-Barberán FA, Ferreres F (2004) Characterisation of flavonols in broccoli (*Brassica oleracea* L. var. italica) by liquid chromatography-uV diode-array detection-electrospray ionisation mass spectrometry. *Journal* of Chromatography 1054(1-2), 181-93.
- Van Dam NM, Harvey JA, Wackers FL (2003) Interactions between aboveground and belowground induced response against phytophages. *Basic and Applied Ecology* 4, 63-77.
- van Dam NM, Horn M, Mares M, Baldwin IT (2001.) Ontogeny constrains systemic protease inhibitor response in *Nicotiana attenuata*. *Journal of Chemical Ecology* 27, 547–568.
- van Doorn HE (1999). Development of vegetables with improved consumer quality: a case study in Brussels sprouts, PhD Thesis, *Wageningen Agricultural University*.
- van Doorn HE, van der Kruk GC, van Holst GJ, Raaijmakers-Ruijs CME, Postma E, Groeneweg B, Jongen WHF (1998) The glucosinolates sinigrin and progoitrin are important determinants for taste preference and bitterness of Brussels sprouts. Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture 78, 30– 38.
- Van Etten CE, Daxenbichler ME, Kovolek WF, Williams PH (1976) Glucosinolates and derived products in Cruciferous vegetables. Analysis of the edible part from 22 varieties of cabbage. *Journal of Agriculture and Food Chemistry* 24, 452-455.
- Verhoeven DT, Verhagen H, Goldbohm RA, van den Brandt PA, van Poppel GA (1997) A review of mechanisms underlying anticarcinogenicity by brassica vegetables. *Chemico-Biological Interactions* 103, 79–129.
- Verkerk R, Dekker M, Jongen WMF (1998) In: D.H. Watson, Editor, Glucosinolates, Natural Toxicants in Food, *Sheffield Academic Press*, Sheffield pp. 29–53.
- Virtanen AI (1962) Organische Schwefelverbindungen in Gemüse-und Futterpflanzen. Angewandte Chemie 74, 374.
- Voorrips RE (1995) *Plasmodiophora brassicae*: aspects of pathogenesis and resistance in *Brassica oleracea*. *Euphytica* 83(2), 139-146.

- Vorrips RE (1992) Root hair infection by *Plasmodiophora brassicae* in clubroot resistant and susceptible genotype of *Brassica oleracea*, *B. rapa* and *B. napus. Netherlands Journal of Plant Pathology* 98, 361-368.
- Wagner H, Horhammer L, Nufer H (1965) Zur Dünnshichtchromatographie von Senfölen und Senfölglukosiden. Arzneimittel-Forschung (Drug Research) 15, 453.
- Wallenhammar AC (1996) Prevalence of *Plasmodiophora brassicae* in a spring oilseed rape growing area in central Sweden and factors influencing soil infestation levels. *Plant Pathology* 45, 710–9.
- Wallenhammar AC, Johnsson L, Gerhardson B (2000) Agronomic performance of partly clubroot resistant spring oilseed turnip rape lines. *Journal of Phytopathology* 148, 495-9.
- Walters DG, Young PJ, Agus C, Knize MG, Boobis AR, Gooderham NJ, Lake BG (2004) Cruciferous vegetable consumption alters the metabolism of the dietary carcinogen 2-amino-1-methyl-6-phenylimidazo[4,5-b] pyridine (PhIP) in humans. *Carcinogenesis* 25, 1659-1669.
- Wattenberg LW (1993) Inhibition of carcinogenesis by non-nutrient constituents of the diet. In Food and Cancer Prevention: Chemical and Biological Aspects pp. 12-24. [Waldron KW, Johnson IT, Fenwick GR, editors]. Cambridge: The Royal Society of Chemistry.
- Webster MA, Dixon GR (1991) Calcium, pH and inoculum concentration influencing colonization by *Plasmodiophora brassicae*. *Mycological Research* 95, 64–73.
- West LG, Meyer KA, Balch BA, Rossi FJ, Schultz MR, Haas GW (2004)
 Glucoraphanin and 4-hydroxyglucobrassicin contents in seeds of 59
 cultivars of broccoli, raab, kohlrabi, radish, cauliflower, Brussels sprouts, kale, and cabbage. Journal of Agriculture and Food Chemistry 52(4), 916-26.
- West LG, Tsui I, Haas G (2002) Single column approach for the liquid chromatographic separation of polar and non-polar glucosinolates from broccoli sprouts and seeds. *Journal of Chromatography* A 966 (1-2) 227-232.
- Wicks TJ, Magarey PA, Wachtel HF, Frensham AB (1991) Effect of post infection application of phosphonic acid on *Plasmopara citricola* on grapevine. *Plant Disease* 75, 40-43.
- Williams PH, McNabola SS (1967) Fine structure of *Plasmodiophora brassicae* in sporogenesis. *Canadian Journal of Botany* 45, 1665-1669.
- Wiseman A (2005) Dietary anticancer isothiocyanates (ITC) in Brassica raise the reduced-glutathione barrier to DNA-damage in colon? *Trends Food Science and Technology* (16) 215–216.
- Wood R (1999) The new whole foods encyclopedia. ISBN 0-14-025032-8 http://encyclopedia.thefreedictionary.com /Cruciferous+vegetables.
- Woronin M (1878) Plasmodiophora brassicae, the Cause of Cabbage Hernia. Ithaca, NY, USA: American Phytopathological Society: Phytopathological Classics No. 4. 1934 (Translated from German).
- Yan XF, Chen XY (2007) Regulation of Plant glucosinolate metabolism. *Planta 226*, 1343-1352.
- Zhang Y, Talalay P (1994) Anticarcinogenic Activities of Organic Isothiocyanates: Chemistry and Mechansims.sup.1. Cancer Research (Supplements) 54, 976s-1981s.
- Zhang Y, Talalay P, Cho CG, Posner GH (1992) A major inducer of anticarcinogenic protective enzymes from broccoli: isolation and elucidation of structure. *Proceedings of National Academy of Science* USA 89, 2399–2403.
- Zhang Y, Wade KL, Prestera T, Talalay P (1996) Quantitative determination of isothiocyanates, dithiocarbamates, carbon disulfide, and related thiol carbonyl compounds by cyclocondensation with 1, 2-benzenedithiol. Annals of Biochemistry 239, 160-167.
- Zohary D, Hopf M (2000) Domestication of plants in the Old World, third edition (Oxford: Oxford University Press), p. 199.